
 

 

1 

 

Cabinet 

 
 

Date & time Place Contact Chief Executive  
Tuesday, 26 April 
2022 at 2.00 pm 

Council Chamber, 
Woodhatch Place, 11 
Cockshot Hill, Reigate, 
Surrey, RH2 8EF 
 

Vicky Hibbert or Huma 
Younis 
Tel 020 8541 9229 or 
07866899016 
 
vicky.hibbert@surreycc.gov.uk or 
huma.younis@surreycc.gov.uk 

Joanna Killian 
 

 

 
Cabinet Members: Natalie Bramhall, Clare Curran, Kevin Deanus, Matt Furniss, Marisa Heath, 

Sinead Mooney, Mark Nuti, Tim Oliver, Becky Rush and Denise Turner-Stewart 
  
Deputy Cabinet Members: Maureen Attewell, Steve Bax, Jordan Beech and Rebecca Paul 

 
 

If you would like a copy of this agenda or the attached papers in 
another format, e.g. large print or braille, or another language please 
either call 020 8541 9122 or write to Democratic Services, Surrey 
County Council, Woodhatch Place, 11 Cockshot Hill, Reigate, Surrey, 
RH2 8EF or email vicky.hibbert@surreycc.gov.uk or 
huma.younis@surreycc.gov.uk. 
 
This meeting will be held in public.  If you would like to attend and you 
have any special requirements, please contact Vicky Hibbert or Huma 
Younis on 020 8541 9229 or 07866899016. 

 
Note:  This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council's internet 
site - at the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
filmed.  The images and sound recording may be used for training purposes within the Council. 
 
Generally the public seating areas are not filmed.  However by entering the meeting room and 
using the public seating area, you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of 
those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.   
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the representative of Legal and 
Democratic Services at the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We’re on Twitter: 
@SCCdemocracy 



 

 
2 

 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

To note any apologies for absence. 
 

 

2  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING: 29 MARCH 2022 
 

To agree the minutes of the last meeting as a correct record of the 
meeting. 
 

(Pages 1 
- 10) 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

All Members present are required to declare, at this point in the meeting or 
as soon as possible thereafter: 
 

(i) Any disclosable pecuniary interests and / or  

(ii) Other interests arising under the Code of Conduct in respect of any 

item(s) of business being considered at this meeting 

NOTES: 
 

 Members are reminded that they must not participate in any item 

where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest 

 As well as an interest of the Member, this includes any interest, of 

which the Member is aware, that relates to the Member’s spouse or 

civil partner (or any person with whom the Member is living as a 

spouse or civil partner) 

 Members with a significant personal interest may participate in the 

discussion and vote on that matter unless that interest could be 

reasonably regarded as prejudicial. 

 

4  PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 
 

a  Members' Questions 
 

The deadline for Member’s questions is 12pm four working days before 
the meeting (20 April 2022). 
 

 

b  Public Questions 
 

The deadline for public questions is seven days before the meeting (19 
April 2022). 
 

 

c  Petitions 
 

The deadline for petitions was 14 days before the meeting, and no 
petitions have been received. 
 

 

d  Representations received on reports to be considered in private 
 

To consider any representations received in relation why part of the 
meeting relating to a report circulated in Part 2 of the agenda should be 
open to the public. 

 



 

 
3 

 

5  REPORTS FROM SELECT COMMITTEES , TASK GROUPS, LOCAL 
COMMITTEES AND OTHER COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL 
 

To consider any reports from Select Committees, Task Groups, Local 
Committees and any other Committees of the Council. 
 
Cabinet is asked to consider the following: 
 

A. Report on the Home To School Travel Assistance Policy (Children, 
Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee) 

 

(Pages 
11 - 14) 

6  LEADER / DEPUTY LEADER / CABINET MEMBER/ STRATEGIC 
INVESTMENT BOARD/COMMITTEES IN COMMON SUB-COMMITTEE 
DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE THE LAST CABINET MEETING 
 

To note any delegated decisions taken by the Leader, Deputy Leader, 
Cabinet Members, Strategic Investment Board and Committees in 
Common Sub-Committee since the last meeting of the Cabinet. 
 

(Pages 
15 - 20) 

7  CABINET MEMBER OF THE MONTH 
 

To receive an update from Clare Curran, Cabinet Member for Children and 
Families. 
 

(Pages 
21 - 24) 

8  A DEVOLUTION DEAL FOR SURREY 
 

This report outlines the key implications of and opportunities within the 

Government’s Levelling Up White Paper for Surrey, particularly in relation 

to the devolution framework and a Surrey County Deal. It sets out the 

initial ideas being explored and developed in partnership with others that 

will form proposals within a County Deal and considers how devolution for 

Surrey would positively contribute to the council’s overarching ambition of 

No One Left Behind. 

(The decisions on this item can be called-in by the Communities, 
Environment and Highways Select Committee) 
 

(Pages 
25 - 36) 

9  SURREY'S GREENER FUTURES GRANT PROGRAMMES 
 

The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the receipt of a number 
of specific funds with which Surrey County Council have already been 
successful, and secondly to get approval for similar decisions for future 
applications. 
 
(The decisions on this item can be called-in by the Communities, 
Environment and Highways Select Committee) 
 

(Pages 
37 - 44) 

10  SUPPORTED INDEPENDENT LIVING PROGRAMME - BATCH 1 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

This report seeks Cabinet approval for £24m of capital funding for the 
design and construction of three Supported Independent Living (SIL) 
schemes in Byfleet, Horley and Cobham. 
 
(The decisions on this item can be called-in by the Resources and 
Performance Select Committee) 

(Pages 
45 - 74) 



 

 
4 

 

11  HOME TO SCHOOL/COLLEGE TRAVEL ASSISTANCE POLICY 
REFRESH 
 

The purpose of this report is to outline the proposed updates to the Home 
to School Travel Assistance (H2S TA) policy for children and young people 
in mainstream schools and pupils attending specialist schools for children 
with additional needs (SEND). This report sets out the rationale for and the 
objectives of the changes, the changes being consulted on and the 
intended outcomes. 
 
(The decisions on this item can be called-in by the Children, Families, 
Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee) 
 

(Pages 
75 - 186) 

12  2021/22 MONTH 11 (FEBRUARY) FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

This report provides details of the County Council’s 2021/22 financial 

position as at 28th February 2022 (M11) for revenue and capital budgets, 
and the expected outlook for the remainder of the financial year.   

(The decisions on this item can be called-in by the Resources and 
Performance Select Committee) 

(Pages 
187 - 
196) 

13  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information under the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act. 
 

 

  

P A R T  T W O  -  I N  P R I V A T E 
 

 

14  SUPPORTED INDEPENDENT LIVING PROGRAMME - BATCH 1 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

This Part 2 report contains information which is exempt from Access to 
Information requirements by virtue of Paragraph 3: information relating to  
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information). 
 
(The decisions on this item can be called-in by the Resources and 
Performance Select Committee) 
 

(Pages 
197 - 
254) 

15  PUBLICITY FOR PART 2 ITEMS 
 

To consider whether the item considered under Part 2 of the agenda 
should be made available to the Press and public. 
 

 

 
 

Joanna Killian 
Chief Executive 

Published: Thursday 14 April 2022 



 

 
5 

 

QUESTIONS, PETITIONS AND PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 

The Cabinet will consider questions submitted by Members of the Council, members of 
the public who are electors of the Surrey County Council area and petitions containing 
100 or more signatures relating to a matter within its terms of reference, in line with the 
procedures set out in Surrey County Council’s Constitution. 
 
Please note: 

1. Members of the public can submit one written question to the meeting. Questions 
should relate to general policy and not to detail. Questions are asked and 
answered in public and so cannot relate to “confidential” or “exempt” matters (for 
example, personal or financial details of an individual – for further advice please 
contact the committee manager listed on the front page of this agenda).  

2. The number of public questions which can be asked at a meeting may not exceed 
six. Questions which are received after the first six will be held over to the following 
meeting or dealt with in writing at the Chairman’s discretion. 

3. Questions will be taken in the order in which they are received. 
4. Questions will be asked and answered without discussion. The Chairman or 

Cabinet Members may decline to answer a question, provide a written reply or 
nominate another Member to answer the question. 

5. Following the initial reply, one supplementary question may be asked by the 
questioner. The Chairman or Cabinet Members may decline to answer a 
supplementary question. 

 

MOBILE TECHNOLOGY AND FILMING – ACCEPTABLE USE 
 

Those attending for the purpose of reporting on the meeting may use social media or 
mobile devices in silent mode to send electronic messages about the progress of the 
public parts of the meeting. To support this, Surrey County Council has wifi available for 
visitors – please ask at reception for details. 
 
Anyone is permitted to film, record or take photographs at council meetings. Please 
liaise with the council officer listed in the agenda prior to the start of the meeting so that 
those attending the meeting can be made aware of any filming taking place.   
 
Use of mobile devices, including for the purpose of recording or filming a meeting, is 
subject to no interruptions, distractions or interference being caused to the PA or 
Induction Loop systems, or any general disturbance to proceedings. The Chairman may 
ask for mobile devices to be switched off in these circumstances. 
 
It is requested that if you are not using your mobile device for any of the activities 
outlined above, it be switched off or placed in silent mode during the meeting to prevent 
interruptions and interference with PA and Induction Loop systems. 
 
Thank you for your co-operation 



This page is intentionally left blank



595 
 

` MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 29 MARCH 2022 AT 2.00 PM 

IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, WOODHATCH PLACE, 11 COCKSHOT 
HILL, REIGATE, SURREY ,RH2 8EF. 

 
These minutes are subject to confirmation by the Cabinet at its next meeting. 

 
Members: 
  
*Tim Oliver (Chairman) 
*Natalie Bramhall 
*Clare Curran  
*Matt Furniss 
*Mark Nuti 
*Denise Turner-Stewart 
*Sinead Mooney 
*Marisa Heath  
*Becky Rush 
 Kevin Deanus (attended the meeting remotely) 
 
Deputy Cabinet Members: 
*Maureen Attewell  
*Rebecca Paul 
*Steve Bax 
*Jordan Beech 
 
Members in attendance: 
John O’Reilly, Chairman of the Communities, Environment and Highways 
Select Committee 
 

PART ONE 
IN PUBLIC 

 
48/22 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  [Item 1] 

 
There were none. 
 

49/22 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS: 22 FEBRUARY 2022 AND 07 
MARCH 2022  [Item 2] 

 
The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 22 February 2022 and 07 March 
2022 were agreed as a correct record of the meeting. There was a slight 
amendment to the minutes from 22 February 2022. On page five of the 
minutes, ‘disrepair’ was replaced with ‘not conducive to providing quality care 
for the future’.   
 

50/22 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  [Item 3] 

 
There were none. 
 
 PROCEDURAL MATTERS  [Item 4] 
 

51/22  MEMBER'S QUESTIONS  [Item 4a] 

 
There were none. 

Page 1

2

Item 2



596 
 

52/22 PUBLIC QUESTIONS [Item 4b] 

 
There were three public questions. The questions and responses were 
published as a supplement to the agenda. In response to her public question, 
Sally Blake stated that she had very serious concerns about the Council’s 
duty to protect and improve biodiversity on this exceptionally important nature 
site, as more land was unnecessarily hard surfaced, more visitors from a 
distance were encouraged, and recreational trails are laid through the 
dormouse woods. She asked how the council was going to protect and 
improve biodiversity at the site. The Cabinet Member for Environment 
explained that biodiversity was woven into the climate change delivery plan 
and work was being undertaken to protect the nature the county has. During 
the pandemic there was more people visiting the countryside which the 
council has a duty to make accessible. No new hard standing had been laid 
and only previous hard standing was being maintained. A land management 
strategy was being developed to increase biodiversity along with farmers, 
AONB Board and the public. The Cabinet Member agreed to speak with the 
member of public on a one to one basis to discuss matters further.  
 
John Oliver was unable to attend the meeting but Sally Blake asked a 
supplementary question on his behalf. The question was would it not be better 
to avoid the negative effects of increasing the number of visitors and, at the 
same time, improve residents’ mental and physical health, by focusing 
Council resources on greening our urban environments which could be 
achieved by doing things like working with boroughs and districts to expand 
the number and size of urban green spaces and working with boroughs and 
districts to expand the number and size of urban green spaces. The Cabinet 
Member for Environment explained that all the actions mentioned were 
included within the climate change delivery plan. The countryside was a 
public amenity, but the council was doing more to educate people around it. It 
was commented that a healthy streets design guide was being developed and 
would introduce biodiversity and greenery into our streets.  
 

53/22 PETITIONS  [Item 4c] 
 
There were none. 
 

54/22 REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED ON REPORTS TO BE CONSIDERED IN 
PRIVATE  [Item 4d] 

 
There were none. 
 

55/22 REPORTS FROM SELECT COMMITTEES, TASK GROUPS, LOCAL 
COMMITTEES AND OTHER COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL  [Item 5] 

 
A report was introduced by the Chairman of the Communities, Environment 
and Highways Select Committee on Your Fund Surrey who explained that the 
scope of Your Fund Surrey had been a fund offering £100m of capital for 
community projects over 5 years. The Chairman of the Select Committee 
asked that the Cabinet reaffirm their commitment to this as there was concern 
that the pace of the project was not being accelerated. The Cabinet Member 
for Communities stated that success for the project should not be based on 
the number of applications into the fund but the outcomes being achieved for 
the community. There were currently 223 applications in the system and the 
Your Fund Surrey would be promoted actively in spring and summer. The 

Page 2

2



597 
 

Cabinet Member commented that he could not control the number of 
applications coming into the fund but expected numbers to pick up in the next 
2-3 years. The Leader explained that the £100m being referred to was being 
drawn down from borrowing and the council was committed to supporting 
community projects. There was a role for members to promote the fund in 
their local communities. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the Select Committee report regarding the Your Fund Surrey be noted. 
The response from the Cabinet was published as a supplement to the 
agenda. 
 

56/22 LEADER / DEPUTY LEADER / CABINET MEMBER/ STRATEGIC 
INVESTMENT BOARD/ COMMITTEES IN COMMON DECISIONS TAKEN 
SINCE THE LAST CABINET MEETING  [Item 6] 

 
The Cabinet Member for Communities noted that there had been three 
decisions taken relating to Your Fund Surrey applications. A brief description 
was given of each. 
 
There were seven decisions for noting.  
 

57/22 CABINET MEMBER OF THE MONTH  [Item 7] 

 
The Cabinet Member of the Month report was introduced by Becky Rush, 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources. The 
following key points were made: 
 

 Financial resilience is absolutely key to the long term delivery of the 
council’s priorities and the Community vision for Surrey in 2030 that no 
one is left behind. Since 2018, the council has delivered a finance 
improvement plan. That has seen us move from a perilous financial 
position to one that gives us confidence to meet the mounting 
challenges facing local government. We've built a stronger financial 
base from which to deliver improved services, undertake ambitious 
investment and restore depleted reserves to a sustainable level. 

 The council was on track to deliver a balanced budget for the third 
consecutive year and in February we set a balanced budget to deliver 
our services for 2022-2023. In the first paragraph of the report it 
should read 2022-2023 and not 2023-2024. 

 We have an ambitious capital programme with a budget of £1.9 billion 

over 5 years. This was critical for responding to service demand and 

for future proofing our services. 

 From the rollout of hardware to enable our 7000 staff to work on line at 
the beginning of the pandemic to its use as business as usual way of 
working, the IT team have been at the heart of our organisation, 
making sure we have the hardware connectivity and necessary cyber 
protections to enable our workforce to carry out their roles wherever 
they are. 

 We have seen a range of digital solutions emerge across the Council, 
from chat bots to support customer services, school appeals 
processes and latterly the booking and management of death 
registrations to a pilot in Mole Valley which used technology to help 

Page 3

2



598 
 

elderly residents stay independent and safe in their homes. We must 
continue to put IT and digital solutions at the heart of our evolution and 
truly embed them in our services. 

 Recruitment of talented staff and their retention is hugely important for 
the Council, a HR program for the Council called Workforce of the 
Future, which is all about making Surrey County Council the best 
place to work, which covers pay in part, but importantly, all the other 
aspects of work and a career that would make the Council an 
employee of choice in the county. This is all about the tangible and 
intangible benefits, promotion, pathways, training and support. 

 The finance and resources team were thanked for their support, 
commitment and professionalism in enabling the Council to deliver on 
its strategic objectives and work towards the 2030 vision that no one is 
left behind. 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the Cabinet Member of the Month report be noted. 
 

58/22 OUR RADICAL AGENDA FOR EQUALITY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION 
IN SURREY AND SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL - ONE YEAR ON  [Item 8] 

 
The report was introduced by the Cabinet Member for Adults and Health who 
explained that in February 2021 Cabinet agreed the new commitment to 
equality, diversity and inclusion, as well as an action plan for strengthening 
our approach to this. In just over a year the council has taken steps to build a 
solid foundation to becoming a fairer, more compassionate, and inclusive 
council. However, there was still a lot more to do to ensure that the changes 
are embedded in everything that we do, both internally and with our external 
partners and residents. This paper sets out the progress made so far and 
proposes a refreshed action plan.  Our employee focus work over the past 12 
months had helped us put in place foundations we need to support the 
cultural and process changes to ensure that we are an organisation that takes 
equality diversity and inclusion seriously. This work includes supporting the 
development of our Employee Reference Groups which play a key role in not 
only representing the interests of different communities of staff, but they also 
work collaboratively with the council to agree our priorities and our action plan 
and hold us to account in our delivery of meaningful change, which has the 
biggest impact on the experience of employees of the council. The refreshed 
action plan for 2022-2023 built on these foundations by continuing to support 
the development of our Employment Reference Group and providing training 
that addresses the issues of most concern to the council and to our staff. The 
Surrey Gypsy traveller communities forum was a key partner in this work, 
ensuring that our work was informed and shaped by the experiences and 
perspectives of this community. 
 
The Deputy Cabinet Member for levelling-up welcomed the renewed 
commitment to equality, diversity and inclusion, which builds upon the 
progress already made in this area. The Deputy Cabinet Member mentioned 
that Surrey was the first County Council to make free period products 
available across Surrey in partnership with the charity Binti. The council also 
achieved White Ribbon accreditation in November 2020 and at the time we 
had already embarked on an ambitious domestic abuse transformation 
programme. We are now working with Surrey Police and partners on Surrey's 
first multi-agency violence against women and girls strategy. For the future a 

Page 4

2



599 
 

new leadership programme for the council workforce that will develop and 
support staff with protected characteristics to enter leadership roles was being 
introduced. This will develop and deliver a pipeline of talent, resulting in a 
more diverse and representative senior leadership team in the future. The 
planned introduction of pay gap reporting for ethnicity and disability will also 
play an important role to in highlighting any underlying issues. The council 
was also planning to put in place domestic abuse refuge provision for groups 
not currently well served in Surrey. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That Cabinet notes the progress that has been made over the past 

year towards the Council’s ambitions to tackle inequality and ensure 
that no-one is left behind. 
 

2. That Cabinet endorses the refreshed Surrey County Council Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion Action Plan 2022-23. 

 
Reasons for Decisions: 
 

The EDI action plan is key to delivering the equality objectives in the 

Organisation Strategy 2021-26 and plays a pivotal role in supporting the 

council’s wider aim to tackle inequality to ensure no-one is left behind. Moving 

to a fairer, more compassionate and inclusive culture will inform how we 

develop policy, take decisions and serve all stakeholders so everyone who 

lives, works and studies in Surrey is supported to thrive. 

The updated action plan aims to build on the progress made through the 

action plan for 2021-22. The focus of the updated plan has been refined to 

support residents and our workforce with protected characteristics, and those 

who experience other inequalities (such as socio-economic inequality), to 

have more opportunities to have improved outcomes. 

 
59/22 ADOPTION OF MOVING TRAFFIC ENFORCEMENT POWERS  [Item 9] 

 
The report was introduced by the Cabinet Member for Transport and 
Infrastructure who explained that the Department for Transport (DfT) would be 
allowing councils in England and Wales to apply for new powers to carry out 
Moving Traffic Enforcement (MTE). This meant traffic enforcement cameras 
could be used to enforce a variety of highway restrictions on Surrey roads to 
help improve safety and reduce congestion. They could also be a key tool in 
the development of our new transport strategies (LTP4) aimed at improving 
infrastructure for buses, cycles and pedestrians. The government sees these 
new powers as a key tool in reducing congestion and improving air quality 
whilst promoting attractiveness of active travel. This is by keeping vehicles out 
of cycle lanes and other parts of the road where vehicles are prohibited. In 
addition, by enabling authorities to use such powers to keep junctions clear, 
the policy also aims to improve punctuality of not only journey times for car 
users, but also bus services contributing to making sustainable travel more of 
an attractive choice and increasing compliance through targeted enforcement 
at problem locations. Two locations had been shortlisted, both these locations 
have over 3000 breaches a week in yellow boxes and an application will be 
made to the DfT in May. There would be a six week public consultation on the 
installation of cameras. The DfT has stipulated that warning notices must be 

Page 5

2



600 
 

sent for a period of six months from the installation of the camera when 
motorists commit and offence for the first time.   
 
The report was welcomed by the Cabinet and it was commented that the new 
powers would help tackle congestion issues in the county and would make 
roads safer. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Cabinet makes an application to the DfT for powers to enforce 

moving traffic contraventions in accordance with Part 6 of the Traffic 

Management Act 2004; 

 

2. That Cabinet delegates the management of operational policy 

regarding camera site selection and operation to the Director for 

Highways and Transport in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 

Transport and Infrastructure and the divisional member; 

 

3. That Cabinet delegates the authority to approve future camera 

enforcement sites to the Director for Highways and Transport in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Transport and Infrastructure 

and the divisional member ensuring there is a cost 

neutral financial case, or if not other identified funding. 

 

4. That Cabinet approves the setting of PCNs to be issued with MTE at 

the higher level (£70) for moving traffic contraventions. 

 

5. That Cabinet agrees to receive annual reports on the effectiveness of 

MTE by the Cabinet Member for Transport and Infrastructure. 

 

6. That Cabinet delegates authority to make decisions about the use of 

any surplus income to the Director for Highways and Transport in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Transport and Infrastructure. 

 

7. That Cabinet agrees to begin a procurement process to appoint a 

supplier for ‘Civil Enforcement services’ with the outcome being 

reported back to the Cabinet for approval prior to award. 

 

Reasons for Decisions: 

 

The recommendations above will enable the council to help achieve some of 

its Community Vision 2030 objectives, including that: 

 Residents live in clean, safe and green communities, where people 
and organisations embrace their environmental responsibilities; and 
 

 Journeys across the county are easier, more predictable and safer. 
 

Specifically, traffic enforcement cameras provide an option to make travel and 

transportation schemes more effective and could be a key tool in helping 

Page 6

2



601 
 

deliver transportation and environmental objectives to reduce congestion and 

improve facilities for buses, cycles and pedestrians, particularly vulnerable 

road users. 

60/22 RE-PROCUREMENT OF FACILITIES MANAGEMENT SERVICES  [Item 10] 

 
The Cabinet Member for Property and Waste explained that the report was 
asking that Cabinet approves the request to competitively procure four 
separate contracts, in accordance with the Council’s Procurement and 
Contracting Standing Orders. The report highlights the social value 
commitments that the council will be seeking from prospective tenders and 
how these will be evaluated by the council against the councils social value 
objectives, support for the council's 2030 carbon reduction targets and the 
inclusion of Surrey based companies or small medium enterprises in this 
subsequent subcontracting strategy. The Cabinet Member for Environment 
asked that environment officers are consulted on the contract to ensure 
ethical sources are included such as cruelty free.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Cabinet approves the request to competitively procure the following 
services under separate contracts, in accordance with the Council’s 
Procurement and Contracting Standing Orders, as follows:  
 
i. A Soft Facilities Management contract (including all cleaning, security, 

waste and recycling, confidential waste removal, window cleaning, pest 
control, water cooler services, salting/gritting, removals, grounds 
maintenance and arboriculture services, provision of cleaning 
consumables, and other services). 

ii. A Hard Facilities Management contract (including all planned and 
reactive maintenance of mechanical, electrical, plant, equipment (M&E) 
and fabric, project management and other services). 

iii. A framework of suppliers for delivery of the Forward Maintenance Plan 
(minor capital works). 

iv. A one-off Life Cycle Assessment and Condition Survey of all the major 
M&E and fabric across the estate. 

 
2. That Cabinet notes that, following approval of the procurement strategy by 

the Procurement Department, the Executive Director of Resources, 
Director of Procurement and the Director of Land and Property are 
authorised to award the contracts to suppliers, within the +/-5% budgetary 
tolerance level. 
 

3. That Cabinet notes that the procurement strategy will require prospective 
suppliers to include Social Value commitments in their responses; 
provisions for contributing to the Council’s 2030 Carbon Reduction 
targets; and inclusion of Surrey-based companies in the selection 
process, subject to achievement of best value. 

Reasons for Decisions: 

The proposals will: 

i. Enable the delivery of Soft FM and Hard FM; the delivery of the 
Forward Maintenance Plan; and an assessment of the life cycle and 

Page 7

2



602 
 

condition of all major M&E and fabric across the Council’s property 
estate. 

ii. Deliver on the needs of Service Directorates and its services users 
through improved customer experience. 

iii. Deliver on the Climate Change agenda and supports Agile 
Transformation. 

iv. Support the local economy, thereby benefiting the residents of Surrey. 
 

61/22 2021/22 MONTH 10 (JANUARY) FINANCIAL REPORT  [Item 11] 

 
The report was introduced by the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources who explained that at M10, the Council was 
forecasting a full year £0.6m forecast surplus against the revenue budget, an 
improvement of £4.6m from M9. Despite the forecast of a balanced outturn, it 
is still the expectation that Directorates continue to make efforts to manage 
spends within their budget envelopes, particularly where actions will impact 
on the deliverability of the 2022/23 budget. For Capital spend, the M10 
position shows a forecast spend of £169.1m against a budget of £170.6m, 
£1.5m less than the budget. The Cabinet Member explained each of the 
recommendations in the report. The Cabinet Member for Adults and Health 
explained that the council had received £2.8m of revenue expenditure from 
the Changing Futures programme which would need to be spent by March 
2024. The programme was being co-ordinated by the Health and Wellbeing 
Team in the councils Public Health service. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Cabinet notes the Council’s forecast revenue and capital budget 

positions. 

 

2. That Cabinet approves the Empty Homes funding request from Guildford 

Borough Council of £696,298, as outlined in paragraphs 15-19. 

 

3. That Cabinet approves £2.8m of revenue expenditure on the Changing 

Futures programme in Public Health which is fully grant funded by the 

Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), and the 

Lottery Fund as outlined in paragraphs 20-26 of this report. 

 
4. That Cabinet approves the transfer of the revenue surplus of Busbridge 

Infant School to the successor sponsored academy as outlined in 

paragraphs 27-28 of this report. 

 
5. That Cabinet approves the transfer of the closing surpluses of the two 

closed schools named in para 29 to the newly opened St Jude’s CE Infant 

School, in order that the funds might continue to benefit the children and 

locality to which they were originally allocated. 

 

 

 

Page 8

2



603 
 

Reasons for Decisions: 

This report is to comply with the agreed policy of providing a monthly budget 

monitoring report to Cabinet for approval of any necessary actions.   

62/22 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  [Item 12] 

 
RESOLVED: That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following 
items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information under the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
of the Act. 
 

63/22 RE-PROCUREMENT OF FACILITIES MANAGEMENT SERVICES  [Item 13] 

 
The Cabinet Member for Property and Waste introduced the Part 2 report  
which contained information which was exempt from Access to Information  
requirements by virtue of Paragraph 3: information relating to the financial or  
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that  
information).  
 
RESOLVED: 

 
See Minute 60/22. 
 
Reasons for Decisions: 
 

See Minute 60/22. 
 

64/22 PUBLICITY FOR PART 2 ITEMS  [Item 14] 
 
It was agreed that non-exempt information may be made available to the 
press and public, where appropriate. 
 
 
Meeting closed at 15:23 
 _________________________ 
 Chairman 

Page 9

2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

CHILDREN, FAMILIES, LIFELONG LEARNING AND CULTURE SELECT 
COMMITTEE 

 
Item under consideration: HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL ASSISTANCE 

POLICY 

 
Date considered: 7 APRIL 2022 

 

1. On 7 April 2022, the Committee reviewed analysis of consultation 
responses and took evidence regarding proposed changes to Surrey 

County Council’s home to school travel assistance policy.  
 

2. The Committee heard that the council was facing significant challenges in 
securing provision for service users and delivering value for money under 
the current policy due labour market challenges and rising costs; and that 

the proposed changes were designed to support those most in need, 
provide independence in preparation for adulthood, further inclusion and 

sustainability, manage increasing cost and demand and deliver increased 
value for money. 

 

3. The Committee’s approach was informed by Members’ work in their 
divisions and experience of appeals and the responses to the council’s 
consultation, where a majority of respondents supported the changes with 

the exception of the introduction of collection points, the reduction of the 
notice period for the removal of travel assistance and the increasing of the 

minimum journey time for primary-aged children; respondents were split in 
respect of annually updated post-16 statements, with 39% supportive, 39% 
opposed and 22% neutral. The Committee thanks those who took the time 

to respond to the Council’s consultation. 
 

4. Questioning focused on:  

 drivers and management of demand and costs;  

 the financial impact and risks of the proposed changes; 

 the process by which needs are evaluated and provision allocated and 

reviewed; 

 the potential impact of changes in provision for children and families; 
and 

 proposed change to the composition of the stage two appeals panel. 
 

Recommendations 
 

The Select Committee agreed the following recommendations:  

 
1. The Cabinet Member for Education and Learning ensure the Home to 

School Travel Assistance Policy reflects the following recommendations 
before it is referred to Cabinet for agreement: 
a) The 45-minute maximum intended journey time for primary-aged pupils 

contained in statutory guidance be maintained and only exceeded in 
exceptional circumstances, such as journeys which enable a child to 

attend the setting which best meets their needs or where it would be 

Page 11

5

Item 5



     

impractical or disproportionately expensive for a journey to be shorter 
than 45-minutes – journeys should always enable children to arrive at 
school ready for a day of study and be suitable, safe and reasonably 

stress free. 
b) Collection points be situated in locations which protect the safety and 

wellbeing of children.  
c) In the case of an appeal against a withdrawal of travel assistance, 

assistance not be withdrawn until the appeal is complete.  

d) There be no change to the appeals panel membership; and that steps 
be taken promote member attendance at appeals panel meetings.  

 
2. That Cabinet agree the reported changes to the Home to School Travel 

Assistance Policy subject to the changes recommended in 

recommendation 1.  
 
Reasons for recommended changes to the proposals 

 
1 (a)  The Committee heard that the council was to prepare supplementary 

guidance regarding journey times in response to consultation findings.  
 

The Committee appreciates the benefits of shared and independent 
travel and supports flexibility for the intended duration of a primary-
aged child’s journey to the setting which best meets their needs to be 

more than 45 minutes where it would be impractical or an inefficient 
use of resource (relative to the alternative journey length) for the 

intended journey time to be 45 minutes or less; and was unanimous 
that the 45-minute time limit set out in statutory guidance should 
otherwise be adhered to in order to minimise the impact of journeys on 

children’s ability to participate fully in education.  
 

1 (b) The Committee supports the introduction of collection points where it is 
appropriate for service users, which it heard will reduce journey times, 
improve efficiency and promote independence, but wishes to ensure 

that those benefits not be at the expense of children’s safety and 
wellbeing.  

 
1 (c) The Committee supports the proposed reduction in the notice period for 

the withdrawal of travel assistance, which it heard the council was to 

give further consideration to in relation to changes to low-income 
status, but wishes to ensure provision continues while any appeal is 

undertaken in order to minimise the scope for undue disruption to 
children and families.  

 

1 (d)  The Committee supports families’ right to have their children’s home to 
school travel assistance reviewed in a timely and equitable manner and 

accepts that stage two appeals panels have struggled to attract 
sufficient Member participation to consider appeals promptly. A majority 
of Committee members agreed that maintaining a stage two panel 

comprised of Councillors will ensure impartiality.  
 
Chris Townsend, Vice-Chairman of the Children, Families, Lifelong 
Learning and Culture Select Committee (on the behalf of the Chairman 
of the Committee) 

Page 12

5



     

 
Background papers 
 

Item 6, Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee, 7 
April 2022 and supplement providing overview of consultation responses 

Page 13

5

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s85394/Home%20To%20School%20Travel%20Assistance%20CFLLC%20Select%20Committee%20V1.2%20March23rd%202022HC.pdf
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s85394/Home%20To%20School%20Travel%20Assistance%20CFLLC%20Select%20Committee%20V1.2%20March23rd%202022HC.pdf
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/b27029/SUPPLEMENTARY%20AGENDA%20Thursday%2007-Apr-2022%2010.00%20Children%20Families%20Lifelong%20Learning%20Culture%20S.pdf?T=9


This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

DATE: 26 APRIL 2022 

REPORT OF: N/A 

LEAD OFFICER: JOANNA KILLIAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

SUBJECT: LEADER/DEPUTY LEADER/CABINET MEMBER/ STRATEGIC 
INVESTMENT BOARD AND COMMITTEE-IN-COMMON 
DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE THE LAST CABINET MEETING 

 
SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
To note the delegated decisions taken since the last meeting of the Cabinet. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
It is recommended that the Cabinet note the decisions taken by Cabinet Members 
since the last meeting as set out in Annex 1. 
 
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
To inform the Cabinet of decisions taken by Cabinet Members, Strategic Investment 
Board and the Committee in Common subcommittee under delegated authority. 
 
DETAILS: 

1. The Leader has delegated responsibility for certain executive functions to the 
Deputy Leader and individual Cabinet Members and reserved some functions 
to himself. These are set out in Table 2 in the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  

2. The Leader has also delegated authority to the Strategic Investment Board to 
approve property investment acquisitions, property investment management 
expenditure, property investment disposals and the provision of finance to its 
wholly owned property company, Halsey Garton Property Ltd.  

3. Delegated decisions are scheduled to be taken on a monthly basis and will be 
reported to the next available Cabinet meeting for information. 

4. Annex 1 lists the details of decisions taken since the last Cabinet meeting. 

 
Contact Officer: 

Huma Younis, Committee Manager, huma.younis@surreycc.gov.uk 
 
Annexes: 

Annex 1 – Delegated Decisions taken 
 
Sources/background papers:  
None 
  

Page 15

6

Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Annex 1 
 
CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS  
29 MARCH 2022 
 
CABINET MEMBER FOR ADULTS AND HEALTH DECISIONS 
 
Decision: 
 
ADMINISTRATION OF THE ESTATES OF TWO DECEASED PERSONS TO RECOVER 
TWO DEBTS 
 
(i) Details of decision 

 
1. That Carmel Briody, Principal Lawyer be appointed to apply as nominee in 

application to administer the estates of [see exempt minute E-11-22]. 
2. That Carmel Briody, Principal Lawyer be authorised to seal copies of each of the 

nominations made for the purposes of these applications.  This will enable the 
Council to apply to administer the estates of these deceased debtors and recover 
debts more effectively. 
 

(ii) Reasons for decision 

 
The recovery of money owed to the Council may be used for the benefit of Surrey residents. 
 
(Decision taken by Cabinet Member for Adults & Health – 29 March 2022) 
 
 

 
COMMITTEES-IN-COMMON SUB-COMMITTEE DECISIONS 
30 MARCH 2022 
 
1. PROVISION OF ADVOCACY SERVICES IN SURREY 
 

i) Details of decision 
 

a) That the current contracts be extended until 30th June 2022 to ensure service 
continuity for Surrey residents and to allow sufficient time to mobilise the new 
contracting arrangements.  

 
b) That new contracts awarded commence on 1st July 2022 on the basis of the 

tender evaluation outcome as set out in the part 2 report.  
 
c) That contracts be awarded for a period of three years with the option to extend 

for a two-year period.  
 
ii)  Reason for decision: 

 
Advocacy Services detailed in this report are defined in legislation (Care Act 2014, 
Mental Health Acts; Mental Capacity Acts & Children’s & Adoption Acts) and some 
“discretionary” advocacy services are also re-procured. 
   

 Due to existing contracts coming to an end, retendering of current service(s) 
arrangements was required.  

 As stated above, current contracts are subject to waiver and require extension until 
30th June 2022 from 31st March 2022.  

Page 17

6



 

 New contracts will not now initiate on 1st April 2022 but for reasons outlined above 
will be postponed until 1st July 2022. In order to deliver Surrey-wide Independent 
Advocacy services, contracts are for three years plus the option to extend for up to 
two years. This will ensure the continued delivery of these essential services within 
the current financial envelope 
 

2. HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE COMMISSIONING: SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL’S 
ANNUAL PROCUREMENT FORWARD PLAN 2022/23 

 
i) Details of decision 

 

a. That approval be given to Procure for the projects listed in Annex 1 of the 
submitted report – “Surrey County Council Annual Procurement Forward Plan for 
2022/23” in accordance with Surrey County Council’s Procurement and Contract 
Standing Orders.  

b. That where the first ranked tender for any projects listed in Annex 1 is within the 
+/-5% budgetary tolerance level for Surrey County Council, the relevant Surrey 
County Council Executive Director, Director or Head of Service (as appropriate) 
is authorised to award such contracts while consulting with the relevant Cabinet 
Member as appropriate. It is noted that for joint procurements the appropriate 
scheme of delegation will need to be followed for each contracting party.  

c. That the procurement activity that will be returned to Committee in Common for 
review of the commissioning and procurement strategy prior to going out to 
market, and which is highlighted in grey in Annex 1 

 
ii)  Reason for decision: 

 

 To comply with the Procurement and Contract Standing Orders agreed by Surrey 
County Council in May 2019.  

 To provide the Committee in Common with strategic oversight of planned 
procurement projects led or jointly procured with Health by Surrey County Council 
for 2022/23.  

 To ensure Committee in Common oversight is focussed on the most significant 
procurements. 

 To avoid the need to submit multiple individual requests for Approval to Procure 
as well as individual contract award approvals for work taking place in 2022/23. 

 
3. ENTERING INTO A STAFFING PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT TO SUPPORT 

INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING IN SURREY, AND THE CREATION OF A SECTION 
75 AGREEMENT REGARDING A POOLED BUDGET FOR JOINTLY FUNDED POSTS 

 
i) Details of decision 

 
a) That the proposed contents of the staffing Partnership Agreement and the 

Section 75 Agreement (which may be incorporated into one Agreement) be 
noted. 

b) That the proposed agreement will need to be supported by a Collaborative 
Commissioning MoU setting out host and lead commissioning arrangements 
between the three partners be noted.  

c) To enter into a Partnership Agreement and a Section 75 Agreement (which 
may be incorporated into one Agreement) to provide a legal and financial 
framework to underpin the joint working of integrated commissioning teams 
was approved. 

 
 
 
 

Page 18

6



 

ii)  Reason for decision: 
 

Surrey Heartlands Health and Care Partnership, Surrey County Council and Frimley 
CCG/ICS are committed to partnership working to improve health and care outcomes 
for Surrey’s residents. As part of its new operating model, Surrey Heartlands 
CCG/ICS executive has created integrated and joint roles, directorates and teams. 
There are several posts that are jointly employed by the three organisations. The 
Partnership Agreement and Section 75 are required to provide a legal framework to 
formalise the new working arrangements for these new team structures and roles. 
 

4. MENTAL HEALTH ACCOMMODATION WITH CARE AND SUPPORT 
TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME: EXTENSION OF HOUSING RELATED 
SUPPORT CONTRACTS 
 
i) Details of decision 

 

a) That the extension of Housing Related Support contracts for Supported Living 
and Homeless services commissioned by the Adult Social Care, Mental Health 
Commissioning Team to three years, plus one, plus one be approved.  

b) That the extension of the Housing Related Support contracts for Floating Support 
commissioned by the Adult Social Care, Mental Health Commissioning Team, to 
three years be approved. 

 
ii)  Reason for decision: 

 

The extension in contract length will give providers the security and stability they 
require to invest in services, make long term plans and work with ASC to re-shape 
existing services and support to meet existing and emerging needs. The length of 
contract being requested is in line with other recent contracts that have been 
tendered for by ASC. The contract value will not change because of the extension to 
the length of the contracts. 
 

5. SURREY STROKE SUPPORT SERVICE 
 
i) Details of decision 

 
a) That the Commissioning and Procurement Strategy for the SCC led 

recommissioning of the Surrey-wide Stroke Support Service for 2 years with an 
option to extend for a further 1 year from Better Care Funds be approved. 
 
Commercially Sensitive: the outcomes of this report have not yet been shared 
with the market and will not be, prior to notification to the successful and 
unsuccessful bidders. 

 
ii)  Reason for decision: 

 

This service provides invaluable support to Surrey residents and their carers and / or 
families following a Stroke. It is an integral part of the wider Integrated Stroke Delivery 
Network for Surrey. We are seeing an increase in referrals as the service develops 
and becomes more widely understood therefore our recommendation is based upon 
maintaining and improving this service to support more people being discharged from 
hospital following a stroke to live as independent and dignified a life as possible.  
 
Through re-commissioning this service and seeking up to three years of funding we 
will be able to monitor and understand the scale and impact of this service over time 
to better understand the outcomes for individuals and their families and indeed the 
impact this has on an individual's future care and support requirements. 

Page 19

6



 

 
 

6. GREAT MEADOWS STEP DOWN SUPPORTED LIVING: CLINICAL AND CARE 
SUPPORT CORE SERVICE PROVISION  
 
i) Details of decision 

 

a) Approve the recommended commissioning approach of a Test and Learn to 
codesign the Great Meadows clinical and care support services for a period of 1 
year and 3 months (15 months), with the option to extend for a further 12 months.  

 
b) Approve the funding envelope of the contract.  Exempt decision can be seen at       

[E-12-22] 
 

c) Members noted that much of the information contained in the Part 2 report could 
have been presented in public and therefore requested that a further report will 
be brought back to the Committees in Common before the suggested 
recommendation of after eight months prior to the end of the Test and Learn 
period. This would be discussed, and actions agreed at the next collaborative 
meeting. 

 
ii)  Reason for decision: (abridged) 

 

The development of supported housing for patients, whom require step down from 
low-medium secure NHSE services, with a complex forensic history and a diagnosis 
of autism is a new concept. There is limited evidence of the service levels that are 
required within the supporting housing environment. In recognition of this, the ability 
to produce detailed service specifications and costings to underpin a procurement 
exercise is limited at this time.  
 
The scarcity of this type of supported living community step down specialist support 
service, that can meet the needs for this cohort, results in individuals being placed 
out of county and / or managed through the NHS Kent, Surrey and Sussex provider 
collaborative (previously Specialised Commissioning).  
 
To reduce the over reliance of inpatient settings, the NHSE Building the Right 
Support National Plan provides a framework for commissioners to develop 
community services.  
 

(Decision taken by the Committees in Common – 30 March 2022) 
 
 

 

Page 20

6



CABINET MEMBER OF THE MONTH: Clare Curran, Cabinet Member for Children & Families 
SPOTLIGHT: External Inspections, Emotional Wellbeing & Mental Health 

 
Ofsted Inspection of Surrey local authority children’s services  

The CFLL Directorate welcomed the Ofsted report on Children’s Services, following the January inspection, 
which took place over three weeks and demonstrates the considerable progress made since the previous 
inspection in 2018.  The inspection focused on: 
•  the effectiveness of our services and arrangements to help and protect children. 
•  the experiences and progress of children in care, wherever they live, including those children who return 

home. 
•  the arrangements for permanence for children who are looked after, including adoption. 
•  the experiences and progress of care leavers. 

 
and also evaluated: 
•  the effectiveness of leaders and managers. 
•  the impact they have on the lives of children and young people. 
•  the quality of professional practice. 
 
The inspectors recognised significant improvements in all areas and evidence that Surrey children are now 
safer.  Following a thorough and in-depth analysis of the service, the inspectors judged that overall, the 
service “requires improvement to be good”, which is a fair reflection of the point we are at in our 
improvement journey.  Inspectors also recognised that there is a strong foundation on which to improve 
services further. As a result, the service is no longer in statutory intervention, so the oversight of the DfE 
and Ofsted has changed to reflect this.   
  
This result is testament to the dedication and hard work of both the departmental leadership team and our 
staff for all they’ve achieved for our children and young people, despite the extra demands placed on them 
during the last two years of the COVID-19 pandemic.  To achieve these improvements, we have worked in 
partnership with children and families and their helpful input into the changes we’ve made and their 
engagement with the Ofsted inspectors has had a big impact on what we’ve achieved.  
  
Inconsistencies remain, and we need to keep building on the firm foundations we’ve already established to 
embed improvements and ensure excellent practice in all parts of the service, so that no children and 
young people are left behind.  Much of our focus has been on early help and intervention, to prevent 
children needing more intensive support at a later stage and the inspectors were able to see that some 
children have benefited from helpful services at this stage, which have made a real difference to their lives. 
However, for others the service is less effective, so we need to change that so that everyone can feel those 
benefits. The inspectors also found that most social workers listen carefully to children and make sure that 
children’s views inform decision-making. 
   
Our staff feel they have been well supported during the COVID-19 pandemic which, in turn, has enabled 
them to continue to support children and families. This comes at a time when the service is actively 
recruiting permanent staff and striving to retain the best people.  
 
We will be building on these strengths and others identified by Ofsted including:  
 Thorough, and in some cases, excellent assessments of need.   
 Recent success in recruiting foster carers and developing an effective support model with them.   
 Thoughtful, sensitive and person-centred direct work with unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.  
 Strong multi-agency work and interventions for children missing or at risk of exploitation/ significant 

harm.  
 Our effective Family Safeguarding Model addressing and reducing long-standing risks and needs.  
  
The inspectors identified the following priority areas for improvement:  
 The quality and effectiveness of assessments and plans for all children, including disabled children, 

homeless 16- and 17-year-olds and privately fostered children.   
 Partnership work to secure support for children and young people’s mental health and well-being – more 

detail below.   
 The provision of essential information to carers about children and viability assessments to inform 

placements with friends or family.   
 The sufficiency of suitable accommodation for young people, including care leavers.   
 The quality and impact of supervision to ensure that decisions are timely and support the progression of 

children’s plans.   
 The proportion of permanent staff, to reduce turnover.   

Page 21

7

Item 7

https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50178857


  
Task & Finish Groups are being established to tackle the areas identified for improvement and we expect 
to see noticeable improvements within 6 months. In some cases, we already have established 
programmes, such as for the Recruitment, Retention & Culture of our workforce. Based on the evidence 
gathered, comprehensive plans to address all areas for improvement and the feedback from the inspection 
are being drawn up, not just the six priority areas identified in the final report and the service is determined 
to continue the trajectory of improvement. An action plan will be submitted to Ofsted by 22 June. 
 
Youth Offending Inspection Outcome  

An inspection has also taken place of the Youth Offending Service (YOS) by HM Inspectorate of Probation 
(HMIP) in November.  The final report resulted in a “good” grading and the service has gone from 
“inadequate” to “good” since the previous inspection in 2019. Although the report was “good” overall, the 
service was graded as “outstanding” in three areas. The Chief Inspector of Probation Justin Russell said: 
“To go from an ‘Inadequate’ to ‘Good’ rating, in just a few years, is quite an achievement. Surrey YOS is 
now an organised and focused service that understands the children under their supervision. They have an 
impressive range of innovative services for each child, which look to deter them from further offending at 
the earliest opportunity.” 
 
Surrey YOS work with children aged 10 to 18, most are aged 15 to 17 (88%), male (88%) and white (82%). 

They also supervise children with complex needs and some in the care of the local authority.  The 

inspection looked at standards of organisational delivery (including leadership, staffing and facilities), their 

management of children serving court sentences (court disposals) and children serving cautions or 

community resolutions (out-of-court disposals). They also inspected the quality of resettlement policy and 

provision, which was separately rated as ‘Good’.  Inspectors commended the service’s work in both court 

and out-of-court work and noted the YOS management team and practitioners have good knowledge of the 

children under their supervision. They were also impressed by innovative practice, for example, the service 

holds daily ‘risk briefings’ to discuss how to provide a bespoke service to a child and minimise the chances 

of them further offending. 

 

This inspection made six recommendations to Surrey YOS, including: ensuring that management oversight 

and quality assurance of practice are effective across the area’s teams, and that there is active monitoring 

of staff training and development needs; ensure that the voice of the child is always heard at the joint 

decision-making panel; and adopts a robust and methodical approach to the analysis of information related 

to areas of potential disproportionality.  An action plan will be developed to address these areas. 

 
Emotional Wellbeing & Mental Health – Mindworks Surrey one year on 

The Mindworks Surrey Alliance is just finishing its first year of operation. This has focussed on managing 
the competing demands of mobilising a new service, reducing legacy waiting lists, dealing with the impact 
of the pandemic and developing the partnership to realise the ambitions set out in the Surrey Children and 
Young People’s Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health (EWMH) Strategy. The partnership combines 
Mental Health Trusts with Council services and external partners and aims to deliver flexible support with a 
focus on early intervention in order to deliver a comprehensive response to children and young people with 
emotional wellbeing and mental health difficulties across Surrey. 
 
The Alliance has been active in getting a range of new support offers out to the community and has also 
refined existing services. There has been mixed progress on the delivery of priorities. For example:  

 The Access and Advice Team (AAT) has developed a more multi-disciplinary approach, integrated 
across Mindworks, resulting in Surrey Wellbeing Partnership (SWP) partners being part of the AAT 
which should ensure children and young people (CYP) are directed to the right Third Sector partner for 
early intervention support. More CYP are now accessing the early interventions offered by the Surrey 
Wellbeing Partnership. From April 2021, additional resources were allocated to developing Early 
Interventions, and all partners providing services are now delivering to full capacity.  

 A better offer for schools has started to be delivered, the main aspects of our offer revolving around 
schools are as follows. All our maintained secondary and primary schools now have a named Primary 
Mental Health Worker. There is an Early Intervention Co-ordinator across each of the 11 
districts/boroughs and our special schools are being supported by two new psychologists. CYP and 
families can now also access Community Wellbeing Practitioners (23 in total) for early support via 
referrals from schools or through AAT. There is also increasing access for CYP to Cognitive Behaviour 
Therapy (CBT), groupwork and self-care packages, again accessed via schools directly or AAT. There 
is also support for schools to strengthen their whole school approach via the Mental Health Support 
Teams (MHST) and Surrey Healthy Schools. Our first three MHSTs have now completed their training 

Page 22

7

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/surrey-yos/


(Epsom, Surrey Heath and Spelthorne) and our second two MHSTs have started their training 
(Elmbridge and Redhill). In September 2022, four new MHSTs will commence implementation 
(Waverley, Woking, Guildford and Runnymede) and the final four MHSTs will be on board in 2023/2024. 
Ultimately there will be a total of 13 teams in Surrey covering 47% of the school student population 
within maintained primary, secondary and special schools.  

 We now have a 24/7 crisis line for young people, families and professionals. Between May 2021 and 
Feb 2022, 2,207 children and young people and carers accessed support (together with 708 
professionals). 

 In June 21, we launched an advice line for parents focused on neurodevelopment and by Feb 2022, 76 
families had accessed advice and support from the out-of-hours phone line. This is less than 
anticipated, as we had capacity for approximately 180 within that timeframe. However, feedback from 
the families, who have used the line, has been really positive and this was a direct request from 
consultation. A promotional plan is in place from January 22. 

 A new website bringing together information about resources and how to get help, designed with 
children and young people, has been launched. Between 1 September 2021 and 14 January 2022, 
there have been 18,000 unique users who have viewed the site. 

 
16,257 CYP requested support from Mindworks Surrey between April 2021 and February 2022. There has 
been a 21% increase in referrals compared to the previous year, which mirrors what is happening 
nationally. Within this we have seen a 38% increase in under 10’s being referred since the previous year.  
The impact of the pandemic on children and young people’s emotional resilience and mental health has 
been significant and there are more children and young people needing help and with more complexity.  
Unfortunately, while a difference is being made in some areas of the Mindworks services, children continue 
to wait too long for assessments and interventions. 
 
A successful application for Tier 4 hospital beds in Surrey was made in 2020 and this means that for the 
first time, Surrey CYP who need hospitalisation will be able to access beds in their own County. The new 
bed position will be:  

 Ruth House (SCC Children’s Home): two short term beds for CYP who have a diagnosis of Learning 
Disability or Autism Spectrum Condition with challenging behaviours, opening in summer 2022. 

 Ashford and Peters Hospital Specialist Beds: two beds for CYP with eating disorders, emotional 
dysregulation, with neurodiversity presentation and or who may have suicidality. There will be nine full 
time staff recruited who will provide 24/7 support to two dedicated beds. Phase 1 is due to go live from 
Apr 2022 with the dedicated embedded team in place, with two dedicated beds created from Sept 2022 
as Phase 2. 

 General Child & Adolescent Inpatient Unit: The creation of a 12 bed Surrey-based unit jointly operated 
between Surrey and Borders Partnership and Elysium HealthCare. This will include CYP with 
disordered eating with the capability to support naso-gastric feeding if required as part of their treatment, 
opening in Q4 22/23. 

 
In its first year, the Alliance has been working hard to deliver a better response to CYP in Surrey, but we 
recognise there is still more to be done to deliver a timely and effective service. The priorities for the next 
year are being developed as we start 2022/23 and will focus on the issues set out below and on 
accelerating the pace of progress: 

 Progress to transform the Neurodevelopmental Pathway has not been made as planned. There is more 
access to support, but the pathway still has long waiting times. 
o Neurodevelopmental Pathway waiting times from referral to assessment is reducing from 1753 CYP 

on the waiting list in April 21 to 706 CYP in Feb 22. However, there are 400 CYP waiting between 
366 and 545 days, and 273 CYP waiting over 546 days. 

o Neurodevelopmental Pathway waiting times from assessment to treatment are reducing from 860 
CYP in April 21 to 495 CYP in Feb 2022, with 229 CYP waiting over 546 days.  

 There are improvement plans in place and these are currently being finalised. In the meantime, 
additional staff and additional support from the voluntary sector is in place. The final plan will be in place 
in April which will include revised governance to ensure this work is better connected to our SEND 
Transformation. 

 The changes in AAT have been welcomed and these create a better experience for children and young 
people. However, it is not operating efficiently and in March 2022, there were 1000 children waiting 
(within AAT caseload) for help. A transformation plan has been established and commences in April 
2022 to ensure that a long-term solution to this repeated problem is designed and implemented. In the 
meantime, immediate steps have been taken to increase staffing to reduce the backlog. 

 Total Waiting time for assessment and treatment across all pathways needs to reduce.  Page 23

7



o In February there were 3,921 CYP waiting for assessment, and this has increased year on year.  The 
average waiting times from referral to assessment in 2019 was 90 days, in 2020 was 92 days and in 
2021 was 96 days.   

o In February there were 1459 waiting for treatment, after referral. The average waiting times has 
remained similar, in 2019 it was 172 days, in 2020 was 160 days and in 2021 is 170 days.   

Clearly this reflects the national picture. Discussions with Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust about how to tackle this are taking place and more staff are being recruited to manage 
this demand.  

 Despite a lot of recruitment, there are still areas with recruitment and retention issues. This is a Surrey-
wide issue and plans are in place to tackle it within the Alliance and as part of a bigger countywide piece 
of work, through the development and implementation of a workforce strategy that started April 2022. 
There is an implementation group that will monitor the action plan monthly.  

 The work with schools is showing green shoots of success. We know this because we are getting 
feedback from schools, that whilst they are very worried about the mental health and resilience of their 
pupils they can see and access the additional support around them. Regular feedback is provided by 
schools via a range of forums. Further work is planned on improving early support to CYP and their 
parents / carers for those of primary school age.  

 The governance required to mobilise the new services is being reviewed and streamlined to ensure it is 
as agile as possible to guide the work of the partnership. 

Page 24

7



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL  

CABINET  

DATE: 26 APRIL 2022 

REPORT OF CABINET 
MEMBER: 

REBECCA PAUL, DEPUTY CABINET MEMBER FOR 
LEVELLING UP AND TIM OLIVER, LEADER OF THE 
COUNCIL 

LEAD OFFICER: MICHAEL COUGHLIN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR 
PARTNERSHIPS, PROSPERITY AND GROWTH 

SUBJECT: A DEVOLUTION DEAL FOR SURREY  

ORGANISATION 
STRATEGY PRIORITY 
AREA: 

GROWING A SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY SO EVERYONE CAN 
BENEFIT/ TACKLING HEALTH INEQUALITY/ENABLING A 
GREENER FUTURE/ EMPOWERING COMMUNITIES 

Purpose of the Report: 

This report outlines the key implications of and opportunities within the Government’s 

Levelling Up White Paper for Surrey, particularly in relation to the devolution framework and 
a Surrey County Deal. 

It sets out the initial ideas being explored and developed in partnership with others that will 

form proposals within a County Deal and considers how devolution for Surrey would 

positively contribute to the council’s overarching ambition of No One Left Behind. 

Recommendations:  

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Support the approach set out to develop a Devolution Deal for Surrey, to accelerate 
and better enable work to tackle inequalities in Surrey. 

 

2. Reaffirm the Council’s commitment to ensuring No One is Left Behind and note the 
strong alignment to the Government’s Levelling Up agenda.  

 

3. Endorse the approach and plan for further engagement with local partners and key 
stakeholders to support development of a devolution proposal for Surrey. 

 
4. Support the intention to engage with the Surrey Delivery Board as a key stakeholder 

group in developing and shaping a comprehensive devolution deal for the benefit of 
Surrey’s residents, communities, and businesses.  

 

5. Delegate authority to the Executive Director for Partnerships, Prosperity, and Growth 

to lead engagement with the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 

Communities on the devolution proposal following consideration by Cabinet, and to 

take other necessary steps in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the 

Deputy Cabinet Member for Levelling Up. 

 

 

 

Page 25

8

Item 8



 
 

Reason for Recommendations: 

The Government’s Levelling Up White Paper presents a rare opportunity for the council to 

pursue a devolution deal for Surrey that will bring new powers, freedoms and flexibilities, 

better enabling the council to deliver for residents against its organisational priorities and 
work towards its ambition of No One Left Behind. 

Executive Summary: 

Background 

1. On 2nd February 2022 the Government published its Levelling Up White Paper which 
laid out an agenda for tackling inequality across the country. It outlined the future 
landscape for devolution in the UK and provided a blueprint for improving opportunity 
and outcomes in education, the economy, infrastructure, transport, and health by 
2030. 
 

2. The Government is focused on what it refers to as the ‘6 Capitals’ driving levelling up. 

These are:  

a. Physical Capital (infrastructure, machines, housing),  

b. Human Capital (Skills, Health and Experience of Workforce),  

c. Intangible Capital (Innovation, Ideas and Patents), 

d. Financial Capital (Resources supporting Finance of Companies),   

e. Social Capital (Strength of Communities), 

f. Institutional Capital (Local Leadership).  

 
3. These capitals are part of the Government’s long-term aim to look beyond financial 

capital and economic activity as the sole measure/driver of growth and success. The 
different types of capital listed above represent a more comprehensive approach 
toward improving people’s lives and increasing social mobility. This national strategy 
on tackling inequalities aligns with the council’s primary mission to ensure that No 
One is Left Behind in Surrey. 

4. To help drive a whole system approach to Levelling Up across government 
departments, the wider public sector, the private sector, and the public, the 
government has outlined ‘12 Missions of Levelling Up’ (see Annex A). It aims to 
achieve these missions nationally by 2030 and will be legally required to report 
progress annually. The 12 missions are framed around four objectives: 

a. Boost productivity, pay, jobs and living standards by growing the private 
sector, especially in those places where they are lagging. 

b. Spread opportunities and improve public services, especially in those places 
where they are weakest. 

c. Restore a sense of community, local pride and belonging, especially in those 
places where they have been lost. 

d. Empower local leaders and communities, especially in those places lacking 
local agency.  

 
5. In delivering the fourth objective (“Empower local leaders and communities”) the 

White Paper sets out a framework for devolution (see Annex B), which is designed to 
support “every part of England that wants one, [to] have a devolution deal with 
powers at or approaching the highest level of devolution”. The framework includes 
three levels of functions available to local areas, dependent upon governance and 
accountability models.  
 

6. Overall, there is a clear emphasis within the White Paper about investment being 
directed outside of London and the South-East, and limited references to new 

Page 26

8



 
 

funding or policy initiatives aimed at supporting places like Surrey. The key 
opportunity for Surrey to take advantage of exists through the devolution framework 
and securing a devolution deal that brings greater powers and responsibilities to the 
county-level to empower our local institutions to deliver change and improved 
outcomes more effectively for residents in Surrey.  

 
The devolution framework  

7. The White Paper has established a new devolution framework (see Annex B) as a 
mechanism to support Government in offering a devolution deal to every part of 
England that wants one. County geographies are seen as the appropriate strategic 
level to devolve functions to, and the White Paper establishes upper tier councils 
(e.g. Surrey County Council) as being the core vehicle to deliver devolution to a 
county area and will work with them to negotiate and develop deals.  
 

8. The framework includes three levels of devolution available to local areas that wish to 
pursue a devolution deal. The levels are based upon the leadership and governance 
models that areas agree to, with the top level being made available to areas pursuing 
a directly elected leader model.  
 

9. For a county area like Surrey, without a directly elected leader, the devolution 
framework would allow the council to access functions under both Level 1 and Level 
2, which includes: 

a. A host for government functions best delivered at a strategic level involving 
more than one local authority, for example Local Nature Recovery Strategies 
(Level 1) 

b. The opportunity to pool services at a strategic level (Level 1) 
c. The opportunity to adopt innovative local proposals to deliver action on 

climate change and the UK’s Net Zero targets (Level 1) 
d. LEP functions including hosting strategic business voice (Level 2) 
e. Ability to introduce bus franchising (Level 2) 
f. UK Shared Prosperity Fund planning and delivery at strategic level (Level 2) 

g. Devolution of Adult Education functions and the core Adult Education Budget 
(Level 2) 

h. Providing input into Local Skills Improvement Plans (Level 2) 
i. Homes England compulsory purchase powers (Level 2) 

 
10. The White Paper also indicates that there is scope for areas to negotiate further 

powers, on a case-by-case basis, and an opportunity to adopt innovative local 
proposals to address specific challenges and opportunities. 

Our strategic context: No One Left Behind 

11. The council’s ultimate ambition is No One Left Behind, and this helps to drive and 

shape the work of the council and underpins our four strategic objectives: growing a 

sustainable economy, tackling health inequality, enabling a greener future, and 

empowering communities. At the core of the government’s Levelling Up agenda is a 

commitment to tackle inequality, which strongly aligns to the council’s own work. 

 

12. Whilst Surrey is a great place for many to live and work, inequality is prevalent in the 

county. The most recent Index of Multiple Deprivation data showed that four areas in 

Surrey are within the 20% most deprived areas nationally. The number of people 

living in these areas has increased by almost 350% since 2007, to over 6,000 in 

2019. The onset of the pandemic since then is likely to have worsened these figures. 

Page 27

8



 
 

Health inequalities are prevalent in the county, with adjacent wards experiencing a 

difference in life expectancy of up to 10 years. 

 

13. Much of the council’s work aims to tackle these inequalities and contribute to the goal 

of No One Left Behind. For example, the action being taken to tackle poverty via the 

child poverty action plan; work to improve productivity through partnerships with 

business via the One Surrey Growth Board; the No One Left Behind network’s work 

to identify and tackle the challenges faced by those furthest from the labour market; 

and the partnership work to tackle the mental health crisis in Surrey. These are just a 

few examples of the breadth of activity underway to ensure that No One is Left 

Behind in Surrey. 

 

14. Securing a devolution deal will be a crucial mechanism to accelerate and better 

enable this work to tackle inequality in Surrey and achieve the No One Left Behind 
ambition, by bringing greater powers, freedoms and flexibilities to the council.  

A Devolution Deal for Surrey 

15. The devolution framework offers a genuine opportunity to secure greater powers and 
responsibilities for Surrey and support the council with local partners in more 
effectively delivering improved outcomes for residents.  
 

16. In developing a devolution deal, the council will seek to align proposals against the 
Government’s 12 missions and incorporate some of the underlying metrics into 
existing performance mechanisms to support how progress is measured locally and 
demonstrate to government how Surrey is supporting the levelling up agenda within 
the county.  
 

17. It is hoped that a devolution deal would bring a range of benefits to Surrey, including 
but not limited to: 

j. Greater autonomy and agility for local people and leaders to make the right 

decisions for the county at the right level, based on local knowledge, 

partnerships, and residents’ priorities. 

k. The tools and freedoms required to meet our ambitious climate targets, 

deliver on our greener futures objectives and ensure that Surrey is a 

sustainable place to live for years to come. 

l. Unleash greater economic opportunity for residents and ensure that our 

towns and high streets are equipped to be excellent places to live, work, and 

do business. 

m. A better aligned and strategically coordinated funding and investment 

landscape to make it as easy as possible to conduct business in Surrey. 

n. The local powers and tools to spearhead the council’s approach to tackling 

health disparities and reduce the gap in healthy life expectancy that exists in 

the county. 

o. A cohesive and consistent understanding and response to skills and training 

needs across the county to ensure that Surrey’s young people have the best 

start in life and help people become equipped for the changing needs of the 

workplace throughout their careers. 

p. Facilitate conditions for ‘double devolution’ to empower local partners and 

communities at the most effective level to deliver improvements in quality of 
life, resourcefulness, and social value. 

18. Work is underway to consider and develop specific proposals against the Level 1 and 
Level 2 functions outlined by government in the devolution framework, which are 

Page 28

8



 
 

aimed at a County Council without a directly elected leader across a whole county 
area. The initial ideas currently being explored cut across the council’s four strategic 
objectives:  
 

19. Growing a sustainable economy 
q. Streamlining and simplifying the business support and funding landscape 

across a Surrey-wide footprint will be crucial in helping to unleash Surrey’s 
potential and ensure that economic growth delivers to the parts of Surrey that 
need it the most. 

 
r. A key focus of the White Paper is on developing and supporting local 

‘economic clusters’ as part of delivering against the Levelling Up agenda. A 
devolution deal could support the council to deliver a new model of 
partnership working across the public, private, voluntary and university 
sectors, linked to Surrey’s unique economic strengths, whether that is in 
Professional Services, AI/Digital (including creative and gaming), 
Aviation/Aerospace, Health, and advanced engineering. 

 
s. The devolution framework offers areas the opportunity to have greater local 

control of the education and skills sector. This would ensure local knowledge 
is utilised at a strategic level to better support a more active approach to 
tackling skills gaps, developing employment pathways, and retraining to meet 
the recruitment challenges in Surrey’s priority sectors. The new powers 
available could support the development of a Surrey-wide skills offer based 
on the council taking on control of Adult Education functions and the core 
Adult Education Budget, as well as having a role in providing input into Local 
Skills Improvement Plans. 

 

20. Tackling health inequality 
t. Reducing health inequalities is a major focus for the council and local 

partners. The White Paper indicated government’s appetite to consider 
innovative local proposals to address specific local challenges, “for example, 
the improvement of health and social care outcomes”.  
 

u. The council and key stakeholders are considering the ways a devolution deal 
could support a more system-wide approach to accelerate work to tackle the 
wider determinants of health, whether that is education and employment, 
transport, or housing.  

 

21. Enabling a greener future 
v. The council has ambitious climate targets for Surrey and a well-developed 

and costed strategy and delivery plan. Using the devolution framework, the 
council will pursue innovative and ambitious proposals to improve 
coordination and collective ability to respond to climate change across the 
public sector, business, residents, and communities.  
 

w. A key aspect being explored is the opportunity to tackle the fragmentation and 
duplication across local partners in working towards net zero and consider the 
ways that devolved functions and funding at a county level will help drive this 
forward more effectively. 

 
 
 

Page 29

8



 
 

22. Empowering communities   
x. A consistent theme running through the White Paper was on the 

government’s plans to empower communities and improve pride in place 
across the UK, which closely aligns with the ambitions of the council.  
 

y. A strong emphasis was placed on piloting new approaches, which is 
welcomed and an area that the council will explore. For example, new models 
of community partnership such as Community Covenants (agreements 
between councils, public bodies, and communities). A covenant approach 
would see local authorities and communities work together to take a holistic 
look at the health of local civic and community life.  

Developing a proposal and partner engagement 

23. Ahead of publication of the White Paper, the Government requested that local areas 

submit expressions of interest to be considered as pilot areas in the first phase of 

County Deal negotiations. The council submitted an expression of interest in August 

2021, and as part of that engaged with local partners to start considering what a 

devolution deal for Surrey could mean. This included Leaders of Surrey District and 

Borough councils, Surrey MPs, and the One Surrey Growth Board. 

 

24. Since publication of the White Paper, engagement with local partners has continued 

to consider potential implications of the White Paper and explore the opportunities 

that a devolution deal presents for Surrey. This has or will involve wider County 

Council members, other Surrey local authorities (including Town and Parish 

Councils), health partners through informal discussion at the Health and Wellbeing 

Board and across the Integrated Care System, including the Integrated Care 

Partnership board and stakeholders through the Greener Futures Board, the One 

Surrey Growth Board and Surrey Business Leaders forum. A cross-council officer 

task group has also been set up to develop and refine proposals being put forward as 

part of a devolution deal. 

 

25. Following approval of this report by Cabinet, a new phase of further partner 

engagement will commence. Input from partners will be crucial in developing and 

shaping a comprehensive proposal that will deliver an effective deal for Surrey. The 

scope and ambition of the proposals included will in a large part require the collective 

support of partners, including Surrey’s District and Borough Councils, who will play a 

key role in supporting delivery of certain aspects of any deal. The Surrey Delivery 

Board is a key stakeholder group that will support both development and delivery of a 

devolution deal in Surrey. The Board exists to bring together, in partnership, 

representatives of all tiers of local government in Surrey (including Town and Parish 

Councils) and will provide the mechanism by which all local authorities in Surrey can 

come together to help shape a comprehensive proposal that will benefit Surrey’s 
residents, communities, and businesses. 

Consultation: 

26. As noted within the report, the council has engaged with a range of local partners 

including, Surrey District and Borough councils, health partners at the Health and 

Wellbeing Board and Integrated Care Partnership board, the One Surrey Growth 

Board, the Surrey Business Leaders forum, and Surrey MPs. 

 

Page 30

8



 
 

27. An all-Member Development Session was delivered on 4th March 2022 that explored 

the impact of the Levelling Up White Paper for Surrey and explained the devolution 

framework together with next steps to be taken to develop a devolution proposal for 

Surrey. 

 

28. Further consultation with stakeholders will follow as a devolution proposal is 
developed.  

Risk Management and Implications: 

29. While specific impacts of a final devolution deal are not known at this stage and will 
be subject to the outcome of negotiations with government on a devolution deal, 
there will likely be local impacts for district and borough partners. Active engagement 
with districts and borough partners through the Surrey Forum, Surrey Delivery Board 
and Surrey Chief Executives group will be maintained during the development of 
devolution proposals. 
 

Financial and Value for Money Implications:  

30. No direct financial implications are known at this stage, however there may be 
opportunities through devolution to deliver future efficiencies. These will be explored 
in the development of a draft devolution proposal. 
 

31. Future development of proposals and opportunities are currently planned to be 

managed internally, through existing networks, forums and boards.  There is 

currently no planned direct expenditure linked to these proposals.  
 

Section 151 Officer Commentary:  

32. Although significant progress has been made to improve the Council’s financial 

position, the medium-term financial outlook beyond 2022/23 remains uncertain. With 

no clarity on central government funding in the medium term, our working assumption 

is that financial resources will continue to be constrained, as they have been for the 

majority of the past decade. This places an onus on the Council to continue to 

consider issues of financial sustainability as a priority in order to ensure stable 

provision of services in the medium term.  

 

33. The Section 151 Officer supports the next steps outlined in the paper to develop 

proposals for a devolution deal for Surrey in response to the recently published 

Levelling Up white paper.  We will continue to explore opportunities to realise 
efficiencies through this work and any emerging impacts on our budget and funding. 

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer: 

34. The proposed arrangements for County Deals set out in the levelling up White paper 

are set out in the body of the report. There are no further specific legal implications at 
this time and further support will be provided as a proposal is developed. 

Equalities and Diversity: 

35. A Devolution deal for Surrey is one mechanism to help deliver the council’s ambition 
of No One Left Behind. It will accelerate and enable work to tackle inequalities within 

Page 31

8



 
 

the county, therefore a devolution deal is anticipated to produce net positive impacts 
on equality, diversity and inclusion. 
 

36. Where relevant, Equality Impact Assessments will be completed for individual 
proposals of the devolution deal. 
 

What Happens Next: 

37. Once a draft devolution proposal has been developed, it will be presented to Cabinet 
for approval, and will be the basis of negotiations with government.  

 

Report Author: Sarah Richardson, Head of Strategy (07971 091475).  

 

Annexes: 

Annex A: The Twelve Missions of the Levelling Up White Paper 

Annex B: The Government’s Devolution Framework 

 

Sources/background papers: 

Levelling Up White Paper 

Metro-Dynamics: Assessment of Surrey’s economy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32

8



Annex A 

“The 12 Missions to Level Up the UK” 

1. By 2030, pay, employment and productivity will have risen in every area of the UK, with 

each containing a globally competitive city, with the gap between the top performing and 
other areas closing. 

2. By 2030, domestic public investment in Research & Development outside the Greater 

South East will increase by at least 40% and at least one third over the Spending Review 

period, with that additional government funding seeking to leverage at least twice as much 

private sector investment over the long term to stimulate innovation and productivity growth. 

3. By 2030, local public transport connectivity across the country will be significantly closer to 

the standards of London, with improved services, simpler fares and integrated ticketing. 

4. By 2030, the UK will have nationwide gigabit-capable broadband and 4G coverage, with 

5G coverage for the majority of the population. 

5. By 2030, the number of primary school children achieving the expected standard in 

reading, writing and maths will have significantly increased. In England, this will mean 90% 

of children will achieve the expected standard, and the percentage of children meeting the 
expected standard in the worst performing areas will have increased by over a third. 

6. By 2030, the number of people successfully completing high-quality skills training will 

have significantly increased in every area of the UK. In England, this will lead to 200,000 

more people successfully completing high-quality skills training annually, driven by 80,000 

more people completing courses in the lowest skilled areas. 

7. By 2030, the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) between local areas where it is 

highest and lowest will have narrowed, and by 2035 HLE will rise by 5 years. 

8. By 2030, well-being will have improved in every area of the UK, with the gap between top 

performing and other areas closing. 

9. By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre and 

engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every area of the UK, with the 
gap between the top performing and other areas closing. 

10. By 2030, renters will have a secure path to ownership with the number of first-time 

buyers increasing in all areas; and the government’s ambition is for the number of non-

decent rented homes to have fallen by 50%, with the biggest improvements in the lowest 

performing areas. 

11. By 2030, homicide, serious violence, and neighbourhood crime will have fallen, focused 

on the worst-affected areas. 

12. By 2030, every part of England that wants one will have a devolution deal with powers at 

or approaching the highest level of devolution and a simplified, long-term funding 
settlement.” 

 

Page 33

8



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex B 

The Government’s Devolution Frameworks 

Page 35

8



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL  

CABINET  

DATE: 26 APRIL 2022 

REPORT OF CABINET 
MEMBER: 

MARISA HEATH, CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENT 

 LEAD OFFICER: KATIE STEWART, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR ENVIRONMENT, 
TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE  

SUBJECT: SURREY’S GREENER FUTURES GRANT PROGRAMMES   

ORGANISATION 
STRATEGY PRIORITY 
AREA: 

GROWING A SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY SO EVERYONE CAN 
BENEFIT/ TACKLING HEALTH INEQUALITY/ENABLING A 
GREENER FUTURE 

Purpose of the Report: 

The Council has committed to work with partners to enable the county to be net zero carbon by 

2050 and to ensure its own estate to be net zero carbon by 2030.  It has been recognised that 

external funding will be essential to the delivery of these targets, and that Government grants are a 

key source of additional funding.  The purpose of this report is twofold: first, to seek approval for 

the receipt of a number of specific funds with which SCC have already been successful, and 

secondly to get approval for similar decisions for future applications.   

Recommendations:  

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Approve the receipt of funding into the Council’s capital pipeline from Government net zero 
carbon grant funding programmes, specifically the  Public Sector Decarbonisation 
Scheme (PSDS3) and the Sustainable Warmth Programme (which includes the Green 
Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery (GHGLAD3) and Home Upgrade Grant (HUG1))    

 

2. Note the use of match funding from the approved Corporate Capital Maintenance 
Programme, subject to the Capital Programme Panel (CPP) approving business cases for 
individual sites. 

 

3. Approve the request to competitively procure the Sustainable Warmth Programme and 
PSDS3 services under separate contracts, in accordance with the Council’s Procurement 
and Contracting Standing Orders. 

 
4. Approve the receipt of future funding schemes for the purposes of delivery of the Greener 

Futures ambition, including future tranches of the PSDS schemes and Sustainable Warmth 
programmes as well as, but not limited to, the schemes included in Annex 1. Receipt of 
funding will be subject to Capital Programme Panel approval. 

 
 

Reason for Recommendations: 

The recommendations in this report will enable the Council to: 

 

 Draw down Government funding of £13.15m. This includes £2.652m from PSDS3 to 

decarbonise buildings in the SCC estate and schools and £10.5m from the Sustainable 

Page 37

9

Item 9



 
 

Warmth Programme, which includes £8.3m for GHLAD3 and £2.2m for HUG1, which will be 

used to decarbonise homes of residents on low incomes.  

 

 Be as agile as possible to maximise the attraction of future external grant funding sources.  

 

Executive Summary: 

1. In October 2021, Cabinet approved the Greener Futures Climate Change Delivery Plan, 

which set out the requirement to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from the county by at 

least 20% by 2025, in order to meet the net zero 2050 target within Surrey’s carbon budget. 

Cabinet also approved the Council’s 2030 net zero carbon plan for its own operations. 

 

2. The Council’s 2030 net zero target is based upon a principle of a presumption to adopt net 

zero solutions including net zero new builds and/or the replacement of heating systems with 

net zero solutions (e.g. heat pumps) unless there are specific business case or site-specific 

reasons why this is not possible.  

 

3. When the Climate Change Delivery Plan was agreed, it was recognised that significant 

external funding, including grants, would be essential to enable delivery of the targets due 

to the scale of the change needed and, possibly more expensive nature of low carbon 

technologies in the short term. It was therefore agreed that wherever possible, external 

grant funding would be sought to minimise the financial draw on SCC.  
 

Current Funding Success – Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund GHLAD, HUG (1) 

 

4. To date, ETI has attracted in £65m in external funding to deliver Surrey’s Greener Futures 

targets.  

 
5. Table 1 details the current round of funding applications that are in the process of being 

agreed. Cabinet is asked to approve the receipt of the funding from these grants as detailed 

in the table.  

 

6. Cabinet is also asked to note the use of match funding of up to £1.367m, as estimated in 

the table below in relation to the PSDS3 grant to replace fossil fuel boilers with heat pumps.  

This is to be financed from the Corporate Capital Maintenance Budget by using the 
amounts already allocated to cover the cost of boiler replacements.  

Table 1. Grant funding programme details 

Grant 
programme 

Description Funding 
awarded 

Estimated 
match 
funding 

Outcomes Procurement 
route 

Delivered 
timescale
s 

Public Sector 

Decarbonisati
on Scheme 
(PSDS3) 

Funding to replace old fossil fuelled 

boilers w ith heat pumps and energy 
eff iciency/thermal insulation 
measures. The grant recipient is 
required to provide the ‘like for like’ 

costs of replacing the boiler w ith a 
fossil fuel replacement and the grant 
funding covers the additional costs 
associated w ith the heat pump 

installation (the funding is capped at 
£325 per tonne carbon saved) 

£2.652m 

(funding is 
capped at 
£325 per 
tonne 

carbon 
saved) 

Up to 

£1.367m   
this w ill 
come from 
the 

Corporate 
Capital 
Maintenance 
Programme 

Heat pumps and 

energy eff iciency 
measures 
installed in 10 
buildings in the 

corporate estate 
and 5 schools. 
List of sites 
included in 

Annex 2. 

Running a mini 

competition from 
the LHC 
framew ork to 
procure a turnkey 

installer. This 
framew ork has 
been assessed by 
colleagues in 

Procurement and 
Legal as a suitable 
procurement 

route. 
 

Measures 

installed 
by March 
2023 

Sustainable 
Warmth – 
GHGLAD3 

Funding to install decarbonisation 
measures in low -income households 
(w ith a total income of approximately 

£30,000 or less), living in the 
most ineff icient homes (homes w ith 

£8.3m N/A how ever 
the Council 
has a top up 

fund (£330k) 
to enable 

949 homes 
receiving 
decarbonisation 

measures 

An Open OJEU 
tender for a 
managing agent 

w ith a local 
installer netw ork, 

Measures 
installed 
by March 

2023 

Page 38

9



 
 

an Energy Performance Certif icate 
EPC rating of D, E, F or G). The 
measures have been fully funded 
(w ith a cap of £10k per household) 

and have included energy eff iciency 
measures, thermal insulation, heat 
pumps and solar PV. 

more costly 
decarbonisat
ion 
measures to 

be installed. 

Sustainable 
Warmth – 

Home 
Upgrade 
Grant (HUG1) 

 

As above, how ever this funding is for 
low  in-come households in off -gas 

communities, the funding cap is 
higher at £20k. 

£2.2m 154 homes 
receiving 

decarbonisation 
measures 

 

Accessing Future Grant Funding  

 
7. Due to the often short deadlines associated with these national funding streams, the 

competitive nature of such funding and the need for rapid delivery, SCC needs to be as 

agile as possible in order to maximise funding drawn in and enable procurement and 

delivery of services funded by the grant within the often constrained delivery timelines. It is 

not always possible to include funded projects in the Annual Procurement Forward Plan 

(APFP), as was the case with the programmes included above.  

8. Cabinet is therefore also being asked to approve in advance the development of future 

applications for and receipt of grant monies from funding sources that support the delivery 

of the Greener Futures ambition, including but not limited to the Public Sector 

Decarbonisation Scheme and the Sustainable Warmth Programme which includes the 

Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery (GHGLAD) and Home Upgrade Grant (HUG). 

Annex 1 outlines some of the known funds for information. Individual projects will remain 

subject to review and approval by the Council’s Capital Programme Panel. 

 
Consultation: 

9. The Cabinet Members responsible for Property, Finance and Environment were notified of 

the PSDS funding application on 4 October 2021 and expressed support. 
 

10. All SCC members were updated on the Sustainable Warmth Programme at a Member 

Development Seminar focussing on Decarbonising Surrey's Homes and Tackling Fuel 

Poverty on 13 December 2021. 
 

11. The Greener Futures Member Reference Group, which is a subset of Communities, 

Environment and Highways (CEH) Select Committee, was updated on the progress of 

these grant programmes during their session on 10 February 2021. 
 

12. In addition, climate change leads from the Boroughs and Districts have been kept up to 

date with the progress of the Sustainable Warmth Programme via the monthly Greener 

Futures Network meetings. 

 

Risk Management and Implications: 

13. There are numerous risks relating to the delivery of decarbonisation schemes, including 

risks associated with the installation and operation of measures as well as programme 

related risks, such as delays resulting from supply chain issues.  
 

14. The risks relating to these programmes have been captured in a risk register, which sets 

out the risk owners and mitigation strategies. The risk registers will be kept up to date by 

Page 39

9



 
 

the relevant delivery teams, and key risks and issues will be reported to the Council’s 

Greener Futures Board, which will have oversight of these programmes. 
 

15. Risk mitigation is included in the grant terms and conditions of these programmes and will 

be built into the contracts with the managing agent/turnkey installers. Contract documents 
will be signed off by the Council’s Legal and Procurement teams. 

Financial and Value for Money Implications:  

16. The Initial Greener Futures Finance Strategy sets out a process for defining how the 

Council’s Climate Change Delivery Plan for 2021 to 2025, and subsequent plans, will be 

financed and where there are currently gaps in funding. 
 

17. The Finance Strategy recommends that, where possible, the Council should draw in 

external funding to reduce the pressure on the Council’s capital borrowing and Medium 

Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). It also recommends that existing budgets should be 

utilised, where appropriate, to fund decarbonisation activities, especially where a return on 

investment can be generated. 
 

18. To ensure that grant programmes offer value for money, the Council’s Procurement team 

will support the development of competitive procurement exercises to ensure the Council 

secures the most favourable rates. 
 

19. With regard to the PSDS funding, Cabinet is asked to note the use of the Corporate Capital 

Maintenance Budget to provide match funding of up to £1.367m for the PSDS3 grant 

funding. Amounts currently allocated in this budget for boiler replacement will be 

repurposed to provide this funding and enable the installation of heat pumps and energy 

efficiency/thermal insultation measures. There is therefore no request for additional capital 

funding to enable these works. 
 

20. The ongoing revenue costs associated with heat pumps may increase costs in the first 

instance creating a revenue pressure in the short term; however, the costs over time should 

reduce.  Fortunately, current modelling on the selected sites does not suggest that the 

costs in the short term are any greater in the case of this programme of work.  Regardless, 

each site will be assessed individually and any resultant running cost pressures will be 

mitigated by the installation of solar panels. Once these more detailed site by site 

assessments are completed, a business case will be presented to the Capital Programme 

Panel for approval. The business cases will set out the full financial implications of 
replacing boilers with heat pumps, and any necessary mitigations through solar initiatives. 

Section 151 Officer Commentary:  

21. Although significant progress has been made to improve the Council’s financial position, 

the medium term financial outlook beyond 2022/23 remains uncertain. With no clarity on 

central government funding in the medium term, our working assumption is that financial 

resources will continue to be constrained, as they have been for the majority of the past 

decade. This places an onus on the Council to continue to consider issues of financial 

sustainability as a priority in order to ensure stable provision of services in the medium 

term. 
 

22. The Section 151 Officer supports the recommended acceptance of grant funding into the 

Council’s capital pipeline, and the application of match funding from approved property 

Page 40

9



 
 

capital budgets.  Schemes will proceed following approval of detailed business cases by 
the Council’s Capital Programme Panel, including an assessment of ongoing running costs.  

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer: 

23. The Council will need to meet any grant terms or conditions further to the award of grants. 

Legal services will advise on, and complete, any agreements that are required. 
 

24. The agreement of any future matched funding proposals will be subject to approval through 
the Capital Programme Panel as set out in the report.   

Equalities and Diversity: 

25. These projects are included within the scope of the Equalities Impact Assessment which 

was produced for the Climate Change Delivery Plan which was approved by Cabinet in 

October 2021. 
 

26. These projects were not found to have any negative impacts upon any groups of residents. 

In fact, the Sustainable Warmth Programme will have a positive impact by reducing the fuel 

bills of Surrey’s lowest income households. The PSDS3 project will have a positive impact 

by reducing operational energy costs and increasing thermal comfort for five schools. 
27. Further funding bids will be subject to an Equalities Impact Assessment. 

Other Implications:  

28. The potential implications for the following council priorities and policy areas have been 

considered. Where the impact is potentially significant a summary of the issues is set out in 
detail below. 

Area assessed: Direct Implications: 

Corporate Parenting/Looked After 
Children 

No significant implications arising 

from this report. 
 

Safeguarding responsibilities for 
vulnerable children and adults   

No significant implications arising 

from this report. 
 

Environmental sustainability No significant implications arising 
from this report  

Compliance against net-zero 
emissions target and future climate 
compatibility/resilience 
 

 

The delivery of this project will result 

in carbon reduction from low income 

households in Surrey, helping to 

meet Surrey’s net zero carbon 

targets and mitigate climate change. 
 

Public Health 
 

The delivery of this project will have 

public health benefits through the 

reduction of the number of 

households living in fuel poverty 

which is linked to increased winter 

deaths and morbidity 
 
 

 

 

Page 41

9



 
 

What Happens Next: 

29. The next steps include, 
a. Procuring managing agent/turnkey installers for the PSDS3 and Sustainable 

Warmth Programme. 

b. Developing site specific business cases for each of the 15 sites for which we have 

been awarded PSDS funding, to be approved at CPP. 
c. Developing risk management and communications plans for the programmes. 

d. Preparing for funding applications for future grant funding opportunities. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Report Author: Katie Sargent, Greener Futures Group Manager, 07754 387029 

Consulted: 

The following consultation has taken place: 

Internal 

 Cabinet Members for Environment, Property, Finance & Resources.  

 SCC Members (through Members Development Seminar focusing on Decarbonising Surrey's  

Homes and Tackling Fuel Poverty on 13 December). 

 CEH Select Committee (through Greener Futures Member Reference Group). 

 Service leads for relevant teams.  

External 

 Engagement with Borough and District Environment Directors and Climate Change officers. 

 

Annexes: 

Annex 1 – List of potential funding sources 

Annex 2 – List of sites receiving PSDS3 grant funding 

 

Sources/background papers: 

Not applicable 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42

9



 
 

Annex 1 – List of potential funding sources 

Fund Funding provider Description 

Sustainable Warmth Department of 
Business, Energy 
and Industrial 
Strategy 
 

Funding to install decarbonisation measures in 
low-income households living in the 
most inefficient homes. Additional funding 
available for off-gas homes. The measures 
have been fully funded (with a cap of £10k per 
household) and have included energy efficiency 
measures, thermal insulation, heat pumps and 
solar PV. 
 

Public Sector 
Decarbonisation 
Scheme (PSDS) 

Department of 
Business, Energy 
and Industrial 
Strategy 
 

Government’s PSDF is a competitive funding 
stream which provides capital investment for 
public sector organisations to decarbonise their 
buildings. The fund prioritises the installation of 
heat pumps and covers the additional cost of 
converting end of life boilers to heat pumps (the 
like for like cost is covered by the public sector 
organisation 

Flood and Coastal 
Erosion Risk 
Management Grant in 
Aid (FCERM GiA) and 
Local Levy 
 

Environment Agency The FCERM GiA forms part of the EA’s 6 year 

capital programme and is prioritised using the 

EA’s Partnership Funding process.  “Local 

Levy” funding from the Thames Regional Flood 

and Coastal Committee (TRFCC) is also 

available for schemes and is again 

administered through the EA.  Both sources of 

funding are used to supplement SCC’s own 

Capital Flood alleviation Programme. 

UK Shared Prosperity 
Fund Investment 
Framework 

Department for 
Levelling Up, 
Housing and 
Communities 

The UKSPF has been designed to replace the 
EU Structural and Investment Funds. It is due 
to be launched in 2022.  
 

Active Travel Fund Department for 
Transport 

Government’s Active Travel Fund provides 

Local Transport Authorities with funding for 

walking and cycling facilities.  

Bus Service 
Improvement Plan 

Department for 
Transport 

Government’s bus service improvement funding 
allocated through the national bus strategy, 
‘Bus Back Better’ 

Local Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure Fund 
(LEVI) 

Office for Zero 
Emission Vehicles 

Funding of up to £500m across England to 
assist with upscaling commercial projects to 
install local EV chargepoints to those without 
access to off-street charging.   The fund 
includes On-street residential chargepoint 
funding and a £50m pot to support resource 
with authorities. 

Local Authority 
Treescapes Fund 

Forestry Commission The LATF provides capital funding for the 
establishment of trees in non-woodland 
settings. 

Farming in Protected 
Landscapes Fund 
(FiPL) 

Department of 
Farming, 
Environment and 
Rural Affairs  

Funding for farmers and land managers in 
areas of outstanding natural beauty (AONB) for 
projects which support nature recovery and 
mitigate the impacts of climate change 

 

 

Page 43

9



 
 

Annex 2 – List of sites receiving PSDS3 grant funding 

These buildings were selected in October 2021 following a process of prioritisation against the 

grant funding criteria and were determined in consultation with the Land and Property Service and 

Agile team. Where subsequent decisions have been made by the Council regarding disposal of 

any of the buildings below, we will discuss options with Salix, who manage the PSDS3 programme 

on behalf of Government.  

 

Building name 
  

Keswick Care Home 

Leatherhead Library 

Chertsey Fire Station 

Oxted Library 

Frimley Green Library 

Rylston Registry Office 

Caterham Hill Library 

Leatherhead Fire Station 

The Bridge Youth Centre 

Clifton Hill School 

The Orchard Infant School 

Lingfield Primary School 

Oatlands School 

The Pines – Surrey Arts 

Dorking Nursery School 

 

Page 44

9



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL  

CABINET  

DATE: 26 APRIL 2022  

REPORT OF CABINET 
MEMBERS 

SINEAD MOONEY, CABINET MEMBER FOR ADULTS AND 
HEALTH 

NATALIE BRAMHALL, CABINET MEMBER FOR PROPERTY 
AND WASTE 

LEAD OFFICERS SIMON WHITE, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, ADULT SOCIAL 
CARE 

LEIGH WHITEHOUSE, DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, RESOURCES 

SUBJECT: SUPPORTED INDEPENDENT LIVING PROGRAMME – 
BATCH 1 DEVELOPMENT  

ORGANISATION 
STRATEGY PRIORITY 
AREA: 

TACKLING HEALTH INEQUALITY/ENABLING A GREENER 
FUTURE/ EMPOWERING COMMUNITIES 

 

Purpose of the Report: 

This report seeks Cabinet approval for £24m of capital funding for the design and 

construction of three purpose-built Supported Independent Living (SIL) schemes in Byfleet, 

Horley and Cobham. The schemes will deliver high-quality, specialist residential 

accommodation for working age adults with learning disabilities and/or autism to enable 

these residents to lead more independent lives in a social and supportive environment which 
meets their long-term care needs. 

The schemes, collectively referred to as “Batch 1”, will provide 44 of the 110 SIL 

accommodation units approved by Cabinet in November 2020 (“Transformation of 

Accommodation Based Care and Support for Working Age Adults: Delivering Supported 

Independent Living Options”). Delivering these schemes will support Surrey County 

Council’s (the Council) strategic aims of empowering communities and tackling health 

inequalities by increasing the number of SIL dwellings whilst reducing the Council’s reliance 

on traditional residential care homes, as well as contributing to the Council’s objective to 

provide more affordable SIL housing by 2030. 

Innovative technology and smart design techniques will be utilised to mitigate the 

environmental impacts and the ongoing life cycle and running costs of the buildings, 
supporting the Council’s Greener Futures agenda and Net-Zero Carbon target. 

The three schemes in Batch 1 are: 

 The former Manor School, Magdalen Crescent, Byfleet, Woking KT14 7SR 

 The former Horley Library, 102 Victoria Road, Horley, Reigate and Banstead RH6 

7QH 

 Coveham Hostel, Anyards Road, Cobham, Elmbridge KT11 2LJ  

 

Page 45

10

Item 10

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=7265&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=7265&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=7265&Ver=4


 
 

Recommendations: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Approves capital funding of £24m for the design and construction of the SIL Batch 1 

accommodation schemes at the former Manor School (Byfleet), the former Horley 

Library (Horley) and Coveham Hostel (Cobham). The recommended funding of £24m 

includes £2.1m premium, being a result of achieving Net-Zero Carbon in respect of 

the specification for Operational Net-Zero Carbon. 

 

2. Approves procurement of an appropriate construction contractor partner for the 

delivery of all associated services required, in accordance with the Council’s 

Procurement and Contract Standing Orders. 

 

3. Agrees that, regarding the procurement of the construction contractor, the Executive 

Director of Resources and the Director of Land and Property are authorised to award 
such contracts, within the +/- 5% budgetary tolerance level. 

Reason for Recommendations: 

Approving the recommendations in this report will: 

a) Support the Council to achieve its strategic ambition of reducing the number of 

people with a learning disability and/or autism requiring support in a traditional 

residential care home funded by the Council from 1,075 by 40-50%. 

b) Enable residents with learning disabilities and/or autism, who meet the Council’s 

eligibility criteria for adult social care funding, to have their own accommodation and 

improve their independence and wellbeing. 

c) Support Surrey residents with more complex needs to remain in county, rather than 

in specialist placements outside of the county. 

d) Make an essential contribution towards the Council’s strategic objective to tackle 

health inequality, in line with the 2030 Community Vision. 

e) Provide purpose-built accommodation at a level of cost proportionate to other 

delivery options such as buying and converting (or commissioning conversion) stock 

from the market, therefore demonstrating value for money. 

f) Support the Council’s Greener Futures agenda and Net-Zero Carbon ambitions by 

using innovative technologies and smart build in the schemes design. 

g) Address fuel poverty issues, energy efficient homes will reduce heating costs for 
vulnerable tenants who pay their own utility bills. 

Executive Summary: 

Background: Moving away from residential care and benefits of Support Independent 
Living 

1. A key aim of the Council’s transformation programme is to move away from 

institutionalised models of care, with a specific focus on expanding SIL provision. 

2. Access to appropriate housing for people with a learning disability and/or autism has 
long been identified as an issue. One of the key challenges, identified in several 
reports and publications, is the limited housing options available for people with a 
learning disability and or/autism and the lack of choice and control about where they 

live and who they live with.  

Page 46

10



 
 

3. SIL offers greater independence than residential care; individuals own or rent their 
home and can make choices regarding the support they get to live their lives and 
who they get it from. Some housing options are entirely self-contained, some offer 
shared living arrangements, and some are self-contained within clusters or schemes 
supporting up to six people. The diverse forms that the model takes facilitates 
personalised care, reflecting the level of need. An overview of the key principles for 

supported independent living can be found in Annex 5.  

4. Much of the current Adult Social Care (ASC) spend is on institutional forms of care 
such as residential and nursing care and the Council performs within the lowest 
quartile nationally in relation to people with learning disabilities living in settled 
accommodation in their own home. This heavy reliance on residential and nursing 
care provision leads, for many individuals, to high cost over provision of care and 

support. This needs to be addressed to achieve a sustainable and resilient budget. 

5. The “Adult Social Care Accommodation with Care and Support Strategy for Extra 

Care Housing for Older People and Independent Living Schemes for adults with a 

learning disability and/or autism (Item no, 129/19)” report, approved by Cabinet on 16 

July 2019, and hereafter referred to as the “July 2019 report”, set out the Council’s 

ambition to reduce the number of people with a learning disability and/or autism living 

in residential care by 40-50%. 

 

6. The “Transformation of Accommodation based Care and Support for Working Age 

Adults: Delivering Supported Living Options (Item no. 187/20)”, report approved by 

Cabinet on 24 November 2020, and hereafter referred to as the “November 2020 

Cabinet report”, set out the Council’s vision for developing 540 new units of SIL 

accommodation for people with a learning disability and/or autism, with the ambition 

to develop at least 110 of these units on Council-owned sites. 

 

7. The “Supported Independent Living – Feasibility Study (Item 127/21)”, approved by 

Cabinet on 29 June 2021, and hereafter referred to as the “June 2021 Cabinet 

report”, approved funding for feasibility work to proceed across several Council-

owned sites, including the three sites outlined in this report. The outcome of the 

feasibility study and subsequent design has informed the business case for the sites 

set out in this report. 

Progress made delivering the strategy  

8. The November 2020 Cabinet report outlines the workstreams that will support the 

delivery of SIL accommodation to reduce the number of people in residential care. 

The Council continues to make progress delivering these workstreams and can 

report the following achievements made to date. 

 

a. At the end of the financial year 2021/22 the Council worked with its 

independent sector care providers to deregister some existing residential care 

provision into SIL. This has delivered circa 25 units of SIL. For the financial 

year 2022/23 the Council plans to deregister circa a further 80 units.  

 

b. At the end of the financial year 2021/22 the Council worked with its 

independent sector care providers to increase the provision of SIL via 

acquisition and repurposing existing buildings. This has delivered circa 65 

units of SIL. For the financial year 2022/23 the Council plans to deliver circa a 

further 25 units via this workstream. 

 

Page 47

10

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=6328&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=6328&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=6328&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=7265&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=7265&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=7765&Ver=4


 
 

9. Including the additional 44 units of SIL that will be provided on the sites presented in 

this report, the Council will have delivered or have plans to deliver circa 50% of the 

500 new SIL units required to achieve the strategic ambition. 

 

10. When the strategy was approved by Cabinet in July 2019 there were 1,075 people 

with a learning disability and/or autism living in residential care. The implementation 

of this transformation agenda has already reduced this number to 922, a reduction of 

14% since the July 2019 position. This has been delivered during a global pandemic 

where movement has been restricted, which has impacted the Council’s ability to 
support residents to move to new accommodation.  

The need to develop Supported Independent Living on Council-owned land 

11. There is still significant work to do to reach the target of a 40-50% reduction and ASC 

currently still spends £86m on residential care for people with a learning disability 

and/or autism. Additional capacity is still urgently required to support people with a 

learning disability and/or autism to remain in their communities; in 2017, the Surrey 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment estimated that the number of adults with a 

learning disability and/or autism in Surrey will increase by 10% by 2027.  

 

12. The proposals in this report will provide a total of 44 SIL units on the three Council-

owned sites in Byfleet, Horley and Cobham. These sites are well located and 

promote community inclusion and support residents to live independently. Following 

on from the feasibility capital ask (June 2021 Cabinet report) for funds to carry out 

site due diligence, legal reports, ecological and survey reports, the design at RIBA 

(Royal Institute of British Architects) Stage 2 identified the optimum number of SIL 

accommodation units that will be delivered at each location. The units will be 

designed to accommodate residents with specialist care and support requirements 

including complex needs arising from learning disabilities and /or autism, physical 

disabilities, brain injury, or mental health needs. Table 1 details the locations and 

optimum number of SIL accommodation units at each site. 

 
Table 1 

 

Batch 1 Schemes - location District & 
Borough 

Site 
available 

Optimum no. of SIL units 

Shared Individual Total 

Former Manor School, Magdalen 
Crescent, Byfleet KT14 7SR 

Woking 2020 10 6 16 

Former Horley Library, 102 
Victoria Road, Horley RH6 7QH 

Reigate & 
Banstead 

2022 10 6 16 

Coveham Hostel, Anyards Road, 

Cobham KT11 2LJ 
Elmbridge 2022 0 12 12 

  TOTAL 20 24 44 

 

Principles of Supported Independent Living on Council-owned land 

13. The future Supported Independent Living dwellings on Council-owned land will follow 

the below principles, which are in line with guidance from the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC). 

 

 There will be a clear separation between the delivery of the housing and the 

delivery of the care and support. 

 Users and carers will be involved in shaping the future accommodation. 

Page 48

10



 
 

 The services will support people being local to their natural communities. 

 The services will be embedded within existing communities to promote 

community inclusion. 

 There will be careful consideration of size and scale. 

 Residents will have their own private space, even in shared accommodation. 

 The future tenancy will satisfy “The Real Tenancy Test”1. 

High-quality accommodation to meet the specialist needs of its residents 

14. To provide these schemes with the required specialist provisions, together with 

outstanding amenities including private gardens and spaces, a higher-than-average 

specialist accommodation standard has been applied. This is because typical 

accommodation standards for general needs housing do not meet the requirements 

for residents with specialist needs. The Batch 1 schemes will exceed the Nationally 

Described Space Standard (NDSS) to cater for the needs of the residents to enable 

the following: 

 

 M4(2) adaptable dwellings to include sufficient space for the resident and one or 

two care workers. 

 M4(3) wheelchair user dwellings to include additional area to accommodate the 

increased activity zones and functionality of wheelchair users and their care 

workers. 

 M4(3) dwellings will be designed to wheelchair user standards e.g., a wheelchair 

user is able to live in the dwelling and will have the ability to use any outdoor 

space, parking, and communal facilities. 

 

15. The specialist requirements, as listed below, were approved by the ASC 

Commissioning and Occupational Therapist teams and are future-proofed. The 

Design Brief Document sets out the approach to deliver fit for purpose buildings 

meeting user requirements and will provide long term stability for the residents. The 

ASC Service has been engaged in the design process and it has been approved by 

the ASC Senior Responsible Officer. 

 

 Amenity Space: Following best practice guidance (for the design of spaces for 

people with autism) specific interventions and adaptations to the landscape 

scheme have been made. This includes variations in the level of sensory 

stimulation, the creation of distinct zones some of which are deliberately 

designed to encourage social interaction, and others which are more private in 

nature. Providing a physical sense of movement was something encouraged in 

the feedback received from the Occupational Therapists, so the inclusion of a 

swing seat for each site has now been proposed. Areas which provide shelter 

from the elements are also embedded into the design, and particular treatments 

for specific boundaries have also been considered. 

 

 Sustainability: The Council has committed to achieving Net-Zero Carbon for 

Council Operations by 2030, with Surrey County to achieve Net-Zero Carbon by 

2050. There is not a countywide strategy in place which defines sustainability 

targets to be achieved or specific approaches and measures that should be 

considered. The SIL accommodation design is intended to deliver energy 

efficient buildings which will have low operating costs, resulting in lower fuel bills 

                                                                 
1 TheRealTenancyTestFINAL.pdf (ndti.org.uk) 

Page 49

10

https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Wheelchair_user
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Wheelchair_user
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Dwelling
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Outdoor_space
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Outdoor_space
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Facility
https://www.ndti.org.uk/assets/files/TheRealTenancyTestFINAL.pdf


 
 

for the residents. The Consultant team are working to incorporate designs for 

super-insulated facilities with highly efficient electrical and mechanical services. 

As such, for the current SIL schemes to meet the Council’s sustainability aims, 

Net-Zero target and address fuel poverty, the following principles are proposed. 

 

– Fabric first approach 
– All electric buildings 
– Low carbon, low-cost heating solutions 
– Maximise onsite renewable energy generation 
– Enhanced control of energy use 
– Measure the embodied carbon 
– Sustainable use of water resources 
– Resource efficiency 
– Encourage active transport and low/zero carbon motorised mobility 
– Biodiversity and ecology 
– Healthy living places 

– Smart Building 

 

16. The specialist requirements are such that the construction costs will not be like that 

of a typical house build. The construction costs and financial modelling for each 
Batch 1 scheme are commercially sensitive and set out in the Part 2 report. 

Consultation: 

17. The SIL Programme has been discussed with users and their families/carers, 

providers, and practitioners. It has been well received with the cautionary note from a 

small number of users and carers that clients must continue to have access to the 

support and care they need. This concern is to be expected and can only be fully 

allayed once clients have successfully established themselves in their new home with 

a refreshed support package that provides greater choice and control. Engagement 

with clients and the families is helping to mitigate this and will continue throughout 

the Programme. 

 

18. Senior Officers from ASC had informal conversations with CQC officers regarding the 

Programme in the early planning stages. Design principles have taken account of the 

relevant CQC and NHS guidance in relation to Supported Independent Living 

services. Further conversations have taken place in February and March 2022 and 

the CQC has indicated that size and scale of future schemes will be subject to a 

great level of scrutiny. Contact will be maintained throughout the planning and 

development phases to ensure that service delivery aligns with regulatory and best 

practice guidelines. This will mitigate against any future challenges and provide 

assurance to users, carers, and providers.  

 

19. Local Surrey County Council ward and District and Borough Councillors have been 

engaged throughout the life cycle of this programme and have shared their support 

for these developments. 

 

Risk Management and Implications: 

20. Please also refer to the Risk Management and Implications as detailed in the 

November 2020 and June 2021 Cabinet reports.  

 
21. The table below summarises the key risks for the Batch 1 sites at this stage. 

Page 50

10



 
 

 Risk description Mitigating action/strategy 

i.  Do nothing: will not achieve 
ASC’s targets, strategic 
ambition or meet the Council’s 
strategic priorities 

 The Design Consultant teams carried out feasibility 
studies and developed the schemes design up to 
RIBA Stage 2, enabling the appointed Quantity 
Surveyor and Project Manager to determine the 
capital funding required for construction.  

ii.  Site constraints: ecology, levels, 
soil contaminants, demolition, 
asbestos, existing services, tree 
root protection zones 

 An extensive series of due diligence site surveys 
and investigations have been carried out since 
June 2021 (including borehole investigations in 
January 2022), alongside early designs and cost 
planning to confirm that the sites are suitable for 
development and represent value for money. 

 The Surrey Wildlife Trust (SWT) have carried out 
surveys to sustainably manage the local ecology in 
accordance with the natural environment of the 
local community. 

 The Council’s Tree Officer has been consulted and 
tree surveys have been undertaken at each site. 

iii.  Demolitions: asbestos found on 
site which requires specialist 
removal 

 The demolition strategy has been agreed. 

 The demolition contractor will complete the 
Refurbishment and Demolition (R&D) survey, 
asbestos removal and demolition prior to the main 
contractor starting works on each site. 

iv.  Delays to/onerous constraints 
associated with Planning 
Approval 

 A Planning Consultant has been appointed and a 
pre-planning application strategy has been agreed. 

 The Planning Consultant will oversee the pre-
planning application process and ensure 
documentation is completed as required and on 
time. 

 A public engagement strategy has been planned 
as part of the programme of works; it will be led by 
the Project team and the Planning Consultant. 

 A Transport Consultant has been appointed to 
provide reports to justify the parking, as part of the 
pre-planning application. 

v.  Legal: risk to development  The Council’s Legal team has carried out title 
investigations to ensure that any restrictive 
covenants do not prohibit or significantly prohibit 
the development of the sites for SIL housing. 

 If required, the Council will obtain restrictive 
covenant insurance. 

vi.  Procurement and Supply Chain  A Cost Consultant has been appointed to work 
closely with the Council’s Procurement team to 
look at established frameworks as per the 
procurement report recommendation in Annex 4. 

 Robust Invitation to Tender (ITT) assessment and 
evaluation criteria is in place to ensure 
appropriately skilled contractors with relevant 
experience are appointed to deliver the schemes. 

vii.  Reputational: communications 
and approvals 

 Clear and precise project plans, including key 
dates and deliverables, will be communicated 
regularly with partners, members, the ASC team, 
and residents. 

Page 51

10



 
 

 Risk description Mitigating action/strategy 

viii.  Health and Safety: if not 
managed during construction 
could lead to adverse publicity 
for the Council 

 Risk and Method Statements (RAMS) will be 
provided by the contractor(s) and their supply 
chain. 

 The RAMS will be reviewed and approved by the 
Project Manager, in conjunction with the appointed 
Principal Designer. 

ix.  Financial risks: increase of build 
costs, excessive inflation, rental 
income, costs for facilities 
management, utilities and 
maintenance, voids  

 Benchmarking data has been used to assess build 
costs in relation to design and construction to 
achieve value for money. 

 The Quantity Surveyor will manage and interrogate 
the build costs monthly to ensure that the approved 
budget is adhered to throughout the construction 
period. 

 Market conditions are currently unpredictable due 
to rising costs of materials and labour following the 
unprecedented events of the global Covid-19 
pandemic and Brexit. The current inflation rates 
are based on industry forecasts, but excessive 
inflation could cause the schemes to exceed 
budgets available. 

 Costs for annual facilities management, utilities, 
and life cycle maintenance are based on an in-
depth cost schedule prepared for specialist SIL 
accommodation and are therefore considered 
robust and realistic. 

 The ASC Service will work closely with current and 
potential future residents and their families/carers 
to identify those best suited to move into the new 
schemes, so there is no delay in filling the units in 
the initial mobilisation period. 

 With predicted levels of future demand for this type 
of SIL accommodation (to effectively support 
people with a learning disability and/or autism), the 
Council is confident there will be a strong drive to 
use the settings over their whole estimated 60-year 
useful economic life. As such, it is expected that 
voids will not exceed 5% per annum on average 
across the life of the schemes. 

 

Financial and Value for Money Implications:  

22. The £24m required for the design and construction of the Batch 1 sites is already 

included in the Council’s capital pipeline budget for Supported Independent Living 

accommodation on the basis that SIL schemes are self-financing. Approval by 

Cabinet to develop the Batch 1 schemes will therefore see the funding moved from 

the pipeline into the Council’s approved capital programme. 

 

23. The development of the three proposed schemes will directly contribute to the 

delivery of ASC efficiencies planned in the 2022-27 Medium Term Financial Strategy, 

to drive a strategic shift from residential care to supported independent living for 

people with a learning disability and/or autism. 

 

Page 52

10



 
 

24. The three schemes are collectively anticipated to generate a net financial benefit of 

£577k per annum, after considering the cost of borrowing required for construction 

costs. The schemes are also estimated to generate a positive Net Present Value 

(NPV) over the 65 years modelled project term. The financial modelling is 

commercially sensitive and is set out in the Part 2 report. 

 

25. The schemes will be designed to deliver energy efficient buildings which will have low 

operating costs. The schemes’ specifications are in accordance with London Energy 

Transformation Initiative (LETI) guidelines, the most widely accepted low carbon 

standards. The buildings will be extremely energy efficient, including provisions for 

enhanced insulation, highly efficient electrical and mechanical services, will maximise 

renewable energy output through solar panels and use non-gas low carbon heating 

systems. It is expected this will result in buildings which are low cost to operate, 

which has a direct benefit for occupants through much lower fuel bills and 

maintenance costs (reducing energy costs by at least 65% per month) based on the 

energy and carbon assessment investigations by the Council’s Sustainability 

Consultant, in line with the Councils Green Agenda objectives. See Annex 3. 

 

26. The capital cost of providing the enhanced specification is £2.1m, including additional 

design fees and contingency, representing approximately 9% of the total cost, 

therefore the base cost for the schemes is £21.9m. 

 

27. The Cost Management team (Turner & Townsend) has prepared cost benchmarking 

reports which are included in the Part 2 report. The benchmarking demonstrates that 

the estimated construction cost/m² falls within a range representative of similar 

developments. Furthermore, the estimated £/ft² falls within a comparable sales value 

for typical housing developments available on the market when factoring in an uplift 

for specialist fit out/enhanced specification or conversion costs. The new 

accommodation is estimated to have an economic life of 60 years meaning Council-

funded care package savings and other financial benefits of the schemes would be 

achieved over the long-term in addition to non-financial benefits, including improved 

wellbeing and independence for the residents. Full details of the long-term financial 
benefits are set out in the Part 2 report. 

Section 151 Officer Commentary:  

28. Although significant progress has been made to improve the Council’s financial 

position, the medium-term financial outlook beyond 2022/23 remains uncertain. With 

no clarity on central government funding in the medium term, our working assumption 

is that the financial resources will continue to be constrained, as they have been for 

majority of the past decade. This places an onus on the Council to continue to 

consider issues of financial sustainability as a priority to ensure stable provision of 

services in the medium term. 

 

29. In this context, the Section 151 Officer supports the development of the three 

Supported Independent Living schemes outlined in this report as this will contribute 

to the delivery of efficiencies planned in the Council’s Medium Term Financial 

Strategy, while at the same time providing specialist accommodation for people with 

a learning disability, autism or a mental health condition that promotes people’s 

independence and will improve their wellbeing. 

 

Page 53

10



 
 

30. The development and delivery of these specialist Supported Independent Living 

schemes is complex. As such, it will be important to closely monitor delivery against 

the financial modelling assumptions to ensure that the outcome will achieve the 

estimated financial benefits set out in the Part 2 report. Should any material changes 

occur during the delivery of the schemes that bring the delivery of the modelled 

financial benefits into question, then a further report should be presented so that 
Cabinet can consider how best to proceed, based on the latest position. 

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer: 

31. This report is a supplemental report to the transformation report approved by Cabinet 

in November 2020. This report seeks approval for capital funding for the design and 

construction of Supported Independent Living accommodation schemes at three 

identified sites in Surrey: the former Manor School in Byfleet, the former Horley 

Library in Horley and Coveham Hostel in Cobham. At this stage there are no specific 

legal implications to report on. Advice on site specific matters can be provided as and 

when further information is available and further progress is made. 

 

32. In approving capital funding, consideration should be given to fiduciary duties to 

residents in utilising public monies and that the proposals and financial implications 
represent an appropriate use of the Council’s resources. 

Equalities and Diversity: 

33. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was completed and submitted as part of the 

November 2020 Cabinet report which remains applicable to this updating report. See 
Annex 2. 

Other Implications:  

34. The potential implications for the following Council priorities and policy areas have 

been considered. Where the impact is potentially significant a summary of the issues 
is set out in detail below. 

Area assessed: Direct Implications: 

Corporate Parenting/Looked 
After Children 

No significant implications arising from this updating 
report. 

Safeguarding responsibilities for 
vulnerable children and adults   

No significant implications arising from this updating 
report. 

Environmental sustainability The surveys listed below have been completed and guided 
the design of the schemes. No impacts to the environment 
were identified. 

 Noise & Acoustic Survey 
 Air Quality Testing 

 Bat presence/absence Survey and Report 

 Drainage CCTV 

 Ground Investigation – Desktop 

 Ground Source Heat Pump (GSHP) Desktop studies 
and site borehole tests 

 Flood Risk Assessment 
 Intrusive Ground Investigation: Geo-technical/Geo-

environmental 

 R&D (intrusive) Asbestos Survey and Report 

 Soil Investigation Survey 

Page 54

10



 
 

Area assessed: Direct Implications: 

 Transport Feasibility Survey 

 Underground Utilities Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR) 
Survey 

Compliance against net-zero 
emissions target and future 
climate compatibility/resilience 
 
 

Consistent with the Council’s Net-Zero Carbon target, the 
buildings will be designed to be operationally net-zero and 
future-proofed to be adapted and resilient to the impacts of 
climate change. 
 
The key features of an operationally net-zero carbon 
building include: high thermal efficiency, a low carbon 
heating system, and maximising the generation and use of 
on-site renewable energy. 
 
The table below demonstrates that the sites, designed to 
LETI guidelines, will have the potential to achieve net-zero 
carbon based on the energy and carbon assessment 
investigations by the Council’s Sustainability Consultant, in 
line with the Council’s Greener Future objectives. 
 
Site Emissions 

(tonnes CO2 equivalent)/ 

year from each site 

Former Manor School, Byfleet 0 

Former Horley Library, Horley 0 

Coveham Hostel, Cobham 0 

 
Materials and construction emissions will be reduced 
where feasible. The next design stages will address the 
Green Agenda within the budget allowance for the project 
and will design solutions to address the agenda, e.g.: 
Sustainable Drainage Systems, opportunities for rainwater 
harvesting, irrigation solutions, biodiversity net gain, 
landscape boundary treatments etc. 

Public Health 
 

SIL can positively impact on Public Health outcomes, 
including: 

 Increased wellbeing and reduced isolation and/or 
loneliness through social inclusion, active participation in 
community life and engagement in learning 
opportunities/pathways to employment. 

 Improved health outcomes resulting from contact with 
community health services. 

 Improved wellbeing resulting in increased independent 
living skills, e.g., financial management, exercising 
choice and control. 

 

What Happens Next: 

35. Key milestones and timescales are in the table below should Cabinet approve the 
proposals set out in this report. 

Key milestone Target 
Start 

Target 
Complete 

RIBA Stage 3: Design and Planning Jan 2022 Mar 2022 

Page 55

10



 
 

Key milestone Target 
Start 

Target 
Complete 

RIBA Stage 4: Technical Design  Apr 2022 May 2022 

Preparation of Main Contractor Invitation To Tender documentation  Apr 2022 Oct 2022 

Public engagement May 2022 May 2022 

Consideration of all comments and feedback, approval of same by 
Project team with amendments by consultant, and communicate 
outcomes and/or issues to Members 

May 2022 Jun 2022 

Full planning application for all three sites will be submitted in June 
2022 by the Planning Consultant team to the Council Regulation 3 
team 

Jun 2022  Oct 2022 

Contract award, appointment, and mobilisation on site Jan 2023  Mar 2023 

Construction period  Jan 2023 Mar 2024 

Handover  Mar 2024  May 2024 

 

36. The Council will commission a greater number and variety of SIL accommodation 

options so that people with a range of care needs have more choice and control over 

the level of support they receive. 

 

37. Further report(s) will be presented to Cabinet at a future date for schemes to deliver 
the remaining circa 66 SIL accommodation housing units. 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Report Author: 

Jonathan Lillistone, Assistant Director, Commissioning, Adult Social Care. 07813 395425 

Anna Waterman, Head of Commissioning, Disabilities. 07977 510492 

Simon Montgomery, Senior Programme Manager, Commissioning, Adult Social Care. 07814 

768211 

Anthony Wybrow, Assistant Director – Capital Projects, Land and Property. 07929 824862 

Elaine McKenna, Contract Manager – Capital Projects, Land and Property. 07368 126653  

Consulted: 

Cllr Sinead Mooney, Cabinet Member for Adults and Health 

Cllr Natalie Bramhall, Cabinet Member for Property and Waste 

Resources and Performance Select Committee 

Adults and Health Select Committee 

Daniel Murray, Head of Economy & Growth, Horley 

Simon White, Executive Director, Adult Social Care 

Steven Hook, Assistant Director – Disabilities and Autism, Adult Social Care 

Page 56

10



 
 

Simon Crowther, Director, Land and Property 

Surrey County Council Finance, Legal and Procurement officers 

People who currently use the services and their families/carers 

Annexes: 

Annex 1: Options considered 

Annex 2: Supported Independent Living Strategy Equality Impact Assessment 

Annex 3: Energy and Carbon assessments 

Annex 4: Procurement Report 

Annex 5: The key principles of Supported Independent Living 

Part 2 report 

Sources/background papers: 

Community Vision for Surrey in 2030 

Cabinet report, 26 July 2019: Adult Social Care Accommodation with Care and Support 

Strategy for Extra Care Housing for Older People and Independent Living Schemes for 
adults with a learning disability and/or autism (Item no, 129/19) 

Cabinet report, 24 November 2020: Transformation of Accommodation based Care and 
Support for Working Age Adults: Delivering Supported Living Options (Item no. 187/20) 

Cabinet report, 29 June 2021: Supported Independent Living – Feasibility Study (Item 
127/21) 

Page 57

10

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s73257/Part%201%20Annex%203%20-%20Supported%20Independent%20Living%20Strategy%20Equality%20Impact%20Assessment.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/finance-and-performance/our-performance/our-organisation-strategy/community-vision-for-surrey-in-2030
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=6328&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=6328&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=6328&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=7265&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=7265&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=7765&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=7765&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Supported Independent Living Programme – Batch 1 Development 

Annex 1: Options considered 

 

OPTION A B – recommended option 

Description Do Nothing Progress the design, achieve full planning for the three sites in Byfleet, 

Horley and Cobham, and procure the contractor to enable the delivery 
of same within an agreed programme. 

Pros  None  Empowers its communities by increasing the number of working 

age adults with support needs living in supported independent 

living settings and reduce its reliance on traditional residential care 
provision. 

 The transformation of Surrey’s approach to providing 

accommodation with care and support is expected to generate 
significant efficiencies. Based on financial modelling to date £4.4m 

of efficiencies have been included in the 2021-26 MTFS, with the 
potential for greater efficiencies through completing all of the 
transfers to independent living planned. 

 Supported independent living settings can avoid more expensive 
residential care placements, and at the same time encourage social 
inclusion and make best use of community assets to reduce costs 

of care in the community through maximising people’s 
independence. 

Cons  The Adult Social Care Accommodation with Care and 
Support Strategy fails to provide supported independent 
living options where associated Housing Delivery Plan1 

placed a clear expectation on local authorities that the 
number of people with a learning disability and/or autism 
living in residential care should reduce and a consequent 

increase in alternative housing options should be developed. 

 None 

 

                                                                 
1 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215891/dh_122387.pdf  

 

P
age 59

10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215891/dh_122387.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Technical Note  1 
 

 

Technical Note 

To:  Elaine McKenna and Sadam Farley-Kiwanuka 

From: Sergey Barekyan Email:  
sergey.barekyan@atkinsglobal.com 

Date: 4 March 2022 Phone:  N/A 

Ref:  SCC SIL cc:  N/A 

Subject: Technical Note - SCC SIL Energy and Carbon Assessment Results for March 
Cabinet paper 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background  

The energy and carbon assessment results presented in this technical note are based the proposed 
energy strategies for the Manor School, Horley Library and Coveham Hostel sites and the following 
key assumptions. 

The energy and carbon baselines for all the sites are based on the Part L 2013 natural gas fuel 
baselines. 

 

Key Assumptions 

• Baseline energy and carbon outputs are based on Part L 2013 Notional Buildings with natural 
gas boilers 

• “Proposed Strategy” energy and carbon outputs are based on LETI guidance, Air Source Heat 
Pumps (ASHPs) and Photovoltaics (PVs) 

• Estimated PV capacity: Manor School – 74.1 kWp, Horley Library – 74.1 kWp, Coveham Hostel 
- 71.7 kWp 

• Assessment period – 29 years (until 2050) 

• Price of carbon - £95 per tonne  

• Average Energy Prices during the assessment period: Electricity – circa 15.49 p/kWh, Gas – 
4.84 p/kWh 

• Average Carbon Factors during the assessment period: Electricity – circa 0.43 CO2eq/kWh, Gas 
– 0.184 CO2eq/kWh 

• Indicative price for electricity export from PV – 5 p/kWh 

• Estimated electricity export proportion – 60% 

Page 61

10



 

 

 

 

Technical Note  2 
 

Energy and carbon Assessment Results  

 

Manor School Site 

 

Carbon assessment outputs on projected average carbon factors between 2022-2050 

  

CO2 emissions (tonnes/year) 

Regulated Unregulated Total 

Total CO2 Emissions Baseline   12.97 0.92 13.88 

Proposed Strategy with ASHP and PV -1.11 0.92 -0.19 

    

    

  

Regulated Energy CO2 
savings  

Regulated and 
Unregulated Energy 

CO2 savings 

Tonnes per 
annum 

% % 

Total cumulative savings over 
baseline 

14.08 109% 101% 

  Tonnes CO2 Tonnes CO2 

Cumulative CO2 savings  32.2 5.6 

Cost saving from avoided cost of 
carbon   

£3,061 £529 

 

Energy assessment results  

Type 
Baseline 

Energy (kWh) 
Actual 

Energy (kWh) 

Baseline 
Energy Cost 

(£) 

Actual Energy 
Cost 1 (£) 

Actual Energy 
Cost 2 (£) 

 Unregulated  625,479 625,479 £96,897 £96,897 £96,897 

 DHW  567,155 264,301 £27,467 £40,945 £40,945 

 Lighting  108,589 109,435 £16,822 £16,953 £16,953 

 Aux Energy  18,575 182,469 £2,877 £28,267 £28,267 

 Space Heating  1,448,407 232,566 £70,146 £36,028 £36,028 

 Elec generated by PV  - -1,545,241 - -£239,383 -£142,110 

Total 2,768,205 -130,990 £214,210 -£20,293 £76,980 

Note: 

* Energy Cost 1 - the PV cost savings are based on the assumption that there is no PV electricity export from the site 
(indicative to show maximum possible benefit) 

** Energy Cost 2 - the PV cost savings are based on the assumption that there is 60% PV electricity export from the site 
(more realistic estimate)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62

10



 

 

 

 

Technical Note  3 
 

Horley Library Site 

 

Carbon assessment outputs on projected average carbon factors between 2022-2050 

  

CO2 emissions (tonnes/year) 

Regulated Unregulated Total 

Total CO2 Emissions Baseline   13.0 0.9 13.9 

After use of renewable energy -1.1 0.9 -0.2 

    

    

  

Regulated Energy CO2 
savings 

Regulated and 
Unregulated Energy 

CO2 savings 

Tonnes per 
annum 

% % 

Total cumulative savings over 
baseline 

14 109% 101% 

  -1.1 - -0.2 

Cumulative CO2 savings  Tonnes CO2 Tonnes CO2 

Cost saving from avoided cost of 
carbon   

33.2 5.7 

Total cumulative savings over 
baseline 

£3,159 £539 

 

Energy assessment results  

Type 
Baseline 
Energy 
(kWh) 

Actual Energy 
(kWh) 

Baseline 
Energy Cost 

(£) 

Actual Energy 
Cost 1 (£) 

Actual Energy 
Cost 2 (£) 

 Unregulated  625,479 625,479 £96,897 £96,897 £96,897 

 DHW  567,155 264,301 £27,467 £40,945 £40,945 

 Lighting  108,589 109,435 £16,822 £16,953 £16,953 

 Aux Energy  18,575 182,469 £2,877 £28,267 £28,267 

 Space Heating  1,448,407 232,546 £70,146 £36,025 £36,025 

 Elec generated by PV  - -1,543,201 - -£239,067 -£141,923 

Total 2,768,205 - 128,971 £214,210 -£19,980 £77,164 

Note: 

* Energy Cost 1 - the PV cost savings are based on the assumption that there is no PV electricity export from the site 
(indicative to show maximum possible benefit) 

** Energy Cost 2 - the PV cost savings are based on the assumption that there is 60% PV electricity export from the site 
(more realistic estimate)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63

10



 

 

 

 

Technical Note  4 
 

Coveham Hostel Site 

 
Carbon assessment outputs on projected average carbon factors between 2022-2050 

 

  

CO2 emissions (tonnes/year) 

Regulated Unregulated Total 

Total CO2 Emissions Baseline   10.6 0.6 11.3 

After use of renewable energy -0.7 0.6 -0.1 

    

    

  

Regulated Energy CO2 
savings 

Regulated and 
Unregulated Energy 

CO2 savings 

Tonnes per 
annum 

% % 

Total cumulative savings over 
baseline 

11.4 107% 101% 

  -0.7 - -0.1 

Cumulative CO2 savings  Tonnes CO2 Tonnes CO2 

Cost saving from avoided cost of 
carbon   

22.4 3.2 

Total cumulative savings over 
baseline 

£2,127 £306 

 
 
Energy assessment results  

Type 
Basline 
Energy 
(kWh/y) 

Actual 
Energy 
(kWh/y) 

Basline 
Energy Cost 

(£) 

Actual Energy 
Cost 1 (£) 

Actual Energy 
Cost 2 (£) 

 Unregulated  434,669 434,669 67,337 67,337 67,337 

 DHW  788,967 404,800 38,210 62,710 62,710 

 Lighting  109,240 109,667 16,923 16,989 16,989 

 Aux Energy  28,449 43,799 4,407 6,785 6,785 

 Space Heating  854,595 191,031 41,388 29,594 29,594 

 Elec generated by PV  - -1,257,413 - -194,794 -115,640 

Total 2,215,920 -73,447 168,265 -11,378 67,776 

Note: 

* Energy Cost 1 - the PV cost savings are based on the assumption that there is no PV electricity export from the site 
(indicative to show maximum possible benefit) 

** Energy Cost 2 - the PV cost savings are based on the assumption that there is 60% PV electricity export from the site 
(more realistic estimate)  

 

Page 64

10



 

 
 

 
 

 
10 February 2021 

 

Mark Nichols 
Associate Director 
 

 

Turner & Townsend Cost Management Limited 
One New Change 
London 
EC4M 9AF 
 

 

t: +44 (0)20 7544 4000 

e: mark.nichols@turntown.co.uk 
w: www.turnerandtownsend.com 

 

Turner & Townsend Confidential 

Report 
RIBA 2 Procurement Report 

Adult Social Care, Supported Independent Living 

Surrey County Council 

making the difference 

 

Page 65

10



Surrey County Council 

Adult Social Care, Supported Independent Living 

Turner & Townsend 

Turner & Townsend Confidential 

Contents 

Introduction 1 

Purpose of Report 1 

Executive Summary 1 

Procurement Principles 2 

Programme Determined Recommendation 2 

Programme Decision Trees 2 

Modular Construction 3 

Traditional vs D&B 3 

Single Stage vs Two Stage 3 

Summary and Recommendation 4 

Other Considerations 4 

Route to Market 4 

Contractors Frameworks 4 

Batch One Arrangement 4 

Direct Award 4 

Open Market 4 

Demolition 5 

Route to Delivery 5 

Next Steps 5 

 

 

Rev Status Originator Approved Date 

0 Draft Mark Nichols Nicky Farmer 20 January 2022 
1 Final Mark Nichols Drew Melrose 10 February 2022 
     

 

© Turner & Townsend Cost Management Limited.  This document is expressly provided to and solely for the use of Surrey County 

Council on the Adult Social Care, Supported Independent Living and takes into account their particular instructions and requirements.  

It must not be made available or copied or otherwise quoted or referred to in whole or in part in any way, including orally, to any other 

party without our express written permission and we accept no liability of whatsoever nature for any use by any other party..  

Page 66

10



Surrey County Council 

Adult Social Care, Supported Independent Living 

Turner & Townsend 01 

Turner & Townsend Confidential 

Introduction 

Purpose of Report 

This report introduces the procurement options available for the Supported Intendent Living projects within 

the Adult Social Care portfolio. This report is being issued at RIBA Stage 2, and whilst the final decision on 

procurement and tendering does not need to have been made at this time, a clear indication on the 

intention will help everyone involved in the project plan prepare accordingly. 

The report uses the recently adopted Capital Programme Execution Plan (CPEP) procurement 

recommendations and processes and considers what is most appropriate for the individual projects 

individually and collectively. The report also looks at ways to access the contractor market which will be 

done following RIBA Stage 3 and will likely be commenced once planning approval has been granted. 

Finally, the report looks at the recommendation of the appointment of a contractor for the demolition on 

two of the three Supported Independent Living (SIL) sites.  

 

Executive Summary 

All contracting and procurement options for the three Adult Social Care SIL projects in scope have been 

reviewed.  It is recommended that all three projects are procured and delivered via a JCT Design and Build 

contract form, using a Single Stage Tender. This route will provide SCC with cost certainty with optimum 

risk transfer to the contractor. The single stage procurement will enable SCC to maintain control of the 

design and quality of the finished building. 

It is intended that the projects are tendered at the end of RIBA Stage 3, with the chosen contractor 

undertaking the technical design, overseen by the Surrey design team, Atkins. 

Following Cabinet approval, the project team will work with Surrey procurement colleagues to evaluate the 

available contractor frameworks and compile the tender documents.   

In parallel to the main works contracts, demolition works on two of the SIL sites needs to be undertaken in 

early 2022.  In order to expedite getting a contractor on site, an open competitive tender with a minimum 

of three selected contractors is recommended.  

  

Page 67

10



Surrey County Council 

Adult Social Care, Supported Independent Living 

Turner & Townsend 02 

Turner & Townsend Confidential 

Procurement Principles 

Programme Determined Recommendation 

At programme level, the Capital Programme Execution Plan (CPEP) has set the standard procurement route 
which will be followed for all projects in the programme. The follow extract is taken from the CPEP. 

 

Programme Decision Trees  

The CPEP includes a number of decision trees as follows. A red line has been added to show the decisions 

which are being recommended within this report and as explained in later sections. 

 

 

 

 

Page 68

10



Surrey County Council 

Adult Social Care, Supported Independent Living 

Turner & Townsend 03 

Turner & Townsend Confidential 

 

Modular Construction  

The RIBA 2 report prepared by Atkins makes the recommendation at the SIL projects are not suitable for 
modular or MMC routes, primarily due to the scale of the projects and the low repetitive nature of the 
design. On the decision tree, the Turner & Townsend recommendation is therefore ‘No’.  

The impact of this means that there is no requirement engage a specialist contractor during the design 
development process.  

Traditional vs D&B  

The first decision tree seeks to determine if the primary driver is cost and value, rather than design and 
aesthetics. On the basis that the programme is likely to face budget constraints to deliver all of SCC 
aspirations Turner & Townsend are determining the that ‘Yes’ the primary driver is cost and value. None of 
the SIL sites have indicated planning constraints likely to warrant enhanced aesthetic design.  

The second decision trees sets to reinforce this decision. The decision is based on whether the design would 
be problematic for a contractor to take on board. The SIL projects are fairly simple in their construction 
design and methodology, and the therefore it is Turner & Townsend’s view is that ‘No’ these schemes will no 

represent a problematic design risk.  

Both of these decisions point towards a Design and Build route being most appropriate.  

Single Stage vs Two Stage  

The first decision tree seeks to determine if Contractor input on buildability would be beneficial to the 
scheme. Whilst buildability input is normally useful, on these SIL schemes, Turner & Townsend considers 

Page 69

10



Surrey County Council 

Adult Social Care, Supported Independent Living 

Turner & Townsend 04 

Turner & Townsend Confidential 

that the design and likely build methodology is sufficiently simple that contractor input would not be 
beneficial to be extent of warranting the additional PCSA fees which would be incurred. On this basis, 

Turner & Townsend has selected ‘No’ on this decision tree. 

The second decision tree looks at the programme available to undertake the tendering process. The 
programme for these three projects is ambitions but achievable.  The period allowed for tendering following 
the completion of the RIBA 3 design is adequate for the scale and complexity of the works. On this basis 
Turner & Townsend has selected ‘Yes’ on this decision tree. 

Both of these decisions point towards the most appropriate tendering route being a single stage.  

Summary and Recommendation 

Within the CPEP the default procurement and tendering route is a Design and Build, Single Stage Tender. 

Based on the Turner and Townsend recommended decision, on the SIL programme, this default seems to be 

the most appropriate route.  

Other Considerations  

Route to Market 

Within the recommended procurement and tendering route, there remains the decision to be made on how 

to access the market. The decision on this does not need to be made until during RIBA 3 and needs to be 

agreed by the SCC Procurement Team. It is assumed that SCC will have a number of compliance 

requirements around their tendering. The requirements for public sector procurement still follows the 

principles established by The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (OJEU) required to demonstrate that a 

transparent, open, and competitive tendering process is being adopted. The CPEP sets out the three options 

likely to be available, with one further option, Open Market, which can be considered.  

Contractors Frameworks 

SCC is able to access a number of existing public sector frameworks. The SIL projects would likely be 

suitable for delivery through this route, especially when the number of available frameworks are considered. 

All frameworks have slightly different contractual arrangements, fees, and contractors, with some likely to 

be mor suitable than others. At the next design stage, the available frameworks will be analysed to work 

out which would be most suitable in providing the best contractor in terms of quality, programme, price, 

and risk. The frameworks which would be considered would all meet the public procurement requirements. 

Our recommendation at this current stage of the project would be that the use of a Contractors Framework 

would most likely be the most commercially advantageous.  

Batch One Arrangement  

The purpose of the Batch One agreement is to simplify the route to market for medium sized projects listed 

within the agreement. The Batch One Contractor has pre agreed contract terms & rates using a single stage 

JCT Design & Build contract. This arrangement might be a suitable route for the SIL projects, however this 

would need to be considered further during the next design stage. The review of the suitability would need 

to take into account the contractors experience, capability and capacity.  

Direct Award  

It is unlikely that SIL would be a suitable series of projects for direct award. This would only be an option 

where the works being delivered are nearly identical to previously delivered project. This criteria would not 

be met on the SIL schemes.  

Open Market 

If the above options do not provide the correct type of contractor with relevant experience, an Open Market 

tender could be a further option. This route tends to be relatively slow but does open the tendering to a 

Page 70

10



Surrey County Council 

Adult Social Care, Supported Independent Living 

Turner & Townsend 05 

Turner & Townsend Confidential 

larger contractor market, increasing the ability to find a contractor with relevant experience. This route 

would need to be agreed with the SCC procurement team and would deviate from the adopted routes within 

the CPEP. 

Demolition 

Route to Delivery 

The demolition works on two of the SIL sites needs to be undertaken in early 2022. The works would entail 

asbestos survey, asbestos removal, and full building demolition, including grubbing out of foundations. The 

route to getting a contractor on site may differ slightly from the routes identified above for the main works.  

Turner & Townsend consider that the most appropriate route is likely to be an open tender. The value of 

these works would be below the public sector threshold, and therefore a competitive tender could be 

undertaken with a minimum of 3 selected contractors. This would provide the benefit of being quick to 

tender allowing demolition to commence as soon as needed but would also allow contractors with the 

correct experience to be selected.  

Next Steps 

The above recommendations need to be reviewed with the SCC project team, and with the SCC 

procurement team. If these recommendations are accepted, the tender documents and list of contractors 

for the demolition works will be pulled together, whilst a summary of the available Contractor Framework 

would be prepared to identify which would best suit the main contractor selection for the SIL projects.  

This should be done at the earliest point during RIBA Stage 3 to provide the project team with the clarity 

around the procurement route which will be followed.  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 71

10



Surrey County Council 

Adult Social Care, Supported Independent Living 

Turner & Townsend 06 

Turner & Townsend Confidential 

 

Page 72

10



ANNEX 1 – THE KEY PRINCIPLES OF SUPPORTED INDEPENDENT LIVING

Supported Independent Living should:

• Enable people to remain in the same accommodation as their needs change

• Help people to self–care and promote independent living skills 

• Foster links with the local community and enable people receiving services to access the wider community and play an active part in 
community life

• Be domestic in nature and not resemble institutional environments like residential care homes

• Provide a level of on-site support and care by staff which can scale to changing needs

The following features are common to any Supported Independent Living setting:

• Independently accessed apartments or other dwellings – ‘own front door’

• Individuals will have a tenancy and be able to access housing benefits and be afforded housing rights

• Any personal care and support required by individuals is provided by a separately registered care agency which is registered by the Care 
Quality Commission

• Located in a sustainable location, close to the community and local amenities, e.g. shops, doctors, transport links and in areas where 
there is a sustainable workforce

• Technological infrastructure which helps people to maintain their independence, and which can be linked to assistive technology where 
needed

P
age 73

10



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL  

CABINET  

DATE: 26 APRIL 2022  

REPORT OF CABINET 
MEMBER: 

DENISE TURNER- STEWART, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION AND LEARNING  

LEAD OFFICER: RACHAEL WARDELL, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF 
CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND LIFELONG LEARNING 

SUBJECT: HOME TO SCHOOL/COLLEGE TRAVEL ASSISTANCE 

POLICY REFRESH 

ORGANISATION 
STRATEGY PRIORITY 
AREA: 

GROWING A SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY SO EVERYONE CAN 
BENEFIT/ TACKLING HEALTH INEQUALITY/ENABLING A 
GREENER FUTURE/  EMPOWERING COMMUNITIES 

 

Purpose of the Report: 

The purpose of this report is to outline the proposed updates to the Home to School Travel 

Assistance (H2S TA) policy for children and young people in mainstream schools and pupils 

attending specialist schools for children with additional needs (SEND). This report sets out 

the rationale for and the objectives of the changes, the changes being consulted on and the 

intended outcomes.  It recommends that Cabinet approve the refreshed H2S TA policy, 

taking account of the consultation feedback, the equality impact assessment and the 

mitigations proposed for any potential negative impacts.   

Recommendations:  

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Notes the impacts and mitigations set out in the Equality Impact Assessment (Annex 

B) 

2. Notes the outcomes of the engagement with residents and the 28 working day public 

consultation (Annex C) 

3. Approves changes to the Home to School/College Travel Assistance policy having 

considered the above documents (set out in paragraphs 11-51) 

4. Approves the revised Home to School/College Travel Assistance policy (Annex D) 

5. Agrees the proposal to produce an enhanced Post 16 Policy Statement and agrees 

that the Cabinet member has delegated authority to approve the statement. 
 

Reason for Recommendations: 

The H2S TA policy sets out the way in which the Council discharges its statutory and 

discretionary powers and responsibilities in relation to school and college transport 

assistance available for pupils aged up to 25 years of age, both with and without additional 

needs.  While Surrey County Council will continue to support those who most need help, the 

Council must manage increasing costs and demand within the overall resources available.  

The recommendations set out in this report will increase the options for children and young 

people who qualify for H2S TA, encourage people to use environmentally friendly travel and 
support independent travel as a means of preparing young people for adulthood.   

Page 75

11

Item 11



Executive Summary: 

Background: 

1. The Council is committed to meeting the educational needs of as many children and 

young people as close to home as possible within local schools. In many cases, this 

will mean that pupils can walk or cycle to school.  Approximately 160,000 pupils 

attend education settings each day in Surrey. A small proportion (approximately 

10,000 or 6%) of pupils find it difficult to travel to a setting, school or college without 

some assistance and require additional support from Surrey County Council. 

Residents may qualify for support for many reasons including distance between their 

home and education setting, lack of public transport options, their age, or if they have 

an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) because they have additional needs. 

 

2. To support Surrey County Council’s ambition for children and young people to live, 

learn and grow up locally, over the next five years the Council is investing £139m to 

expand existing specialist schools and create new specialist schools. This programme 

will create an additional 2,600 specialist school places in Surrey. This will mean more 

children will receive the specialist education they need in Surrey closer to their 

homes, which will in turn reduce the need for travel assistance services.  Where it is 

needed, this will reduce distances travelled and the length of journeys. 

 

3. Home to school travel assistance helps children and young people get to and from 

their education setting. This comes in several different forms, such as independent 

travel training (ITT), mileage re-imbursement, bikeability, driving lessons and taxi, 

minibus and coach services. H2S TA supports pupils and young people to travel to 

their school or college for children of statutory school age (5-16 years old), for children 

under 5 by exception, for young people aged 16 to 19 by exception and for young 

adults aged 19 to 25 where they continue to attend an education or training provision 

and have an EHCP.  

 

4. The Council has a legal duty to ensure that transport provided is suitable. To be 

suitable, the transport must enable an eligible child to reach school without such 

stress, strain or difficulty that they would be prevented from benefitting from the 

education provided.  This is set out in the Department for Education guidance to local 

authorities: ‘Home to school travel and transport guidance: Statutory guidance for 

local authorities’, July 2014, to which officers and members must have regard.  A link 

is provided here: Department for Education (publishing.service.gov.uk).   In this 

report, references to national or statutory guidance are all references to this DfE 

guidance.   

 

5. The Council is seeing significant challenges in securing appropriate transport 

provision due to challenges in the labour market; this is a national issue. This is also 

in the context of a significant rise in provider costs linked to increased fuel costs and 

employer National Insurance contributions. This affects the Council’s ability to ensure 

that children and young people who most need our support get it at the right time, 

against the backdrop of increasing demand. The County Council Network has recently 

produced a report ‘Home To school Transport: The Challenge in Counties.’ Rising 

costs are a concern across councils and there is a clear shift nationally towards 

scaling back H2STA offers close to or at statutory requirements only. This report can 

be found here ( Councils face difficult decisions as spiralling fuel prices impact on 

Page 76

11

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575323/Home_to_school_travel_and_transport_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575323/Home_to_school_travel_and_transport_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575323/Home_to_school_travel_and_transport_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575323/Home_to_school_travel_and_transport_guidance.pdf
https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/councils-face-difficult-decisions-as-spiralling-fuel-prices-impact-on-school-transport-services-report-warns/


school transport services, report warns - County Councils Network ) 
 

6. The H2S TA policy is being refreshed in several key areas so that it is reflective of the 

ambitions we have for our children and aligned to the context summarised in this 

County Council Network report. The Council is focused on ensuring children and 

young people in Surrey can attend local schools and settings, and travel to and from 

school with their friends and peers. Therefore, very significant investments have been 

made to create more school places in our specialist schools across the County and 

further work to promote inclusion is a key priority in our Special Educational Needs 

and Disabilities ‘SEND’ Transformation. The refreshed policy will align to Surrey 

County Council’s commitment to move away from an offer of school transport 

provision to a travel assistance model, with an increased focus on inclusion, 

sustainability and Surrey’s greener future agenda.  

Rationale for the proposed changes:  

7. In Surrey, every day nearly 10,000 children and young people (attending mainstream 

and specialist schools and settings) access H2S TA.  This is funded via Council Tax. 

The cost of this per annum is £44.7m. Excluding the 2020/21 financial year, and 

impacts of COVID lockdowns, this cost has increased consistently over the past few 

years and Surrey County Council, like other transport commissioners nationally, is 

seeing additional financial pressures as the country moves out of the pandemic, as 

well as more demand for transport services. 

 

8. To illustrate the costs of providing transport services, as of January 2022, of the 

children and young people attending mainstream schools who are eligible for 

transport assistance, 18% are provided with a taxi or minibus service, costing the 

Council nearly £100,000 per week; the remainder access a range of other travel 

options including a bus or train pass or travel allowance.  98% of children and young 

people with additional needs who are provided with transport use a minibus or taxi, 

costing the Council nearly £1m per week, according to January 2022 data, or 

£200,000 per day. 

 

9. While the Council will continue to support those who most need help, we must 

manage increasing costs and demand and we are therefore proposing to: 

 

 Increase the alternatives for children and young people who qualify for H2S TA, 

moving away from a reliance on solo taxi routes (when there is only one child or 

young person in the vehicle). Solo routes make up approximately one third of the 

spend on H2S TA.  

 

 Promote a greater use of travel assistance options used routinely by children and 

young people and communities such as buses and rail, where appropriate 

through Independent Travel Training (ITT). 

 

 Use environmentally friendly travel and transport. Greater use of green alternative 

travel options would help us mitigate the impact of climate change, through better 

use of walking, cycling and bus and train routes and where possible, increasing 

the occupancy in vehicles.  

 

Page 77

11

https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/councils-face-difficult-decisions-as-spiralling-fuel-prices-impact-on-school-transport-services-report-warns/


 Ensure young people do not face a ‘cliff edge’ when they become adults. For 

young people with additional needs, for example, their eligibility for transport is 

linked to their Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) and will expire at some 

point in the future. If they are not supported through Independent Travel Training 

(ITT) to travel independently this can create isolation and reduce access to 

employment as well. 
 

10. Some pupils with additional needs will require lifelong support. Of those young people 

in post-16 education with an EHCP, we estimate that 11% will require lifelong support 

from Adult Social Care and 4% will have complex medical needs, which will require 

lifelong support from their Clinical Commissioning Group. For the remaining pupils 

with additional needs, their travel assistance will end once their EHCP ceases (for 
example, when their EHCP expires when they turn 25 years old).  

Proposed changes: 

11. To support Surrey County Council’s ambition of empowering and supporting children 

and young people, prepare them for adulthood and secure the best value from our 

limited resources, several changes to the H2S TA Policy are proposed. The proposed 

changes set out in the consultation that took place in February/March 2022 are in 
Annex A. The outcome of the consultation is set out in Annex C. A summary of the 

consultation responses is provided in this section of the report. 

 

12. The Council will engage and communicate with families to inform them of the changes 

to policy as early as possible.  This will include the co-production with Family Voice 

Surrey of a new Parent and Carer guide that sets out the Council’s policy in plain 

English and will explain what the Council will and will not provide.  It will be available 
by early June.   

Broader range of travel assistance options including collection points 

13. The Council will offer a broader range of travel assistance options. This includes 

options such as bikeability (cycling safely and with confidence), driving lessons and 

access to TfL Oyster Cards (in some areas of the county). In addition, individual travel 

training assessments are proposed which will be undertaken in an agreed location 

rather than in the home.  The range of travel assistance options is summarised as:  

 Bikeability scheme - training to cycle 
independently and safely, with 
reimbursement of bicycle and safety 
equipment.  

 Driving lessons 

 TfL Oyster Card (in some areas of 

the county) 

 Other bespoke travel options that 

enable travel and the development of 
travel skills and independence (e.g. 
travel buddy).  

 Provision of a bus or train pass   Independent Travel Training 

 Reimbursement of mileage costs for 

parents or carers 

 Post-16 travel bursary 
 

 A private bus, coach or minibus or 
shuttle bus service 

 In extenuating circumstances, 
provision of contracted transport 
(taxis or licensed private car hire) 

 

 

Page 78

11



14. Alongside this expanded set of options, collection points will be introduced. Currently 

children and young people are collected from home, brought to school then collected 

and dropped off at home at the end of the school day.  Children will be encouraged to 

use collection points and especially children attending mainstream settings. Where 

children and young people with complex additional needs or the parents’ or carers’ 

own mobility or disability may impact on them being able to use the collection points, 

we will assess individual needs to determine suitability to use designated collection 

points. The introduction of collection points is already enshrined in the existing policy. 

However, the consultation and the policy refresh has allowed the Council to 

understand and take into account the views of our community on the implementation 

of this approach.  
 

15. The consultation outcome is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

32% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on collection points; 54% of 

respondents were against the proposal; 14% were neutral regarding the proposal. 

There were marked differences between those parents responding positively and 

negatively.  Of the parents of young people with additional needs who responded, 

66.8% responded negatively.  Parents of young people who do not have additional 

needs were much more in favour of the use of collection points, with 66.7% agreeing. 
 

16. Taking account of the public consultation on the revised policy proposals, where a 

route has been identified as suitable for collection points to be introduced, a further 4 

week consultation will be undertaken with the families, children and young people on 

that route to ensure that the proposed arrangements are appropriate, for example the 

location of the collection point.  Before the 4 week consultation, the Council will also 

assess the individual circumstances or needs which may mean that a collection point 

is not appropriate for an individual pupil to use.  Following a decision to introduce a 

collection point, the Council will provide not less than 6 weeks notification to families 

(which includes any school holidays that fall in the 6 week period) before the 

collection point is established.     It is proposed that once a collection point route has 

been established, that route will remain a collection point route and no further specific 

consultation will be undertaken.  This means that any pupils joining the route will be 

informed that it is a collection point route and they will be expected to use the 

collection point.  Parents will have the right to appeal. 

 

17. There was strong support for collection points in the consultation responses from 

parents and carers with children without additional needs. The provision to use 

collection points is current Council policy. As a result, the Council is proposing to 

begin the assessment process for collection points for children in mainstream schools 

in the Summer term in academic year 2021/22.  This will be undertaken in line with 

the 4 week consultation with families and children on a proposed route and if a 

collection point is established, the Council will provide not less than 6 weeks 
notification (including any school holidays) to families.    

Variations to transport journey times  

18. The Council currently aims to comply with the statutory guidance (referred to in 

paragraph 4 above) on best practice for the maximum length of journey times for a 

child to get to and from school. This is 45 minutes for a primary aged child and 75 

minutes for a secondary aged child attending placements both within and outside the 

County. The national guidelines for journey times apply to children aged 5 to 16. They 

Page 79

11



were first included in Department for Education statutory guidance issued in 2007 

(updated in 2014) for all local authorities which states that best practice suggests that 

journeys are completed in these times (see link above in paragraph 4).  

 

19. The County Council’s current policy recognises the challenges of complying with the 

national guidance. Currently, circa 7,200 children and young people have journeys to 

and from school of up to 45 minutes in primary school and up to 75 minutes in 

secondary school in commissioned transport. Surrey’s size, rural nature, dispersed 

population, traffic pressures and current lack of sufficient specialist places, which is 

being addressed through the £139M capital investment in maintained specialist 

schools, means that it can be challenging to adhere to these guidelines in practice. 

Surrey is geographically one of the largest local authorities in England covering an 

area of 648 square miles with close to 500 schools and colleges and other alterative 

provisions, including 25 specialist schools. Surrey has a distinctive character with 

large rural areas and conversely, in its larger conurbations, traffic density and 

congestion very similar to inner London.  
 

20. In addition, the Council’s H2STA policy has a contribution to make toward meeting the 

Council’s Climate Change Strategy.  In H2STA, this means offering a sustainable 

transport solution, which will contribute towards reducing emissions by 60% and 

improving air quality by 2035. As such H2STA will seek to reduce the number of 

vehicles used and the number of miles the service users travel individually. The 

service currently uses over 2,100 directly commissioned vehicles per day and travels 

395,000 miles per week.  
 

21. The Council is proposing that for some journeys, the upper limit on journey times may 

be varied in order to make suitable and sufficient arrangements for all children. This 

means that in planning routes, the maximum time guidance of 45 minutes for primary 

school children and 75 minutes for secondary school children would not override all 

other considerations.  The Council will also take into account the benefits of allowing 

children and young people who could potentially share transport to do so in 

appropriate circumstances, the promotion of Independent Travel, more 

environmentally friendly travel and the economic use of resources.  This will further 

develop the current policy (updated in 2020) which provides flexibility to make a 

decision to depart from the national guidance on recommended travel times following 

a careful assessment of the needs of every individual child, giving consideration to 

age and additional needs.  Parents will have the right to appeal. 

 

22. The consultation outcome is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

20% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on variations to journey times; 

62% of respondents were against the proposal; 17% were neutral regarding the 

proposal. The length of journey time was of most concern regarding Key Stage 1 

children, specifically those with additional needs (SEND) where an increase in travel 

time was perceived as detrimental to their health and wellbeing, as well as their ability 

to be able to learn on arrival at school. 
 

23. Taking account of the public consultation on this proposal, if the Council departs from 

the national guidelines on journey times, this decision must ensure the planned route 

is not of such duration that the pupil is unable, because of stress and strain, to learn 

properly (whether at school or at home) i.e. it must be suitable (see paragraph 4). We 

Page 80

11



will take into consideration the child’s age and stage of development.  The 45-minute 

maximum planned journey time for primary-aged pupils contained in statutory  

guidance will be maintained and only exceeded in certain circumstances, such as 

journeys which enable a child to attend the setting which best meets their needs.  

Proposing a change to the measuring system for determining Independent Travel 

Allowance (ITA) from a straight line basis to road routes. 

24. Straight line route measurements have previously been used for Independent Travel 

Allowance (ITA) agreements but have occasionally been a barrier for agreeing 

transport funding for children, young people and families to make their own travel 

arrangements. Moving to a method that measures road route distance will simplify the 

process, will more effectively reimburse families for the costs of making their own 

arrangements and will increase the number of families able to take up this offer. It is 

recommended to move to a road route basis for calculation of ITA.  

 

25. The consultation outcome is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

70% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on a change to the measuring 

system from a straight line basis to road routes; 12% of respondents were against the 
proposal; 18% were neutral regarding the proposal. 

Mileage Reimbursement 

26. The current H2S TA policy provides two modes of mileage reimbursement: 

 

 A tiered mileage allowance based on average distance between a home address 
and school. This tiered allowance is broken down into 3 bands.  

 

 A standard mileage rate.  
 

27. It is proposed to introduce a simpler scheme to enable a more unified reimbursement 

process for parents and carers (including how and when they are reimbursed). The 

mileage rates to be used will still be based on Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 

(HMRC), which will include provision for any inflationary uplifts. 

 

28. The consultation outcome is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

47% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on milage reimbursement; 20% of 
respondents were against the proposal; 33% were neutral regarding the proposal. 

Notice period(s) for the removal of travel assistance in certain circumstances.  

29. In the instances where a family’s financial circumstances change or a route to school 

within statutory walking distance (2 miles for those aged up to aged 8 and 3 miles for 

those over age 8) becomes safe to walk and therefore a child is no longer eligible for 

travel assistance, the Council’s policy currently allows for travel assistance to remain 

in place unchanged for the child or young person until the end of the academic year. 

The Council proposes in future to end travel assistance in the circumstance where a 

route to school becomes safe to walk after four weeks or the end of the half term, 

whichever is longer, following notification to parents and carers. This notice period is 

considered reasonable, provides a longer notice period than was proposed in the 

public consultation, and will be considered in the context of the potential impact on the 

child.  Parents will also have the right to appeal.  

Page 81

11



 

30. If a family’s low-income status has ended, applicants who have been entitled to travel 

assistance will be written to with the explanation that assistance will end. Travel 

assistance will continue to be provided until the end of the academic year. The 

Council will also connect with families and offer support such as signposting to 

specific services if this would prove helpful to them. This is considered reasonable as 

the purpose of the extended entitlement for low income families is to give these 

families more choice of school.  They may need time to consider whether to move 

their child to a different school if their status changes. 

 

31. The consultation outcome is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

23% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on notice periods; 47% of 
respondents were against the proposal; 30% were neutral regarding the proposal. 

Other reasons for withdrawal of transport  

32. The current policy outlines in which circumstances transport will be withdrawn. The 

reasons include where fraud has taken place, or an application included misleading 

information. The Council proposes to expand this part of the policy to include if there 

are errors with the initial assessment. Parents and carers will have the right of appeal 

if assistance is withdrawn for this reason. This approach is in line with the prudential 

management of the Council’s resources.  In light of this, and taking account of the 

public consultation, it is recommended that the proposal to expand the policy on 

withdrawal of transport is agreed and implemented.   

 

33. The consultation outcome is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

39% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on withdrawal of transport; 27% of 

respondents were against the proposal; 34% were neutral regarding the proposal. 

Provision of travel assistance for under 5s. 

34. The current policy states that the Council may provide travel assistance to children 

aged under 5 if it concludes that extenuating circumstances have been demonstrated. 

It is proposed that this discretionary assistance will only be provided to reception aged 

children (children aged 4). Currently 178 children under the age of 5 access H2STA, 

of which 16 are below the age of 4 and 162 are 4 year olds.  Taking account of the 

public consultation, it is recommended that the Council may provide assistance to 

children who are aged 4 and entering into the reception year at primary school if 

extenuating circumstances have been demonstrated. Parents will have the right to 

appeal if they believe extenuating circumstances have not been considered by the 

Council. 
 

35. The consultation outcome is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

63% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on provision for under 5s; 10% of 

respondents were against the proposal; 27% were neutral regarding the proposal. 

Medical and Health Interventions in the Travel Assistance Policy. 

36. The current policy outlines in which circumstances a Passenger Assistant may be 
approved to support a child during travel to school. One of these circumstances is a 
child who has specific health and/or medical needs. The policy does not outline the 
operational standards or processes linked to the provision of medically trained 
transport staff. Taking account of the public consultation, it is recommended that the 

Page 82

11



new policy will provide guidance on the operational standards and processes which 
the Council follows if there is a requirement for a medically trained Passenger 
Assistant to support children during their journey to school. Information about this will 
be added to the Parent and Carer Guide. Parents will have the right to appeal if they 
believe their child’s health or medical needs have not been considered. 
 

37. The consultation outcome is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation 74% 
of respondents were in favour of the proposal on medical and health interventions; 4% 
of respondents were against the proposal; 22% were neutral regarding the proposal. 

One child per vehicle transport 

38. The current policy outlines in which circumstances individualised transport would be 

agreed. This refers mainly to taxis taking children and young people to and from 

schools and settings. The proposed change will mean that in the future, only in very 

specific circumstances will individualised transport be provided which will mean more 

children sharing transport and accessing a wider range of travel assistance options. 

Extenuating circumstances will be linked to medical needs or where the child or young 

person is receiving funded bespoke one-to-one support in their education or training 

venues.  

 

39. Individualised transport involves provision of a single vehicle and a member of staff, 

for a single pupil. This carries a significantly higher unit cost than shared transport. 

The proposed change will clarify for families, Surrey County Council staff and partners 

the circumstances under which individualised transport will be agreed.  Parents will 

have the right to appeal if they believe these circumstances have not been taken into 

account.  Taking account of the public consultation, it is recommended that the 

proposal to provide individualised transport only in specific circumstances is agreed 

and implemented. 
 

40. The consultation outcome is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

59% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on one child per vehicle transport; 

28% of respondents were against the proposal; 13% were neutral regarding the 
proposal. 

Safeguarding users of H2S transport  

41. The current policy advises in some detail that the Council may look to withdraw 
transport assistance in instances of behaviour that poses risks to drivers and other 
passengers on transport. The Council understands its duty to provide travel 
assistance to children who are eligible.  However, in circumstances where a child’s 
behaviour potentially risks harm to themselves and others in a vehicle (including the 
driver), a review of the arrangements will be undertaken. This will start with the needs 
of the child and what may need to change to support them to access transport more 
safely.  If this is not viable, then it is proposed that parents/carers will be asked to 
accept a mileage allowance instead of transport being provided.  The majority of 
respondents to the public consultation were in favour of this proposal.   Information 
about this will be added to the Parent and Carer Guide.   
 

42. The consultation outcome is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

54% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on safeguarding users; 31% of 
respondents were against the proposal; 15% were neutral regarding the proposal. 

 

Page 83

11



Travel Assistance and post-16:  Updated policy statement and post-16 bursary 

43. There is also statutory “have regard” guidance for transport for students aged 16-19. 

The guidance is that the Council has to make such arrangements for the provision of 

transport for these students as it considers necessary. The Council’s current policy 

states that transport will be provided in exceptional circumstances only i.e. where it is 

necessary to provide assistance to allow the student to get to and from their 

educational setting. Currently 653 young people over the age of 16 access H2S TA. 

This costs circa £7.8m per annum.  
 

44. As set out previously in this report, in future it is proposed that offers of travel 

assistance will focus on independent travel options, including the use of public 

transport and will move away from provision of private hire vehicles such as 

minibuses or taxis where appropriate. 
 

45. The proposal is to produce an enhanced post-16 policy statement, which will be 

reviewed and republished annually.  This will ensure there is regular review and 

transparency regarding the Council’s intention to use its discretionary powers for post-

16 travel assistance. The aim in the future is to provide support for young people over 

age 16 to help them transition into adulthood and explore independent travel, if they 

are eligible.  While the public consultation was divided over support for this proposal, 

on the basis that it will give greater clarity to young people, parents and carers about 

the travel assistance available post-16, it is recommended that the proposal to publish 

an enhanced annual post-16 policy statement is agreed and the final detail be 

determined by the Cabinet Member under delegated authority. 
 

46. The consultation response is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

39% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on the introduction of a post-16 

statement; 39% of respondents were against the proposal; 22% were neutral 

regarding the proposal.  

 

47. In addition, it is proposed that where the Council assesses a young person aged 16 to 

19 years as eligible for travel assistance under its policy, the assistance offered in the 

first instance will be in the form of a post-16 transport bursary to support families and 

young people to make their own transport arrangements, unless due to severity of 

need or a requirement for specialist transport means this is not appropriate. Parents 

and young people will have the right to appeal.   Taking account of the public 

consultation, there were more respondents in favour of this proposal than against. 
 

48. The consultation response is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

44% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on the introduction of a post-16 

bursaries; 30% of respondents were against the proposal; 26% were neutral 
regarding the proposal. 

Travel assistance appeals process 

49. The DfE national guidance on home to school transport sets out how appeals against 

eligibility decisions made for H2S TA should be conducted. This includes a two-stage 

process. Stage two must be independent of the stage one decision-making process 

and include suitably experienced panel members. At present the stage two panel is 

made up of elected members of the local authority.  

 

Page 84

11



50. It is proposed to continue with a two-stage process and that the stage two panel will 

be independent of the first, but the membership of the stage two panel will now 

include Council officers in the future. This is in line with the DfE national guidance and 

will strengthen the experience and knowledge of the panel. The DfE’s recommended 

appeals process is set out here: Department for Education (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

This will also allow appeals to be heard more rapidly and regularly than is currently 

the case.  Ensuring a wider pool of panel members will mean that appeals can be 

quorate and proceed in cases of ill health or lack of availability of councillors. 

However, is it still the intention to ensure that councillors remain a key component of 

appeal hearings and this change is not proposing to withdraw councillors from the 

appeals process.  Taking account of the public consultation in which the majority of 

respondents were either neutral or in favour of the proposal, it is recommended that 

this proposal is agreed.   

 

51. The consultation outcome is as follows: Of the 694 responses to the consultation, 

30% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on the changes to the travel 

appeals process; 27% of respondents were against the proposal; 43% were neutral 
regarding the proposal.  

Outcomes for Surrey residents: 

52. The changes to the H2S TA policy are designed to increase the range of transport 

options offered to children who are eligible, promote inclusion and independence, 

support preparations for adulthood and be more financially sustainable. As financial 

assistance for transport does not always continue into adulthood, it is crucial that 

young people are equipped with the skills and capabilities to travel independently as 

they get older. 
 

53. These changes will also support the Council’s ambitions for children and respond to 

the climate emergency. Expanding travel assistance options and reducing reliance on 

one child per vehicle transport will enable the service to play its part in contributing to 

a greener county and reduce volumes of private transport on Surrey’s roads. 
 

54. The Council also has a responsibility to make effective use of public sector resources. 
These changes will enhance its ability to ensure value for money for residents. 

Consultation: 

55. The Council has proactively engaged with parents, carers, schools and colleges and 

other stakeholders. A public consultation of 28 working days on the proposals was 

launched on 22 February 2022 and concluded on Tuesday 31 March 2022. The 

consultation covered travel assistance services provided to both children attending 

mainstream provision and children and young people with additional needs attending 

specialist settings.  

 

56. A hard copy letter with the consultation document was sent to all current mainstream 

and additional needs (SEND) H2S TA service users setting out the proposed changes 

and inviting them to respond to the survey. There were 694 respondents to the 

survey. In addition, four virtual public engagement events were held, plus a FaceBook 

Live session with Family Voice Surrey. Participants included parents and carers of 

H2S TA service users and Family Voice Surrey. The Council also received emails 

from both residents and local MPs. All engagement has been included in the 

Page 85

11

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575323/Home_to_school_travel_and_transport_guidance.pdf


consultation analysis and taken into account for the equality impact assessment. A 

copy of a summary of the proposed changes as the companion document to the 
consultation is attached as Annex A. 

 
57. A report summarising the feedback from the consultation is attached as Annex C. 

The key themes coming out of the feedback include: 

 Overall, it is clear that the support that young people receive for H2S TA is of 

great importance to both them and their families. Parents of young people 

with additional needs are especially concerned to ensure that the structure 

and consistency that this support provides for their children continues. 

 Respondents were in support of the majority of proposed changes, and where 

this support has been indicated, decisions have been made in line with these 

views.  

 However, for the proposals consulted on regarding the use of collection 

points, the variation in maximum journey times and the alteration of notice 

period, more respondents were against the proposals than were in favour.  

expressed a negative sentiment. For these proposals further consideration 

was given to understand the respondents’ reasoning and adjustments to the 

proposals made in line with the equality impact assessment and mitigations 

identified.    

 Finally, the consultation responses to the enhanced post-16 policy statement 

were more mixed in their support, therefore officer discretion has been used.  
 

58. The Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee was updated 

on the proposals and the consultation at its meeting on 7 April 2022 and provided 

feedback.  The Cabinet Member for Education and Learning was consulted on the 

proposals prior to the consultation launching and was updated on feedback as the 

consultation progressed. Informal Cabinet was briefed on the outcomes of the 

consultation on 19 April 2022.   

Risk Management and Implications: 

59. The Council’s home to school/college travel assistance policy is a county-wide policy 

which will apply equally to all districts and boroughs and electoral divisions.  The 

policy and the practice that results from it are intended to be consistent across all 

districts and boroughs and should enable greater consistency of practice and equity of 

provision of home to school travel assistance.  It will encourage the use of more 

environmentally sustainable forms of transport, supporting young people to walk, 

cycle and use public transport such as local buses and trains.   

 

60. The Council’s Legal Services has provided expert advice and guidance throughout 

the development of the proposals and the consultation.  Dedicated programme 

resource has also ensured risks are considered and mitigated where possible. The 

implementation timetable will implement travel arrangements that are predictable for 

the family and child or young person and for which they can reasonably prepare. 

 

61. Further advice in relation to the robustness of the legal position on the policy changes 

proposed has been provided.   

 
 

Page 86

11



Financial and Value for Money Implications:  

62. Surrey County Council currently provides significant discretionary home to school 

travel provision for children with additional needs and some discretionary provision for 

mainstream children. As set out previously in this report, the CCN study has 

confirmed that all County Councils have seen an exponential increase in the cost of 

providing home to school transport.    

 

63. As of 2020/21 the H2STA budgets for children in mainstream settings, those with 

additional needs and those attending alternative provisions are £40.1m.  Due to 

current pressures within the service, the forecast for this financial year is £44.7m, an 

overspend of £4.6m.  This overspend is a result of the position in SEND transport 

which accounts for an overspend of £4.8m with small underspends in the other areas 

offsetting this variance. 
 

64. This variance has come about as a result of increases in both the number of pupils 

being transported, and the costs of routes since September.  Increases in pupil 

numbers have begun to slow, but the cost of routes is continuing to rise meaning the 

full year effect of these pressures could be more than the current £4.8m in 22/23 

without further action. 

 

65. The budget for transport in 2022/23 contains a number of offsetting pressures and 

efficiencies which result in a net increase of c£600k.  The actions listed in this report 

will therefore first be required to mitigate the current financial pressure before being 

able to make efficiencies against the overall Council budget position. 

  

66. One of the key areas of pressure in recent months has been the rising increase in fuel 

prices. This has been linked to an increase in providers ‘handing back’ routes due to 

them no longer being affordable.  These routes must then go back out to market and 

are coming back at circa 20% more.  The contracts Surrey has in place mean that 

providers can hand back routes with 28-days’ notice which reduces the protection 

against short term fluctuations in fuel prices such as this.  

 

67. The current proposed changes to the H2S TA policy are part of a suite of proposals to 

improve children’s educational experiences in the County.  More such measures will 
be rolled out through different programmes in the future.  

Section 151 Officer Commentary:  

68. Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to improve 

the Council’s financial position, the medium-term financial outlook beyond 2021/22 

remains uncertain. The public health crisis has resulted in increased costs which may 

not be fully funded. With uncertainty about the ongoing impact of this and no clarity on 

the extent to which both central and local funding sources might be affected in the 

medium term, our working assumption is that financial resources will continue to be 

constrained, as they have been for the majority of the past decade. This places an 

onus on the Council to continue to consider issues of financial sustainability as a 

priority in order to ensure stable provision of services in the medium term.   

 

69. As such, the Section 151 Officer supports the recommendations of this report as the 

current pressures on the Home to School transport budgets are significant.  Providing 

Page 87

11



these services in a more cost-effective manner is therefore key in supporting the 
Council’s overall financial stability.   

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer: 

70. Parents have a primary responsibility for ensuring that their children attend school 

regularly and this includes the obligation to transport them. However, the Education 

Act 1996 (as amended) sets out the Council’s duties and powers to provide home to 

school/college transport and travel assistance in relation to pre-school children, 

children of compulsory school age, post-16 (sixth form) students and adult learners 

with education health and care plans up to the age of 25. In exercising these 

functions, the Council must have regard to statutory guidance (see paragraph 71 

below).  

 

71. In summary: 

 There is no duty to provide free home to school travel assistance to children 

under compulsory school age, but the Council has a discretion to provide it. 

 Eligible children of compulsory school age (5-16) must be provided with free 

home to school travel assistance. The categories of eligible children are set 

out in legislation and include children who live beyond the statutory walking 

distance from the nearest suitable school, children who cannot reasonably be 

expected to walk to school due to special educational needs, a disability or 

mobility problems, or due to the nature of the route. There is extended 

eligibility for children from low income families.  

 The Council is required to publish an annual policy statement specifying the 

arrangements for the provision of transport that the Council considers 

necessary to facilitate the attendance of all persons of sixth form age 

receiving education or training. There is no requirement that any travel 

assistance provided to 16-19 learners must be free of charge. 

 In the case of adult learners (aged 19 or over), the Council is required to 

make such transport arrangements as are necessary, including in particular, 

for students aged 19 to 25 with EHCPs in residential education or attending 

further education colleges and must publish an annual policy statement. If 

assistance with transport is considered necessary for an individual learner, it 

must be provided free of charge.  

 The Council is required to have regard to statutory guidance in discharging its 

functions in relation to school transport. Statutory guidance on transport for 

eligible children of statutory school age is given in ‘Home to school travel and 

transport guidance: statutory guidance for local authorities July 2014’. It is 

proposed that the Council departs from the recommendations in the national 

guidance as to journey times. The requirement to “have regard” to the 

guidance, means that the Council must follow it unless it has cogent reasons 

not to. The Council will need to be satisfied that any change to the policy to 

depart from the national guidance on journey times is justified taking account 

of the factors outlined in paragraphs 18 to 23 above, the aim of encouraging 

greater independence and the focus on sustainability and Surrey’s greener 

future agenda, and having regard to the equality impact assessment and the 

proposed mitigation in the application of the change.  There is also statutory 

guidance on transport for post 16 year olds, entitled “Post-16 transport and 

travel support to education and training”. 

Page 88

11



72. The Cabinet is being asked to approve changes to the Council’s Home to 

School/College Travel Assistance Policy which means the Council will change travel 

assistance arrangements for some cohorts of children and young people. The 

proposals were subject to a 28 working day consultation as detailed early in this 

report and an analysis of the responses has been appended to this report. The 

Cabinet must consider the outcomes of the consultation and conscientiously take 

them into account in reaching its decision. 
 

73. The Council owes a fiduciary duty to its council taxpayers which is analogous to that 

owed by trustees looking after property that belongs to others. Accordingly, in 

deciding how money should be spent, the Cabinet should take into account the 

interests of residents who have contributed to the Council’s income and balance those 

interests against those who benefit from the expenditure. 

 

74. The Public Sector Equality Duty of the Equality Act 2010 applies to this decision. 

There is a need to have due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity for 

people with protected characteristics, foster good relations between such groups and 

eliminate unlawful discrimination. These matters are dealt with below in this report 

and in the Equality Impact Assessment appended. The Cabinet will see that negative 

impacts have been identified and when reaching its decision, Members will need to 

take account of these and any mitigating actions. 

 

75. Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 places duties on the County Council along with a 

range of organisations and individuals to make arrangements for ensuring that their 

functions, and any services that they contract out to others, are discharged with 

regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  Section 175 of 

the Education Act 2002 also requires the County Council to make arrangements for 

ensuring that their education functions, which include transport functions, are 

exercised with a view to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children. 

Equalities and Diversity: 

76. The policy changes regarding discretionary provision that were the subject of 

consultation affect the specific groups of children and young people set out in the 
Equality Impact Assessment (Annex B). This identified both potential negative and 

positive impacts based on the protected characteristics of age and disability. 

 

77. The main potential negative impacts for these groups include challenges in accessing 

their education setting and impacts on health and wellbeing from disruption to their 

existing service provision. The Council will mitigate this by:  

 

a. Communicating the changes widely to children and young people and their 

families through the Surrey Local Offer, through schools and directly to the 

parents and carers of the specific groups of children and young people.  This 

will enable them to prepare and make alternative travel arrangements where 

required. 
 

b. Further engaging children and families on the introduction of individual 

collection points and variances to journey times to take account of children’s 

needs and abilities and local circumstances. 
 

Page 89

11



c. Work to develop and promote independent travel opportunities, such as 

Independent Travel Training. 
 

d. Continue to deliver the programme of work that will expand local specialist 

education provision in Surrey to make it easier for children and young people 

to attend settings closer to their communities and reduce demand for travel 
assistance.     

 

e. Co-produce a Parent Guide with Family Voice that will ensure that there is 

accessible information for parents and carers on travel assistance, as well as 
a policy on variance to journey times setting out the criteria we will consider.  

Other inclusivity issues: 

78. Delivery of the outcomes sought through the policy will promote inclusion, 

independence and preparation for adulthood for children and young people, 

environmental sustainability, more efficient use of public resources and enable the 

Council to continue to deliver its statutory responsibilities for home to school travel 

assistance.   

 

79. A further potential positive impact is incentivising more children and young people to 

attend local provision in Surrey and their own communities with their family and 

friends. 

 

80. For all children and young people there is a further positive impact of promoting 

independence and preparation for adulthood. The Council estimates that based on 

the cohort of approximately 3,000 post-16 students with an EHCP, 11% will meet the 

threshold for lifelong support from Adult Social Care and 4% will have complex 

medical needs and be supported by their CCG via Continuing Health Care support.  

The remaining 84% will only access additional support including transport assistance 

via their EHCP which will end when their plan ceases or expires at age 25. The 

majority of the post-16 additional needs group of young people are on a vocational 

pathway and the ability to travel independently is an essential employability skill.  The 

refreshed policy will support this.   

 

81. For each group, the Council will exercise its discretion to establish what travel 

assistance might be needed based on the needs, age and circumstances of children, 
young people and their families.   

Other Implications:  

82. The potential implications for the following Council priorities and policy areas have 

been considered. Where the impact is potentially significant a summary of the issues 
is set out in detail below. 

Area assessed: Direct Implications: 

Corporate Parenting/Looked After 
Children 

Looked after children will be 
supported with safe and suitable 
travel assistance.  They will be 
eligible for the range of travel 
assistance options, including 
independent travel training, 

Page 90

11



supporting them to prepare for 
adulthood. 
 

Safeguarding responsibilities for 
vulnerable children and adults   

The Council will continue to ensure 
that, where it provides home to 
school transport for a child, it is safe 
and that children on transport 
continue to be safeguarded. This 
includes reviewing arrangements 
where a child’s behaviour on 
transport potentially risks harm to 
themselves and others in a vehicle 
including the driver. 
 

Environmental sustainability The Council’s policy will encourage 
the use of more environmentally 
sustainable forms of transport, 
supporting young people to walk, 
cycle and use public transport such 
as local buses and trains. 
 

Compliance against net-zero 
emissions target and future climate 
compatibility/resilience 
 

 

As above. 

Public Health 
 

Walking and cycling are healthy 
travel options and promoting 
independence provides mental 
health benefits. 
 

 

What Happens Next: 

83. Subject to decision making, the Home to School/College Travel Assistance Policy will 

be published on 6 May 2022 and communicated widely to children and young people 

and their families through the Surrey Local Offer, through schools and settings and 

directly with families. 

 

84. Subject to decision making, the policy will be implemented for academic year 2022/23 

which begins in September 2022, with changes to travel assistance arrangements as 

set out in this report commencing in September 2022. The introduction of collection 

points for children in mainstream schools will be implemented in academic year 
2021/22, in line with the rationale set out in paragraph 17.   

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Report Author:  

Eamonn Gilbert, Assistant Director- Commissioning, eamonn.gilbert@surreycc.gov.uk 

Consulted: 

Cabinet 

Page 91

11



Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning 

Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee 

ELLC Staff 

Families of children and young people with SEND 

Families of children and young people without SEND 

Young people, with SEND and without 

Family Voice Surrey 

Healthwatch Surrey 

Phase Council Headteachers – special, primary, secondary and early years 

Other school professionals  

Residents 

Annexes: 

Annex A:  Copy of ‘Proposed Changes Guide’ companion document for the consultation 

survey 

Annex B:  Equality Impact Assessment  

Annex C:  Summary Consultation Feedback Report   

Annex D:  Revised Home to School/College Travel Assistance Policy 

Sources/background papers: 

‘Home To school Transport: The Challenge In Counties – County Council Network 

‘Home to school travel and transport guidance: Statutory guidance for local authorities’, July 
2014 

Department for Education (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

  

Page 92

11

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575323/Home_to_school_travel_and_transport_guidance.pdf


Annex A – Proposed Changes Guide 

 

                    HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL ASSISTANCE POLICY:  

                           Proposed Changes Guide 

 
 

 

Introduction 
 
This  document summarises proposed changes to Surrey County Council’s Home to School Travel Assistance Policy (H2S TA). 
This  policy explains the eligibility cri teria for travel assistance for children, with and without special educational needs, of 
s tatutory school age (5-16 years old), for children under 5 and for young people aged 16-19 and 19-25, and describes how 
the Council fulfils i ts duties and exercises i ts discretionary powers as set out in the Education Act 1996 and subsequent 
legis lation and guidance.  
 
The Council is refreshing the Home to School Travel Assistance (H2S TA) policy in a  number of key areas. In doing so we will 
proactively engage with parents, carers, schools and colleges and other stakeholders. The policy will help align the Authority’s 
commitment to moving away from an offer of school transport to a  travel assistance model, with an increased focus on 

susta inabi l i ty and Surrey’s  green agenda. Moving forward, the Counci l  wants  to focus  on: 
 

 Enhancement of the independent travel  tra ining (ITT) offer 

 Further promotion of col lection points  rather than home pick -up arrangements   

 A review of the process  for the provis ion of individual  transport  

 Not providing H2S TA when the school attended is one of parental choice rather than the closest school to meet 
need 

 The adoption of a  more sustainable approach with greater use of public transport options where appropriate , 
reducing rel iance on taxis  and private cars  
 

To complement the new policy, we are developing a parent guide that will sit alongside the agreed policy document. The 

parent guide will simplify guidance outlined in the new pol icy and expla in the counci l ’s  processes  in greater deta i l .   

The consultation uses the term ‘additional needs’ and ‘SEND’ to refer to children, young people and adults with special 
educational needs and disabilities. We have agreed to use identify-first language (eg “additional needs” rather than SEND 
unless  i t refers  to legis lation or a  pol icy as  this  was  the preference of young people we spoke to.  

The main areas  the Counci l  i s  propos ing to change are as  fol lows : 
 
 

1. The Council plans to offer a broader range of Travel Assistance options, aligned with Surrey’s commitment to its climate 

policy agenda, promoting more sustainable modes of travel assistance. 

Our engagement with chi ldren and young people tells us  that working towards and supporting their independence is 

important. These options will help empower them, prepare them for adulthood and as a  result contribute to improving their 
qual i ty of l i fe. 

 

 The Council will introduce options such as bikeability (cycling safely and with confidence), driving lessons and 
access to TfL Oyster Card (in some areas of the county). 

 We wi ll no longer require children and young people to undertake individual travel training assessment in the 
home. The as sessment wi l l  be undertaken in an agreed location.   

 We wi ll be encouraging the use of collection points, the designated pick -up and drop-off locations for pupils to 

meet the bus or taxi. Where children and young people with complex additional needs or the parents or carers’ 
own mobility or disability may impact on them being able to use the collection points, we will assess individual 
needs to determine suitability. Where the introduction of collection points is being considered, the Council will 

consult with the parents and carers  a l ready on those routes  affected by this  potentia l  change in service.  
 

 

 

Page 93

11



2.  We propose to clarify the Council’s position on transport journey times 

The Council currently a ims to comply with national guidance on the maximum length of journey time for a child to get to 

and from school. This i s 45 minutes for a primary aged child and 75 minutes for a  secondary aged child attending 
placements both within and outside the County.  

The Council i s proposing that the national guidance on maximum journey times will not apply to pupils travelling to out of 
county schools, where distances and the frequency of journeys may vary. We are also proposing to change the maximum 
journey times  for primary aged chi ldren to 75 minutes .  
 
3. We propose to change the measuring system for determining Independent Travel Allowance (ITA) from Straight Line s 
to Road Routes. 
 
The policy currently says that the calculation of independent travel allowance is based on a straight-line (as the crow flies) 
ca lculation between a home address and school. The Council proposes to change this to a calculation that measures distances 
via  road route. This  i s  a  better and more accurate reflection of the journey dis tance undertaken.  
 
4. We are proposing to introduce a simplified mileage reimbursement system which replaces the original tiered system  

with the aim of increasing the take-up of this offer.  
 

At the moment, the pol icy provides  two modes  of mi leage reimbursement: 

 
 A tiered mileage allowance based on average distance between a home address and school. This tiered allowance 

is  broken down into 3 bands (0-5.99 mi les, 6-10 mi les and 11+ mi les) and there are correspondiThisng allowance 
rates  next to each band.  

 A standard mi leage rate.  
 
The Council proposes to introduce a simpler scheme to enable a  more unified reimbursement process for parents and carers 
(including how and when they are reimbursed). The mileage rates to be used will still be set in line with Her Majesty’s 

Revenue and Customs (HMRC). Distances will be ca lculated using the shortest road route. In conjunction with this, the 
Counci l proposes to introduce flexibility to agree reimbursement rates on an individual basis with parents and carers where 
the a l ternative would be high-cost transport. 
 
5. The Council proposes to change the notice period for the removal of travel assistance in certain circumstances.  
 
The current policy requires travel assistance to remain in place until the end of the academic year in instances where low-

income status of a child ends, and in instances where a walking route previously deemed unsafe becomes safe after review. 
The Council proposes to write to parents and carers when a walking route becomes safe with the explanation of the change 
and continue to provide  ass is tance for four weeks  at which point transport wi l l  be withdrawn.   

 
If a  family’s low-income status has ended, applicants who have been entitled to travel assistance will be written to with the 
explanation that assistance will end. Travel assistance will be provided until the end of the academic year. The Council will 

a lso connect with families and offer support such as signposting to specific services if this  would prove helpful  to them.  
 

6. The Council proposes to clarify the reasons for the withdrawal of transport and include the removal of assistance if an 
application approved for H2S TA has been done in error.  
 

The current policy s tates in what ci rcumstances transport will be withdrawn. The reasons include where fraud has taken 
place or a  submission made included misleading information.  

 
This  part of the policy will be expanded to include the withdrawal of assistance if there are errors with the initial assessment. 
Parents  and carers  wi l l  have the right of appeal  i f ass is tance is  withdrawn  for this  reason in the usual  way.  

 
7. The Council proposes to clarify its position regarding the provision of travel assistance for under 5s. 
 

The current policy s tates that the council may provide travel assistance to children aged Under 5 i f i t feels that extenuating 
ci rcumstances  have been demonstrated.  
 
It i s  proposed that this discretionary assistance will only be provided to reception aged children. The Council may provide 

assistance to children who are aged four and entering into the reception year at primary school if extenuating circumstances 
have been demonstrated.  
 

8. The Council proposes to add information on Medical and Health Interventions in the Travel Assistance Policy. 

Page 94

11



 
The current policy outlines in what ci rcumstances a  Passenger Assistant may be approved to support a child during travel to 
school, and one of these circumstances may be a  child who has specific health and/or medical needs. It does not outline the 
operational  s tandards  or processes  l inked to the provis ion of medica l ly tra ined transport s taff.  

It i s  proposed that the new policy will provide guidance on the operational standards and processes which the Council follows  
i f there is a requirement for a  medically trained Passenger Assistant to support chi ldren during their journey to school .  

9. The Council proposes to reduce the reliance on one- child- per-vehicle transport. 

The current policy outl ines in what ci rcumstances individualised transport would be agreed. This is mainly taxis taking 
chi ldren and young people to and from school  and settings .  

The refreshed policy develops a focus on enabling independence and preparing for adulthood such as employment or shared 
l iving away from home. The proposed change to  individual transport will be that i t will only be agreed in extenuating 
ci rcumstances.  Travel assistance options other than bespoke transport will be explored in the first instance. Where transport 
i s  needed, i t would normally be in a  vehicle shared with other s tudents or pupils such as a  taxi or minibus.  Provision of 
individualised transport would normally be linked to medical needs or where child or young person is receiving one -to-one 
support in their educational  tra ining venues . 

10. The council proposes to clarify the conditions in which transport may be withdrawn based on instances of dangerous 
behaviour and a more detailed process. 

The policy advises in some detail that the Council may look to withdrawing assistance in instances of unacceptable  behaviour. 
The Counci l  understands  i ts  duty to provide travel  ass is tance to chi ldren who are el igible.  

However, in ci rcumstances where a  child’s behaviour has been dangerous and or potentially ri sks harm to themselves and 
others  in a  vehicle (including the driver), a  review of the arrangements will be undertaken. It i s proposed that parents and 
carers  will be written to. If the occurrences are repeated, then a parent/carer will be asked to accept a  mileage allowance 
instead of transport being provided.   

11. The Council proposes to create an updated version of its statement for post-16 young people in-line with national 
guidance. 

 
The Counci l ’s  current pol icy s tates  that transport wi l l  be provided in exceptional  ci rcumstances  only.  
 
National guidance states that the council does not have to provide free transport for students aged 16-19.  The 
proposed change to the policy will be that the Council in the exercise of its discretion as to what travel assistance 
is necessary for learners of sixth form age may provide travel assistance for young people aged 16 to 19 who have  
additional needs in order to help them transition into adulthood and explore independent travel. It will also provide 
signposting to transport services for those young people who are no t provided with H2S TA. Offers of travel 
assistance will now focus on independent travel, including the use of public transport and not on the provision of 
private hire vehicles such as minibuses or taxis.  
 
12. The Council proposes to introduce bursaries for young people post 16 years of age. 

 
The current policy outlines the types of travel assistance available if the Council deems a young person aged 16 to 
19 eligible for travel assistance. It is proposed that where the Council assesses a young person aged 16 to 19 as 
eligible for travel assistance under its policy the assistance offered may be in the form of a post-16 transport bursary 
to support families and young people to make their own transport arrangements to develop independence and 
prepare for adulthood. 

 

13. The Council is proposing to introduce changes to its travel assistance appeals process. 
 
There i s national guidance that sets out how appeals against decisions made on H2S TA are conducted. This includes a  two-
stage process. Stage two must be independent of the s tage one decision-making process. At present the stage two panel can 
be made up of members  of the loca l  authori ty.  
 
It i s  proposed to continue with a two-stage process and that the s tage two panel will be independent of the first but that the 

membership wi l l  include Counci l  Officers  in the future.  
 

For any questions regarding the survey, please contact research@surreycc.gov.uk  

Page 95

11

mailto:research@surreycc.gov.uk


Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Annex B – Equality Impact Assessment 

HOME TO SCHOOL/COLLEGE TRAVEL ASSISTANCE POLICY REFRESH 

Did you use the EIA Screening Tool? 

No 

1. Explaining the matter being assessed 

Is this a: 

 Change to an existing strategy or policy 

Summarise the strategy, policy, service(s), or function(s) being assessed. Describe 

current status followed by any changes that stakeholders would experience.  

The home to school travel assistance (H2S TA) service helps children and young people to get to and from their 

education setting. This comes in several different forms, such as Independent Travel Training (ITT), mileage 

reimbursement, bikeability, driving lessons and taxi, minibus and coach services. The service supports children 

and young people of statutory school age (5 to 16 years) as well as a current policy to support children aged 

under 5 and young people aged 16 to 25. 

In Surrey every day, around 10,000 children and young people access H2S TA services. The cost to the Council is 

£40m a year, and these have increased as a result of the Covid pandemic as well as increased demand. In 

addition, the Council faces significant challenges in securing appropriate transport provision due to a challenging 

local and national labour market and significant increases in fuel costs. This is making it difficult to ensure children 

and young people who most need our support get it at the right time against the backdrop of increasing demand. 

The Council proposes to refresh its H2S TA policy in several key areas to reflect the ambitions we have for our 

children and young people while also managing the challenging context the service is operating in. The proposed 

changes include: 

 Broadening the options for children and young people who qualify for H2S TA assistance, moving away from 
a reliance on solo taxi routes (when there is only one child or young person in the vehicle). Solo routes 
make up approximately one third of the spend on H2S TA. We propose to move towards travel assistance 
options used routinely by children and young people and communities such as buses and rail, where 
appropriate through ITT. 

 Encourage people, where possible, to use environmentally friendly travel and transport. Greater use of 
green alternative travel options would help us mitigate the impact of climate change, through better use 
of walking, cycling and bus and train routes and where possible, increasing the occupancy in vehicles.  

 

 Ensure young people don’t face a ‘cliff edge’ when they become adults. For young people with additional 
needs, for example, their eligibility for transport is linked to their Education and Health Care Plan (EHCP) 
and will expire at some point in the future. If they are not supported through ITT to travel independently 
this can create isolation and reduce access to employment as well.  

Page 96

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

 

The proposed changes to the policy are: 

 Broadening the range of travel assistance options on offer such as bikeability  (cycling safely with 
confidence), driving lessons, access to TfL Oyster cards and ITT. 

 Introducing collection points so pupils are collected from designated pick-up and drop-off locations. 

 In a minority of journeys, the upper limit on journey times may be  varied in order to make suitable and 
sufficient arrangements for all children. This means that in planning routes, the maximum time 
recommendations of 45 and 75 minutes would not, as it currently does, override all other considerations.  
It would allow children and young people who could potentially share transport to do so. Changing the 
measurement approach for determining Independent Travel Allowance from straight lines to road routes.  

 Simplifying our approach to mileage reimbursement for parents and carers. 

 Reducing the notice period for withdrawal of travel assistance, if a walking route becomes safe  from 
keeping assistance in place until the end of the academic year down to four weeks. If a family’s low-income 
status ends, travel assistance will be withdrawn at the end of the academic year. 

 Withdrawing transport if errors were made in the initial assessment, with parents and carers having a right 
to appeal. 

 Reducing discretionary travel assistance provision for under 5s to be provided for Reception aged children 
only (aged 4 and above). 

 Providing guidance on operational processes and standards the council will follow if there is a medically 
trained Passenger Assistant to support children during their journey to school.  

 Individual transport will only be provided in very specific circumstances which will mean more children 
sharing transport and accessing a wider range of travel assistance options. Extenuating circumstances will 
be linked to medical needs or where the child or young person is receiving f unded bespoke one-to-one 
support in their education or training venues.  

 Reviewing arrangements in circumstances where a child’s behaviour potentially risks harm to themselves 
and others in a vehicle (including the driver). This will start with the needs of the child and what may need 
to change to support them to access transport more safely. If this is not viable, it is proposed 
parents/carers will be asked to accept a mileage allowance instead of transport being provided.    

 Focusing travel assistance for eligible post-16 pupils on independent travel options, including the use of 
public transport, and introduction of a post-16 transport bursary to support young people and families to 
make their own travel arrangements. A post-16 policy statement will also be introduced and refreshed 
annually. 

 Retaining a two-stage travel assistance appeals process, with membership of the panel at the second stage 
including council officers. 

Between 22 February 2022 and 31 March 2022, the council ran a public consultation on these proposals. 694 

stakeholders responded to the consultation survey including parents and carers of children and young people with 

special educational needs and disabilities (SEND), parents and carers of children and young people without SEND, 

education professionals, including school governors, and children and young people with and without SEND.  

In addition, five public engagement events were held. Participants included parents and carers of H2S TA service 

users and Family Voice Surrey. The Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee were also 
consulted on the proposals at their meeting on 7 April 2022. 

This impact assessment has also been informed by data on H2S TA service users which is held on the Mobisoft 

Travel Centre system.  

Based on this evidence, the protected characteristics most likely to be affected are:  

 Age 
 Disability 

In addition, the key stakeholders who may be affected by these changes are:  

Page 97

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

 Children and young people of statutory and non-statutory school age 

 Parents and carers 

 Schools and colleges 

 Transport providers 

How does your service proposal support the outcomes in the Community Vision for 

Surrey 2030? 

 Everyone benefits from education, skills and employment opportunities that help them succeed in life 

 Children and young people are safe and feel safe and confident 
 Journeys across the county are easier, more predictable and safer 

Are there any specific geographies in Surrey where this will make an impact? 

 County-wide 
 

  

Page 98

11

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/finance-and-performance/our-performance/our-organisation-strategy/community-vision-for-surrey-in-2030
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/finance-and-performance/our-performance/our-organisation-strategy/community-vision-for-surrey-in-2030


Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

2. Service Users / Residents 

Who may be affected by this activity? 

There are 9 protected characteristics (Equality Act 2010) to consider in your proposal. These are: 

1. Age including younger and older people 
2. Disability 
3. Gender reassignment 
4. Pregnancy and maternity 
5. Race including ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality 
6. Religion or belief including lack of belief 
7. Sex  
8. Sexual orientation 
9. Marriage/civil partnerships 

Though not included in the Equality Act 2010, Surrey County Council recognises that there are other vulnerable 

groups which significantly contribute to inequality across the county and therefore they should also be considered 

within EIAs. If relevant, you will need to include information on the following vulnerable groups (Please refer to 

the EIA guidance if you are unclear as to what this is). 

 Members/Ex members of armed forces 
 Adult and young carers* 

 Those experiencing digital exclusion* 

 Those experiencing domestic abuse* 
 Those with education/training (literacy) 

needs 

 Those experiencing homelessness* 

 Looked after children/Care leavers* 
 Those living in rural/urban areas 

 Those experiencing socioeconomic 
disadvantage* 

 Out of work young people)* 
 Adults with learning disabilities and/or 

autism* 

 People with drug or alcohol use issues* 
 People on probation 

 People in prison  

 Migrants, refugees, asylum seekers 
 Sex workers 

 Children with Special educational needs and 
disabilities* 

 Adults with long term health conditions, 
disabilities (including SMI) and/or sensory 
impairment(s)* 

 Older People in care homes* 

 Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities* 

 Other (describe below) 

 (*as identified in the Surrey COVID Community Impact Assessment and the Surrey Health and Well -being 
Strategy) 

 

Page 99

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Age  

Describe here the considerations and concerns in relation to the programme/policy for 
the selected group. 

As of January 2022, 8,921 children and young people received a form of travel assistance. 7,246 of them (81%) are 

provided with transport such as coaches, taxis and minibuses.  For the 7,246 cohort provided with travel 
assistance in the form of a means of transport in January 2022, the age breakdown is as follows: 

 145 are aged 0 to 4 

 6,403 are aged 5 to 15 
 527 are aged 16 to 19 

 171 are aged 19 and over 

The following potential impacts have been identified from these proposals based on age:  

Journey times – Varying the upper limits on journey times may lead to potential negative impacts. Concerns were 

raised by stakeholders through the consultation, such as impacts on children and young people’s health and 

wellbeing, including feeling tired and distressed following their journeys, leading to subsequent impacts on their 

ability to focus on their learning when they arrive at their education setting and ability to engage fully in family 

life. Children and young people who live over 45 minutes away from their school/college, or pupils of education 

settings based outside of Surrey, particularly children in Key Stage 1 (ages 5 to 7), are most likely to be impacted.  

 

A potential positive impact of this change is through increased use of shared transport for such journeys, 
supporting children and young people to socialise with peers.  

Broadening travel assistance options – Some children and young people will be able to  access broader travel 

assistance options such as bikeability, driving lessons and TfL Oyster cards will provide them greater choice on 
ways to get to school or college, while also building travel independence skills for later life.  

Concerns were raised by stakeholders about prioritising independent travel among younger age groups, such as 

6-year-olds, which could lead to increased anxiety for them and their families about travelling to and from their 

education setting safely. 

De-emphasising the use of private transport, and promoting changes to greener, more sustainable methods of 

travel and transport, such as walking, cycling and public transport, could benefit some children and young 

people’s health and wellbeing. According to the National Institute for Health Research, children who switched to 

walking and cycling to school between the ages of 7 and 14 had healthier body weights than those who continued 

to travel to school by car, with benefits being even greater for children and young people from some deprived 

areas1. It is recognised that this may not be feasible or practical for some service users  with additional needs, and 

there may still be some cases where private transport is the only option.    

Collection points – Through the consultation, some parents and carers have expressed concerns about the 

suitability of collection points for use by younger children. Parents and carers of children and young people with 

additional needs were much more likely to express concern compared to parents and carers of children and 

young people in mainstream education. This includes the extent to which the child or young person would be 

safe, and feel safe, to use a collection point, and the ability of adults to balance dropping off and picking up their 

                                                                 
1 School children who switch to walking or cycling may have a healthier body weight, National Institute for Health Research, 

September 2021, NIHR Evidence - Schoolchildren who switch to walking or cycling may have a healthier body weight - 

Informative and accessible health and care research 

Page 100

11

https://evidence.nihr.ac.uk/alert/walking-cycling-to-school-linked-healthier-body-weight/
https://evidence.nihr.ac.uk/alert/walking-cycling-to-school-linked-healthier-body-weight/


Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

child from a collection point while picking up siblings from other education settings. Questions were also raised 

about responsible adults for accompanying younger children to collection points.  

Provision of travel assistance for under 5s – It is proposed that discretionary assistance will only be offered to 

children about to start Reception at age 4 if extenuating circumstances have been demonstrated. This means that 

children aged 0 to 3 will no longer have access to transport. Currently this affects 162 children who are 4 years 

old, and 16 children who are 0 to 3 years old, 178 children in total.  This figure is like ly to change by the start of 
the 2022/23 academic year in September 2022.   

For children who are 4 years old beginning Reception, their families may not start them in Reception at the 
beginning of the academic year. This could: 

 Delay children accessing education; 

 Be destabilising for Reception classes where children are joining throughout the year, particularly for 
specialist Reception classes with children with SEND. 

Ceasing provision for 0- to 3-year-olds may affect these children being able to access early years education, 
including early intervention education placements, particularly where transport is a barrier.   

Post-16 statement – Service users aged 16 and over will be impacted by moving to a focus on independent travel 

over the provision of private hire vehicles. The Council will exercise discretion over the travel assistance it will 

provide to young people aged 16 to 19 with additional needs to help them transition to adulthood and explore 
independent travel. Details will be set out in a new post-16 policy statement for home to school travel assistance. 

This means that some young people of this age who have received services to date may have their service 

withdrawn, subject to appropriate notice periods. This statement also covers young people age d 19 to 25 who 

continue to be supported through their EHCPs. 

This change in approach is designed to equip young people with the skills and independence they need in the long 

term to access social, educational, employment and leisure opportunities. It is, however, recognised that some 
young people with complex needs will continue to require some form of support from the service.  

Post-16 bursaries – For young people aged 16 to 19 who qualify for travel assistance from the Council, bursaries 

will be introduced to support young people and their families to make their own transport arrangements to 

develop independence and prepare for adulthood. As with the post-16 statement, this approach aims to give 

young people longer term skills for independence and determine the travel arrangements to their education 
setting that works best for them.  

Describe here suggested mitigations to inform the actions needed to reduce inequalities. 

To mitigate these impacts, we will: 

 Engage and communicate with families to inform them of the changes to policy and likely impact ahead 
of the new academic year starting in September 2022. This will include the introduction of a new guide 
for parents, carers and professionals working with children and families that sets out the Council’s policy 
in plain English to manage expectations of what the Council will and will not provide.  

 Work with schools to inform and promote alternative travel options and support to enable pupils to 
continue accessing to their placements. 

 Where a route has been identified as suitable for collection points to be introduced, a further 4 week 
consultation will be undertaken with the families, children and young people on that route to ensure 
that the proposed arrangements are appropriate, for example, the location of the collection point. The 
Council will also take into account individual circumstances or needs which may mean a collection point 
is not appropriate for the individual to use.   

Page 101

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

 Where the Council proposes to depart from national guidance on journey times when planning routes, 
decisions will ensure that the planned route is not of such length that the pupil is unable to learn 
properly. Consideration will be given to the child’s age and stage of development. The 45-minute 
maximum planned journey time for primary-aged pupils contained in national guidance will be 
maintained and only exceeded in certain circumstances, such as journeys which enable a child to attend 
the setting which best meets their needs.    

 Continue to assess eligibility for travel assistance on a case-by-case basis to establish if travel assistance 
is necessary based on the needs and circumstances of the child and family.  

 Where appropriate, work with schools, colleges and families during the summer term and the new 
academic year to develop and enable independent travel opportunities. This includes promoting ITT, and 
other travel assistance options, for post-16 students. 

 Continue to use the Council’s discretion to determine if 0- to 3-year-olds require travel assistance under 
extenuating circumstances. 

 Work to place more very young children, where possible, on our Early Years Inclusion Pathway  to enable 
more of them to attend mainstream education settings and reduce demand for specialist school places, 
with associated demand for transport. 

 Engage families and other stakeholders as the post-16 bursary offer is implemented to review its 
effectiveness. 

 Continue as part of our placement strategy to develop and extend the  local post-16 offer for both pupils 
with and without SEND to provide sufficient provision in Surrey. 

 Explore use of technology to support and improved customer experience for children, young people and 
families.  

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same 
groups of residents? Are there any dependencies decision makers need to be aware of? 

Over the next five years, we are investing £139m to create more local education provision so children and young 

people can be educated closer to home, reducing demand for travel assistance services.  

For under 5s, we are undertaking extensive work to create and identify provision with investment in improving 

support and resources at existing education settings. The aim is for more children with SEND to be able to access 
education at their local school, reducing the need to travel and for the council to facilitate travel arrangements.  

Similar work is underway with post-16 establishments to improve the study programmes available locally, 

ensuring improved choice of study locally rather than courses that require considerable travel to access them.  

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? 

There are no negative impacts that cannot be mitigated. 

Page 102

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Disability  

Describe here the considerations and concerns in relation to the programme/policy for 
the selected group. 

Of those children and young people who use H2S TA services, just over 4,000 have EHCPs. As of January 2022, 

4,011 pupils were provided with transportation in vehicles: 

 3,983 use either a mini-bus or taxi, while 28 use a coach. 36 children and young people were given 
alternative travel assistance, such as season tickets. 

 107 are aged 0 to 5, 3,224 are aged 5 to 15, 509 are aged 16 to 18 and 171 are aged 19 and over. 

Broadening travel assistance options – Some of the broader travel assistance options being considered, such as 

bikeability and Oyster cards, are likely to be unsuitable for some children and young people with additional needs. 

Some of the respondents to the consultation survey suggested some children would not have the capacity or 

capability to understand the concept of travelling independently, including the specific options being proposed in 

the consultation, meaning this would be unworkable in practice for them. Parents were concerned with the level 

of risk this could expose their child to. 

There were also concerns raised in the consultation about the policy encouraging the use of public transport, 

particularly for children with autism and are unable to communicate verbally, leading to their child’s safety 

potentially being compromised.  

 

Collection points – 88% of parents or carers of children and young people with SEND said they would not consider 

their child using collection points for using transport to get to school or college as this would create barriers for 
them to access education. Reasons respondents gave for this included: 

 The physical or cognitive needs of the child or young person in making the journey to and from a 
collection point increasing levels of personal risk and distress for them.  

 Anxieties precluding children and young people with SEND from staying safe, particularly for autistic 
children and young people, and those with anxiety.  

 Dangers for children who could not communicate verbally, exposing them to safeguarding risks.  

 Changes to routine for some children and young people could trigger sensory reactions. 

 Inaccessibility for some children and young people with specific medical needs.  
 Greater risk of exposure to Covid for more clinically vulnerable children and young people from gathering 

in groups at collection points – increased exposure to Covid for clinically vulnerable. 

Journey times – Varying the upper limits on journey times may lead to potential negative impacts. Concerns were 

raised by stakeholders through the consultation, such as impacts on children and young people’s health and 

wellbeing, including feeling tired and distressed following their journeys, leading to subsequent impacts on their 

ability to focus on their learning when they arrive at their education setting and ability to engage fully in family 

life. In line with national guidance, the Council will need to continue ensuring transport solutions are appropriate 

so children are unstressed when they arrive at school. Children and young people who live over 45 minutes away 

from their school/college, or pupils of education settings are based outside of Surrey, particularly children in Key 
Stage 1 (ages 5 to 7), are most likely to be impacted.  

Reduction in notice period – The introduction of a shorter notice period for withdrawal of transport provision 

could have potential negative impacts for children and young people with additional needs. This includes children 

with autism whose wellbeing could be affected by disruption to their transport routine. The likelihood of this 

happening is lower as we anticipate more ‘mainstream’ students being affected given students  with additional 

needs are normally eligible for transport provision under different circumstances. 

Page 103

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Medical and health interventions – The introduction of operational standards will be beneficial for children and 

young people with complex medical needs to maximise the safety of those children so they always receive the 
appropriate support to travel to their education setting with the right equipment and a skilled Personal Assistant. 

Reduced reliance on one child per vehicle transport – Provision of individual transport will still apply for children 

and young people with medical needs and for those chi ldren with bespoke one-to-one support in their education 

or training venues. Some students with SEND will be offered access to shared transport and other travel 

assistance options, supporting. These will be assessed based on the needs and circumstances of the child and 
family. 

Safeguarding policy for use of transport – There may be potential impacts for some children and young people 

with additional needs. For some children where behaviours may potentially put drivers and other passengers at 
risk, transport may be withdrawn meaning accessing their education setting may become more challenging.  

Describe here suggested mitigations to inform the actions needed to reduce inequalities. 

To mitigate these impacts, we will: 

 Continue to develop support and expertise available to children, young people and families to enable 
safer travel on public transport. 
 

 Where the Council proposes to depart from national guidance on journey times when planning routes, 
decisions will ensure that the planned route is not of such length that the pupil is unable to learn 
properly. Consideration will be given to the child’s age and stage of development. The 45-minute 
maximum planned journey time for primary-aged pupils contained in national guidance will be 
maintained and only exceeded in certain circumstances, such as journeys which enable a child to attend 
the setting which best meets their needs.    

 

 Where appropriate, deliver ITT as bespoke training for individuals to ensure they learn to travel 
independently and minimise any potential impact relating to their SEND to ensure capacity is in line with 
demand.  Young people will be given the opportunity to learn the necessary skills to travel independently 
at their own pace and will reflect the specific route and environment they will be expected to use.  
Schools, families and the young person will have the opportunity to feed back during the training process 
to establish when the young person is suitable to begin travelling independently.  As part of the training, 
young people will be assessed as to whether they can demonstrate and understand how to deal with 
unplanned situations and how to keep safe. 

 Where a route has been identified as suitable for collection points to be introduced, a further 4 week 
consultation will be undertaken with the families, children and young people on that route to ensure 
that the proposed arrangements are appropriate, for example the location of the collection point.  The 
Council will also take into account individual circumstances or needs which may mean that a collection 
point is not appropriate for an individual pupil to use, including for those pupils with additional needs 
where it is unfeasible for them to access a collection point.  Following a decision to introduce a collection 
point, the Council will provide not less than 6 weeks notification to families (which includes any school 
holidays that fall in the 6 week period) before the collection point is established. It is proposed that once 
a collection point route has been established, that route will remain a collection point route and no 
further specific consultation will be undertaken.  This means that any pupils joining the route will be 
informed that it is a collection point route and they will be expected to use the collection point.  Families 
will have the opportunity to make representations in the usual way and these will be determined using 
existing processes. 
 

Page 104

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

 Review the needs of children with and without SEND receiving transport provision on a case -by-case 
basis where they are at risk of having this provision withdrawn due to behaviour issues which may place 
other service users or staff delivering the service at some safeguarding risk. If transport has been 
withdrawn due to behaviour issues, we will work with the children, young people and families to provide 
Independent Travel Allowance to enable alternative means of travel assistance to be secured so they can 
continue accessing their education setting while we work with the school to review arrangements.  
  

We will work with families through the EHCP and Annual Review process to identify opportunities to develop 
independent travel skills as early in their life as appropriate that will reduce future dependency on family 
members and increase access to opportunities for all family members, improving overall quality of life for 
those families. 

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same 

groups of residents? Are there any dependencies decision makers need to be aware of? 

As with ‘Age’, over the next five years, we are investing £139m to create more local education provision so 

children and young people can be educated closer to home, reducing demand for travel assistance services. This 

includes the creation of more local specialist places across Surrey.  

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? 

There are no negative impacts that cannot be mitigated. 

Page 105

11



Equality Impact Assessment 

 

 

3. Recommendation 

Based your assessment, please indicate which course of action you are recommending to decision makers. You 
should explain your recommendation below. 

 Outcome One: No major change to the policy/service/function required. This EIA has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or negative impact, and all opportunities to promote equality have been 
undertaken 

 Outcome Two: Adjust the policy/service/function to remove barriers identified by the EIA or better 
advance equality.  Are you satisfied that the proposed adjustments will remove the barriers you 
identified? 

 Outcome Three: Continue the policy/service/function despite potential for negative impact or missed 
opportunities to advance equality identified.  You will need to make sure the EIA clearly sets out the 
justifications for continuing with it.  You need to consider whether there are:  

 Sufficient plans to stop or minimise the negative impact 

 Mitigating actions for any remaining negative impacts plans to monitor the actual impact. 

 Outcome Four: Stop and rethink the policy when the EIA shows actual or potential unlawful 
discrimination. (For guidance on what is unlawful discrimination, refer to the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission’s guidance and Codes of Practice on the Equality Act concerning employment, goods and 
services and equal pay). 

Recommended outcome:  

Outcome Two 

Explanation: 

The proposed changes to the H2S TA policy ensure the council delivers its statutory obligations for H2S TA. They 

will impact on stakeholders in positive and negative ways. Where an impact restricts an individual’s attendance at 

their education setting, we will review each case individually to consider the most appropriate approach to travel 

assistance for them and ensure we meet our duty to provide suitable transport that enables eligible children to 

reach their school or college without such stress, strain or difficulty that prevents them from benefitting from 
their education. 

  

Page 106

11

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice


Equality Impact Assessment 

 

4. Action plan and monitoring arrangements  

Insert your action plan here, based on the mitigations recommended.  

Involve your Assessment Team in monitoring progress against the actions above.  

Item 
Initiation 

Date 
Action/Item Person/people 

Actioning 
Target 

Completion Date 
Update/Notes Open/ 

Closed/Ongoing 

1 May 2022 

Engage and communicate with 

families to inform them of the 

changes to policy and likely 

impact ahead of the new 

academic year starting in 

September 2022.  

Eamonn Gilbert End August 2022  Open 

2 May 2022 

Work with Family Voice Surrey 

to produce a new guide for 

parents, carers and 

professionals who work with 

children and families that sets 

out the Council’s policy in 

plain English to set 

expectations of what the 

Council will and will not 
provide. 

Eamonn Gilbert June 2022 

May/June 2022 – Launch parent 

guide with policy updates and 

operational guidance, following 
further stakeholder engagement. 

Open 

3 May 2022 

Work with schools to inform 
and promote alternative 
travel options and support to 
enable pupils to continue 
accessing to their placements. 
A communications strategy 
will be developed to support 
this. 

Eamonn 
Gilbert/Abbey 
Cortazzi 

Ongoing – 
becomes 

business-as-usual 
(BAU) 

This will be an ongoing activity to 
identify support in line with the 
new policy. We will engage schools 
via the Primary, Secondary and 
Special Phase Councils. 

Ongoing 

P
age 107

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Item 
Initiation 

Date 
Action/Item Person/people 

Actioning 
Target 

Completion Date 
Update/Notes Open/ 

Closed/Ongoing 

4 May 2022 

Where a route has been 
identified as suitable for 
collection points to be 
introduced, a further 4-week 
consultation will be 
undertaken with the families, 
children and young people on 
that route to ensure that the 
proposed arrangements are 
appropriate, for example, the 
location of the collection 
point. The Council will also 
take into account individual 
circumstances or needs which 
may mean a collection point is 
not appropriate for the 
individual to use. 

It is proposed that once a 
collection point route has 
been established, that route 
will remain a collection point 
route and no further specific 
consultation will be 
undertaken.  This means that 
any pupils joining the route 
will be informed that it is a 
collection point route and 
they will be expected to use 
the collection point.   

Eamonn Gilbert 
Ongoing – 

becomes BAU 

Consultation with stakeholders will 
occur on a case-by-case basis as 
new collection points are 
considered. 

Ongoing 

5 May 2022 

Where the Council proposes 
to depart from national 
guidance on journey times 
when planning routes, 

Eamonn Gilbert 
Ongoing – 

becomes BAU 

Engagement with stakeholders will 
occur on a case-by-case basis as 
route planning progresses. 
 

Ongoing 

P
age 108

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Item 
Initiation 

Date 
Action/Item Person/people 

Actioning 
Target 

Completion Date 
Update/Notes Open/ 

Closed/Ongoing 
decisions will ensure that the 
planned route is not of such 
length that the pupil is unable 
to learn properly.  

Consideration will be given to 
the child’s age and stage of 
development. 

The 45-minute maximum 
planned journey time for 
primary-aged pupils contained 
in national guidance will be 
maintained and only exceeded 
in certain circumstances, such 
as journeys which enable a 
child to attend the setting 
which best meets their needs.    

 

 

6 May 2022 

Continue to assess eligibility 
for travel assistance on a case-
by-case basis to establish if 
travel assistance is necessary 
based on the needs and 
circumstances of the child and 
family. 

Eamonn Gilbert 
Ongoing – 

becomes BAU 

New and existing service users will 
be assessed against the new policy 
so the service can work with them 
to identify the most appropriate 
solution for their needs and 
circumstances. 

Ongoing 

7 May 2022 

Work to place more very 
young children, where 
possible, on our Early Years 
Inclusion Pathway to enable 
more of them to attend 
mainstream settings and 
reduce demand for specialist 

Carol Savedra 

Ongoing – 
becomes BAU 

 

 

 

 Ongoing 

P
age 109

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Item 
Initiation 

Date 
Action/Item Person/people 

Actioning 
Target 

Completion Date 
Update/Notes Open/ 

Closed/Ongoing 
school places, with associated 
demand for transport. 

8 May 2022 

Where appropriate, work with 
schools, colleges and families 
during the summer term and 
the new academic year to 
develop and enable 
independent travel 
opportunities. This includes 
promoting ITT, and other 
travel assistance options, for 
post-16 students. 

Eamonn Gilbert 
Ongoing – 

becomes BAU 
 Ongoing 

9 May 2022 

Engage families and other 
stakeholders as the post-16 
bursary offer is implemented 
to review its effectiveness. 

Eamonn Gilbert August 2022  Open 

10 May 2022 

Continue as part of our 
placement strategy to develop 
and extend the local post-16 
offer for both pupils with and 
without SEND to provide 
sufficient provision in Surrey. 

Eamonn Gilbert 
Ongoing – 

becomes BAU 
 Ongoing 

11 May 2022 

Explore use of technology to 
support and improved 
customer experience for 
children, young people and 
families. 

Eamonn Gilbert 
Ongoing – 

becomes BAU 
 Ongoing 

12 May 2022 

Where appropriate, expand 

and deliver ITT as bespoke 

training for individuals to 

ensure they learn to travel 

independently and minimise 

Eamonn Gilbert 
Ongoing – 

becomes BAU 
 Ongoing 

P
age 110

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Item 
Initiation 

Date 
Action/Item Person/people 

Actioning 
Target 

Completion Date 
Update/Notes Open/ 

Closed/Ongoing 

any potential impact relating 

to their SEND to ensure 

capacity is in line with 
demand  

Young people will be given the 

opportunity to learn the 

necessary skills to travel 

independently at their own 

pace and will reflect the 

specific route and 

environment they will be 
expected to use.  

Schools, families and the 

young person will have the 

opportunity to feed back 

during the training process to 

establish when the young 

person is suitable to begin 
travelling independently.  

As part of the training, young 
people will be assessed as to 
whether they can 
demonstrate and understand 
how to deal with unplanned 
situations and how to keep 
safe. 

13 May 2022 

Review the needs of children 
with and without SEND 
receiving transport provision 
on a case-by-case basis where 
they are at risk of having this 

Eamonn Gilbert 
Ongoing – 

becomes BAU 
This will be require continuous 
review in line with the new policy. 

Ongoing 

P
age 111

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Item 
Initiation 

Date 
Action/Item Person/people 

Actioning 
Target 

Completion Date 
Update/Notes Open/ 

Closed/Ongoing 
provision withdrawn due to 
instances of behaviour which 
may place other service users 
or staff delivering the service 
at some safeguarding risk.  
 
If transport has been 
withdrawn due to 
safeguarding risks to other 
passengers, we will work with 
the children, young people 
and families to provide 
Independent Travel Allowance 
to enable alternative means of 
travel assistance to be secured 
so they can continue accessing 
their education setting while 
we work with the school to 
review arrangements. 

5a. Version control 

Version Number Purpose/Change Author Date 

1 First draft completed. Adam Whittaker 28 March 2022 

2 Second draft completed with Executive Director input Adam Whittaker 29 March 2022 

3 Updated to reflect outcomes of the public consultation. Adam Whittaker 5 April 2022 

P
age 112

11



Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 

Version Number Purpose/Change Author Date 

4 Updated further following feedback from Executive Director and Director 

of Commissioning 

Adam Whittaker 8 April 2022 

The above provides historical data about each update made to the Equality Impact Assessment. 

Please include the name of the author, date and notes about changes made – so that you can refer to what changes have been made throughout this 
iterative process.  

For further information, please see the EIA Guidance document on version control. 

P
age 113

11



 
 

 
 

5b. Approval 

EIA author: Adam Whittaker 

6c. EIA Team 

Name Job Title Organisation Team Role 

Adam Whittaker 
Senior Strategy and 

Policy Lead 
Surrey County Council 

Equality Impact Assessment 

author 

Eamonn Gilbert 
Assistant Director, 

Commissioning 
Surrey County Council 

Service lead and subject matter 

expert 

Chris McShee 
Admissions and 

Transport Manager 
Surrey County Council Subject matter expert 

Tracey Coventry 

Transport Co-

ordination Team 

Manager 

Surrey County Council Subject matter expert 

If you would like this information in large print, Braille, on CD or in another language please contact 
us on: 

Tel: 03456 009 009 

Textphone (via Text Relay): 18001 03456 009 009 

SMS: 07860 053 465 

Email: contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk

Approved by Date approved 

Head of Service – Hayley Connor, Director of 
Commissioning 

11 April 2022 

Executive Director – Rachael Wardell 11 April 2022 

Cabinet Member – Denise Turner-Stewart 11 April 2022 

Page 114

11

mailto:contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk


 
 

 
 

Annex C – Summary Consultation Feedback Report 

HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL ASSISTANCE POLICY 

CONSULTATION REPORT 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

Introduction and Background  .............................................................................................................................. 42 

Context and Considerations ................................................................................................. 42 

Survey Respondent Demographics ...................................................................................... 43 

Key findings .......................................................................................................................... 44 

Independent Travel........................................................................................................... 44 

Collection Points ............................................................................................................... 51 

independent Travel Allowance ......................................................................................... 56 

Specific Travel Assistance Policy Changes ........................................................................ 58 

Recommendations ............................................................................................................... 65 

Annex.................................................................................................................................... 67 

Page 115

11



 
 

 
 

 

I NTRODUCTI ON AND BACKGROUND 

Surrey County Council’s (“the Council”) Home to School Travel Assistance Policy (H2S TA) 

explains the eligibility criteria for travel assistance for children, with and without special 

educational needs, of statutory school age (5-16 years old), for children under 5 and for young 

people aged 16-19 and 19-25. It also describes how the Council fulfils its duties and exercises 

its discretionary powers as set out in the Education Act 1996 and subsequent legislation and 

guidance. 

The Council is aiming to refresh the H2S TA Policy in thirteen (13) key areas, reflecting the 

Authority’s commitment to move away from being a school transport service, and towards  

adopting a new travel assistance model with an increased focus on sustainability and Surrey’s 

“green agenda” via its Climate Change Strategy. The public consultation was delivered 

through participation in virtual public meetings, and the completion of an anonymous online 

survey, open from the 22nd of February to the 31st of March 2022. This report brings together 

the findings from all data sources and provides recommendations in regard to the Home to 

School Travel Policy refresh.  

CONTEXT AND CONSI DERATI ONS  

A hard copy letter with the consultation document was sent to all current mainstream and 

additional needs (SEND) H2S TA service users setting out the proposed changes and inviting 

them to respond to the survey. 694 people responded to the online survey, with additional 

participation through four virtual public engagement events, plus a Facebook Live session 

with Family Voice Surrey. Participants included parents and carers of H2S TA service users and 

Family Voice Surrey. During the period that the survey was live the council also received 

emails from a number of residents’ as well as local politicians. These emails have been 

incorporated into the analysis and included within this report. 

Ground up coding, an inductive method which allows codes to be derived from the raw survey 

data, was used to analyses all open-ended questions. It involved systematically giving an 

answer a number and grouping the answers into categories and themes. In analysing the 

themes, all answers are treated as equal in weighting, although one response may cover 

multiple codes. Not all respondents replied to all qualitative questions. The insights and 

human experience shared by the respondents form an important part of the analysis. The 

code indices for the five open-ended questions can be found in the Annex section of this 

report. Where quotes from respondents have been used, they have been edited for spelling 

grammar.  

Finally, it is important to note that all forms of engagement and consultation have been self -

selecting, and therefore all findings should be understood as indicative of the views of those 

Page 116

11



 
 

 
 

who took part in the consultation, rather than representing the views of all residents and 

users of Home to School Travel assistance.  

SURVEY RESPONDENT DEMOGRAPHI CS 

The sample base (694 total) for this report includes education professionals  and transport 

providers; parents/carers of children with and without additional needs; and children and 

young people with and without additional needs, who currently access or intend to apply for 

the H2S TA2.  

Parents/carers of children with additional needs were the majority respondent group (70%, 

Figure 1). Therefore, it is important to recognise that the findings represent the views of this 

group primarily. Where appropriate analysis has been carried out to identify where difference 

between the majority group and Parents/carers of children without additional needs which 

were the second highest response group (16%, figure 1).  

 

Figure 1: Identity Category (n=694) 

 

 

 

                                                                 
2 A full breakdown of respondent demographics including equalities data can be found the annex of 
this report. 

1.30%

1.73%

1.73%

2.02%

4.90%

9.22%

16.28%

70.32%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

A professional transport service provider (bus
driver, taxi, etc)

A young person without additional needs
(SEND)

Other

A young person with special educational
needs or disability/additional needs (SEND)

An educational professional or governor

A Surrey resident

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without
additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with
additional needs (SEND)

Which category do you identify with?

Page 117

11



 
 

 
 

 

 

KEY FI NDI NGS 

INDEPENDENT TRAVEL  

The council recognises the importance of independence for all the young people in Surrey 

and acknowledges the role that independent travel will have in preparing for adulthood. This 

is reflected in the responses to the survey. Independent travel is seen by respondents as 

important to enable young people to be able to share school transport with other 

children/young people (45%), being able to travel without a parent or carer in attendance 

(35%) and be able to plan and undertake any journey independently using public transport 

(24%). 

Page 118

11



 
 

 
 

 

Figure 2: What objectives are most important to allow independent travel? (n=694)  

Figure 3 shows that for young people increased self-esteem and confidence (55%), improved 

access to friends and social or leisure activities (39%) and reduced reliance on family members 

or friends to assist with travel needs (39%) were the key benefits of independent travel. 

Additionally, responses show that increased independence for the young person also provides  

increased independence for their families (figure 4). Respondents identifying the increased 

time to do their own thing (40%), reduced need to accompany their young person (39%) and 

reduced financial dependency on others (34%) as the three most important benefits for 

families.  

9%

13%

14%

16%

16%

17%

18%

20%

22%

23%

24%

35%

45%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Be able to undertake any journey by driving a
car/motorcycle

Be able to undertake any journey by
cycling/walking

Not Applicable

Be able to undertake a single journey/route
independently walking/cycling

Other

Be able to access transport from a collection
point

Be able to travel on public transport with an
accompanying adult

Be able to carry own bags and board and alight
a vehicle on their own

Be able to undertake any journey when they
want using any form of transport

Be able to undertake a single journey/route
independently using public transport

Be able to plan and undertake any journey
independently using public transport

Being able to travel without a parent or carer in
attendance

Be able to share school transport with other
children/young people

What objectives are most important to allow independant travel? 

Page 119

11



 
 

 
 

 
Figure 3: Benefits to independent travel for young persons (n=694) 

 
Figure 4: Benefit of Independent Travel for Families (n=694) 

However, it is important to also note the barriers to independent travel such as limited 

awareness of danger or unable to keep safe (63%); inability to manage situations that aren’t 

planned or are out of routine (48%) and risk of getting lost or missing stop (48%) (figure 5). 

Respondents also highlighted that for many young people with additional and complex needs 

independent travel would be impossible (12%). 

15%

27%

27%

38%

39%

39%

55%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Increased opportunities to use PT as an
individual/family at weekends, evenings,…

Other

Improved access to employment or vocational
opportunities

Improved access to educational opportunities

Reduced reliance on family members or
friends to assist with travel needs

Improved access to friends and social or
leisure activities

Increased self-esteem and confidence

Benefits to independent travel

20%

24%

30%

30%

34%

39%

40%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Increased numbers of travel options available
for family travel

Positive changes in family relationships and
interactions

Opportunities to access community services
and activities that were previously not…

Other

Reduced dependency on family or friends
financially

Less need for adults to accompany young
person to and from places

Family members have more time to do their
own thing e.g., study or employment

Benefits for the family

Page 120

11



 
 

 
 

Figure 5: Barrier to independent Travel (n=694) 

This inability to travel independently was reiterated when asked what could be done to 
improve a young person’s confidence to travel independently (figure 6). 54% of those who 
responded to this question stated that there was no solution to this. For those that did come 
up with ideas 17% highlighted the need to provide holistic support to the young person and 
their families. 

9%

11%

12%

30%

31%

31%

32%

39%

40%

42%

48%

53%

63%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Has never used public transport before, even
with an accompanying adult

Not being able to access opportunities to
learn the necessary skills to use public…

Other

Family concern for the young person’s safety 
and not allowing them the opportunity to …

Specific health needs cannot be supported on
public transport

Unable to handle money

Unable to access services and activities due to
poor public transport links

Fear of bullying or being attacked

Specific needs may place child/young person
or member of the public at risk

Unable to communicate with public transport
staff or members of the public

Risk of getting lost or missing stop

Wouldn’t be able to manage situations that 
aren’t planned or are out of routine

Limited awareness of danger or unable to
keep safe

Barriers to independent Travel

Page 121

11



 
 

 
 

 

Figure 6: What would improve your child's confidence to travel independently? (n=463) 

The barriers around independent travel that were raised above were clearly reflected in those 
who said that increasing confidence was not possible due to the fact that their concerns were 

around safety and not confidence.  

“It’s not a case of confidence, it’s safety and my child will never have the ability 

to live independently let alone travel independently. There is far more to it than 

just improving a child’s confidence!! If they have a severe learning difficulty, they 

will never be able to travel safely and independently” 

There were 7% of respondents who thought that improved reliability of the PT system would 

increase their child’s confidence to travel independently (figure 6). This was further explored 

when respondents were asked about how the council could support more CYP to travel to 

school on public transport (figure 7). Respondents raised many ideas including highlighting 

that beyond the direct support the council could provide, serious improvements need to be 

made to the public transport system across surrey as a prerequisite to an increased usage of 

the system (29%). The top 5 answers were related to i) the need for more regular collections 

to and from schools, including SEN; ii) more reliable PT; iii) more appropriate transport 

options, including separate PT vehicles for children with additional needs (SEND); iv) better 

transport links across differing methods of travel and v) more direct routes. 

1%

3%

4%

6%

7%

7%

23%

54%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Clarity around costs and payment process

Greener options

Retain existing H2S TA

Addressing additional (physical, sensory,
emotional) needs of children and young…

Reliability of PT system

Meeting specific school-focused travel needs

Holistic support for children, young people
and their families

No solution

What would improve your child’s confidence to travel independently?

Page 122

11



 
 

 
 

 

Figure 7: What can the council do to support more CYP to travel on PT? (465) 

Nearly half of respondents to this question called on support from the council. The types of 

“council support” promoted ranged across financial, training, community, SEND-focused or 

parent-focused measures.  

Respondents identified the need for children, primarily those with additional needs (SEND), 

to access Travel Assistants (TA) or chaperones was the most mentioned area of support, 

followed by the need for travel plans and training to be more adaptable to the circumstances 

of the child and the child’s family. The third most mentioned factor is the need for an 

Independent Travel Training (ITT) and guidance for both children and families/carers to 

ensure that all parties are supported during the transition from assisted to independent 

school travel. What most respondents in this category would like to see, however, is that any 

travel plans for children are designed and delivered at their own pace and appropriate to their 

age and level of skills, such as being able to communicate properly, being able to read maps 

and timetables, and being able to calculate fare costs. 

In terms of financial support, fare reduction, free transport for siblings and more affordable 

tickets were mentioned as important factors in encouraging PT use for school travel.  

Parent and carer respondents expressed their concerns regarding the risks of bullying and 

harassment on PT, particularly affecting vulnerable children and those with additional needs.  

“For young people with ASD with limited social awareness travelling on public 

transport is dangerous.  I would not allow my two ASD children to travel alone as 

they are at high risk of being targeted by others.  We do not live in a safe world 

unfortunately these children are an easy target.”   

45%

29%

18%

6%
3% 2%

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Council provision
of support

Improvement to
PT system

Unsuitability of PT Localisation of PT
services &

infrastructure

Staff PT Training
(Educ & PT)

Removal of
support

What can the Council do to support more CYP to travel to 
school on PT?

Page 123

11



 
 

 
 

Therefore, any effort to raise awareness within communities in terms of appropriate conduct 

on PT and the need to respect vulnerable groups and those with additional needs will give 

parents, carers, children, and families some assurance of safety. 

Children with disability, autism, and additional needs (SEND) require specific support when 

travelling, and on PT. Anxiety and overstimulation are triggered by overcrowded vehicles, 

delayed services, or schedules not being followed. Related to the need for education and PT 

staff to develop more awareness and undergo necessary training (Theme 3 below), the 

respondents provided a list of practical tools that would help make PT travel to school or 

college more comfortable for children and young people, particularly those with SEND. These 

include: 

• Protected spaces on vehicles 

• Assigning Collection Point assistants to help give instructions or directions  

• Lanyards identifying children with SEND needs so drivers and TAs are aware of 

them and can identify them 

• Tracking apps for parents to be able to know what stage of the school PT journey 

their child is at 

When asked about specific measure to increase independent travel suggested by the council 

respondents were most in favour of the introduction of driving lessons and TFL oyster cards 

where appropriate, with 41% and 39% either agreeing or strongly agreeing respectively 

(figure 8). This reflects the concerns around the interconnectedness of the PT system and the 

need in some cases for young people to travel within a controlled environment. Respondents  

were least supportive of bikability training with 48% disagreeing or strongly disagreeing 

(figure 8). Independent travel training is the most balanced with 40% supporting and 36% 

expressing a negative response (figure 8).  

 

Figure 8: To what extent do you agree that the introduction of the following options would help 

increase your child’s travel independence? (n=694) 

12%
20% 17% 15%

19% 21% 22% 25%
20% 23% 26% 24%

13%
9% 9% 10%

35%
28% 26% 26%

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Bikability Driving Lessons TFL oyster Card ITT

To what extent do you agree that the introduction of the following 
options would help increase your child’s travel independence?

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Page 124

11



 
 

 
 

 

The mixed sentiment towards ITT was again seen with around a third of respondents  

expressing positive (34%), negative (35%) and neutral (30%) sentiments to the statement: If 

a child or young person has the potential to become an independent traveller and would 

benefit from ITT, then they should be expected to undertake the training on offer (figure 9). 

 

Figure 9: Do you agree with the following statement? If a child or young person has the potential to 

become an independent traveller and would benefit from ITT, then they should be expected to 

undertake the training on offer. (n=694) 

COLLECTION POINTS 

The use of collection points is already in the H2S TA policy, further detail was sought to 

ascertain the sentiment of respondents and further detail as to the logistical implementation 

for collection points.  

In terms of logistical implementation respondents felt that, if introduced, bus stops (36%) and 

other suitable roadside locations (29%) were most appropriate locations for collection points  

(figure 10). Collection points were also discussed at all of the public meetings, in which 

attendees raised the concern that if used collection points would be in a safe location and 

relatively close to either the child’s home or school. This proximity was reflected in the survey 

results with 37% of respondents noting that the distance travelled to any collection points  

should be based on the capabilities of the individual. Furthermore, 33% wanted it to be under 

15 minutes from the young person’s home/school. Moreover, no respondents felt that a 45-

minute travel time would be appropriate, especially if this time would be in addition to the 

travel time in the SCC vehicle.   

11%

23%
30%

12%

24%

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

If a child or young person has the potential to become an independent 
traveller and would benefit from ITT, then they should be expected to 

undertake the training on offer?

Page 125

11



 
 

 
 

 

Figure 10: Which types of location do you think would be most suitable for a collection point? 

(n=694) 

 

Figure 11: How far do you think would be reasonable to travel to a collection point if they are 

introduced? (n=694) 

Although overall the data suggests that respondents were against the encouragement of the 

use of collection points, with 54% saying they were against or strongly against, this was not 

consistent between identity groups.  In contrast to parents of young people with additional 

needs (SEND), 68% of whom disagreed, those whose young people do not have additional 

needs were much more in support of the use of collection points with 67% agreeing. 

12%

13%

13%

21%

24%

29%

36%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Near libraries and/or other Council buildings

Near health centres/GP surgeries

Supermarkets

Local points of interest e.g., local shops

Near to local schools and nurseries

Suitable roadside locations

Bus stops

Locations for Collection points

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Within 45 minutes from my
home/school/college

Within 30 minutes from my
home/school/college

Within 15 minutes from my
home/school/college

Within 10 minutes from my
home/school/college

Within 5 minutes from my
home/school/college

Other

Distance based on individual needs
assessment

How far do you think would be reasonable to travel to a collection point 
if they are introduced?

Page 126

11



 
 

 
 

 

Figure 12: The council plans to encourage the use of collection points what do you agree? (n=694) 

This difference between demographics is seen again in the willingness of parents to consider 

their children using collection points. With 68% of Parents of CYP with additional needs saying 

no (figure 13) and 74% of parents of CYP without additional needs without saying yes (figure 

14).  

    
Figure 13: Would you consider your children 

using collection points? (Parent/Carer of a 

young person(s) with additional needs) (n=490) 

Figure 14: Would you consider your children 

using collection points? (Parent/carer of a young 

person(s) without additional needs) (n=127) 

 

4%

28%

11%
16%

39%

21%

12%
17%

14%
20%

5%

16%

48%

11%

38%

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

A parent/carer of a young
person(s) with additional needs

(SEND) (n=490)

A parent/carer of a young
person(s) without additional

needs (SEND) (n=127)

All Respondents (n=694)

The council plans to encourage the use of collection points what do you agree?

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

12%

68%

19%

Would you consider your children 
using collection points? 

(Parent/Carer of a young person(s) 
with additional needs)

Don't Know

No

Yes

12%

14%

74%

Would you consider your children 
using collection points? (Parent/carer 

of a young person(s) without 
additional needs)

Don't Know

No

Yes

Page 127

11



 
 

 
 

Respondents noted the three key barriers to using collection points as being; the young 

person being unable to manage situations that aren’t planned/out of routine, such as late 

running of transport; Limited awareness of danger/unable to keep safe, even when 

accompanied by an adult and the specific health needs of children and young people which 

make waiting at a collection point unsuitable. These barriers were further expanded in the 

open-ended questions in which the key themes that were raised, including the skills needed 

to use collection points.  

 

Figure 13: Barriers to using collection points (n=694) 

Overall, there is a clear division between respondents who supported the use of CPs and those 

who opposed. However, respondents identified the need for modification to the transport 

system and infrastructure, the need for CPs to be visible and in a safe location, and the skills 

and additional support that would enable children and young people to use CPs as a travel 

option to school or in general. Therefore, improvements need to be made to existing 

structures and service users need to develop certain skills before the viability of CPs can be 

determined. 

13%

35%

39%

41%

48%

51%

61%

63%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Other

Being exposed to environmental factors, such
as rain or snow

Being unable to support child/young person
and their siblings at the same time

Fear of bullying or being attacked

Specific needs may place child/young person
or member of the public at risk

Specific health needs would make waiting at a
collection point unsuitable

Limited awareness of danger/unable to keep
safe, even when accompanied by an adult

Wouldn’t be unable to manage situations that 
aren’t planned/out of routine, such as late 

running of transport

Barriers to using collection points

Page 128

11



 
 

 
 

 

Figure 14: Thoughts, comments, and suggestions in relation to the use of Collection Points (n=351)  

Respondents pointed out the varying levels of skills that children and young people have 

based on their age, physical and cognitive needs, and sensory and learning background. 

Children who are vulnerable and are unable to communicate verbally are at more risk of 

suffering logistical challenges. 

“Age of child has bearing on suitability of collection point.” 

“This sounds much more appropriate for some secondary aged children rather 

than primary children. For primary children, they would need to be collected by 

an adult, who may not be able to get to the collection point or who are picking 

up other siblings from different schools.” 

Some respondents recognise that ITT may assist in providing the skills that children need to 

be able to use CPs for school travel, while others argue that children with SEND should 

altogether be exempt from using CPs. 

“Many of these children are very vulnerable and unaware of the dangers 

imposed around them. Could put them in harm’s way. I wouldn’t leave my 12-

year-old with special needs to wait at bus stop. He could step out into the road 

without looking. Much safer to be collected from home.” 

“I don't agree with them. Having too many special needs children 

meeting/dropping off in one place is a serious concern. Each child has different 

needs i.e., violent and aggressive”. 

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Against the use
of CPs

Additional
support for
using CPs

Suitable
location

Skills needed
for using CP

Transport
System &

Infrastructure
to make CPs

reliable

Support for CPs

Thoughts, comments and suggestions in relation to the use of Collection 
Points 

Page 129

11



 
 

 
 

INDEPENDENT TRAVEL ALLOWANCE 

The Council is proposing changing the measuring system for determining Independent Travel 

Allowance (ITA) from Straight Line to Road Route. Overall, respondents were in support of 

transitioning to a road route mileage measurement for Travel allowance, with 70% of 

respondents indicating they either agree or strongly agree with this proposal (figure 15).   

  
Figure 15: Determining mileage reimbursement will be measured based on the road journey, better 

reflecting the journey undertaken. To what extent do you agree with this proposal? (n=694)  

Figure 16 shows that the perceived barriers to the uptake of the travel allowance centres on 

the unsuitability of transport links (60%) and distance to school (52%) rather than the value 

of the allowance being too small (34%).  

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Determining ITA will be measured based on the road journey, better reflecting 
the journey undertaken. To what extent do you agree with this proposal?

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

40% 30% 

18% 

3% 9% 

Page 130

11



 
 

 
 

 
Figure 16: What do you think are the barriers stopping a young person or their family using a 

Travel Allowance? (n=364) 

Figure 17 again shows that in order to motivate the use of travel allowance on greener 
methods of travel there is the need for better access to public transport (57%) and better 

bus routes (42%).  

 

Figure 17: What would motivate young people and families to use travel allowances to use 

greener modes of travel and transport, such as Active Travel? (n=694) 

34%

34%

38%

43%

52%

60%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Value of Travel Allowance is too low

Family/young person unable to identify and
arrange suitable travel arrangement

Family commitments

Family’s/young person’s work commitments

Distance to school or college is too far

Public transport links are not suitable

Barriers to using the Travel Allowance

9%

10%

14%

18%

20%

36%

42%

57%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Better access to the countryside

Mitigating the impact of climate change

Rewards or prizes for travelling by greener
modes

Improve health and wellbeing

Better cycling routes

Being able to travel with friends or peers

Better bus routes

Better access to public transport (including
demand responsive minibuses)

What would motivate young people and families to use travel allowances 

to use greener modes of travel and transport, such as Active Travel?

Page 131

11



 
 

 
 

SPECIFIC TRAVEL ASSISTANCE POLICY CHANGES 

CLARITY ON TRANSPORT JOURNEY TIMES 

When asked about the Council’s proposal that the recommended journey times (45 minutes  

for a primary aged child and 75 minutes for a secondary aged child) not apply to pupils 

travelling to out of county schools, where distances and the frequency of journeys may vary 

as well as changing the maximum journey times for primary aged children to 75 minutes  

respondents were strongly against this policy change. Figure 18 shows that 62% of all 

respondents were either against or strongly against the proposal.  

 

Figure 18: clarity on transport journey times (n=694) 

When looking at the respondents rational for this response it is clear to see that this 

disagreement primarily focused on the increase in journey times for younger key stage 1 

children, particularly those with additional needs. For this cohort respondents felt that an 

increase in journey time would have a detrimental impact on their health and wellbeing.  

“Primary school children travel time is already too long for children of their age, 

extending that limit is ridiculous.” 

“Our primary school opens at 08.30 and this is not unusual. Therefore - therefore 

introducing a 75minute rule for primary school children means that the council 

considers it reasonable for them to leave the house at 07.15. This is not 

reasonable for a primary aged child. A 75minute journey is not reasonable for a 

KS1 aged child.” 

MILEAGE REIMBURSMENT 

Figure 19 shows that just under half of respondents (47%) were in support of the proposal to 

introduce a simpler scheme to enable a more unified reimbursement process for parents and 

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Clarity on transport journey times

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

4% 
16% 17% 17% 

45% 

Page 132

11



 
 

 
 

carers (including how and when they are reimbursed) with mileage rates to remain based on 

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC), which will include provision for any inflationary 

uplifts (figure 19).  

 
Figure 19: Mileage Reimbursement System (n=694) 

No additional comments were made in regard to this proposed policy. 

NOTICE PERIOD(S) FOR  THE REMOVAL OF TRAVEL ASSISTANCE IN CERTAIN 

CIRCUMSTANCES. 

Respondents were not in support of the proposal to adjust the notice period to 4 weeks when 

a walking route becomes safe and to 8 weeks when (and if) a family’s low-income status has 

ended with 47% of respondents responding negatively (figure 20).  

 
Figure 20: Notice period(s) for the removal of travel assistance in certain circumstances (n=694) 

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Mileage Reimbursement System

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Notice period(s) for removal of travel assistance

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

10% 

37% 32% 

9% 11% 

4% 

19% 
30% 

19% 
28% 

Page 133

11



 
 

 
 

There was concern about who and how a route would be classified as safe as well as the 

impact that any change may have on children with additional needs who require consistency 

and do not cope well with change.  

“With regard to the potential withdrawal of travel services when a walking route 

becomes 'safe', any changes should include a thorough assessment of the safety 

of any walking route including whether pavements are provided, the nature of 

those walking journeys (e.g., along major trunk routes and 'A' Roads) and 

whether walking routes include private roads.”  

 

“We are concerned re the impact on these changes on our son, who struggles 

with changes to his routine due to autism.” 

CLARIFY REASONS FOR WITHDRAWAL OF TRANSPORT 

When asked about clarifying the reasons for the removal of Transport, to include the 

withdrawal of assistance, if there are errors with the initial assessment 39% of respondents  

were in support of this policy change in comparison with 27% of respondents who were 

against (figure 21).  

 

Figure 21: clarify reasons for withdrawal of transport (n=694) 

No additional comments were made in regard to this proposed policy. 

PROVISION OF TRAVEL ASSISTANCE FOR UNDER  5S. 

When asked about the proposal that The Council may provide assistance to children who are 

aged four and entering the reception year at primary school if extenuating circumstances 

have been demonstrated the majority (63%) of respondents were in support if this policy 

change (figure 22). 

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Clarify reasons for withdrawal of transport

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

9% 

30% 34% 

11% 16% 

Page 134

11



 
 

 
 

 
Figure 22: Provision of travel assistance for under 5s (n=694) 

When looking at respondents rational they were pleased to see the council offering TA to 

those under 5, however, in some cases felt that the council could go further and not require 

the use of extenuating circumstances. 

“It is positive that you offer transport to 4-year-olds entering primary school in 

extenuating or exceptional circumstances, but I do believe this should be more 

widespread rather than having to go through the extenuating circumstances route.” 

MEDICAL AND HEALTH INTERVENTIONS IN THE TRAVEL ASSISTANCE PO LICY 

Overwhelmingly, respondents supported (74%) the inclusion of guidance on the operational 

standards and processes which the Council follows if there is a requirement for a medically 

trained Passenger Assistant to support children during their journey to school (figure 23).  

 
Figure 23: Medical and health interventions in the travel assistance policy (n=694) 

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Provision for Under 5s

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Add information on medical and health intervention in the H2S TA policy

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

17% 

25% 

38% 
27% 

4% 6% 

29% 

46% 

22% 

2% 2% 

Page 135

11



 
 

 
 

No additional comments were made in regard to this proposed policy. 

REDUCED RELIANCE ONE CHILD PER VEHICLE TR ANSPORT 

The policy to reduce reliance on one child per vehicle transport was met with support from 

respondents. Figure 24 shows that 59% of respondents either agreed or strongly agreed with 

the proposal.  

 
Figure 24: Reduced reliance one child per vehicle transport (n=694) 

When looking at the open-ended responses, respondents accepted that solo travel should be 

reduced however some felt that it “Should not only be in extenuating circumstances but on 

individual needs assessment”. 

SAFEGUARDING USERS O F H2S TRANSPORT   

Over half (54%) of respondents were supportive of the proposal to clarify the conditions of 

transport withdrawal in the case of dangerous behaviour and/or potentially risks harm to 

themselves and others in a vehicle (including the driver) (figure 25).   

 
Figure 25: Clarification of conditions of transport withdrawal in case of dangerous behaviour (n=694) 

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Reduce reliance on one person per vehicle

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Clarification of conditions of transport withdrawal in case of dangerous 
behaviour

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

15% 

44% 

13% 11% 17% 

16% 
38% 

15% 15% 17% 

Page 136

11



 
 

 
 

Respondents wanted to be clear that this policy should be child focused and that a child 

should not lose all transport assistance if dangerous behaviour is displayed. 

“If a child with SEND is displaying dangerous behaviour, then the first step 

should be to consider unmet needs and try to meet those needs better, rather 

than the removal of transport assistance.” 

INTRODUCE A POST 16 STATEMENT 

The introduction of a separate post 16 statement was met with equal positive and negative 

sentiment (39% each way, Figure 26). A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional 

needs (SEND) (n=127). 74% of Parents/carers of children without additional needs support 

the post 16 statement compared to 46% of the parents/carers of children with additional 

needs (figures 27 and 28). 

 
Figure 26: introduction of a separate post 16 statement- all respondents (n=694) 

    
Figure 27: Sentiment towards introduction of 

post 16 statement- Parents/carers of CYP with 

additional needs (n=490) 

Figure 28: Sentiment towards introduction of 

post 16 statement- Parents/carers of CYP 

without additional needs (n=127) 

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Introduce a statement for post 16

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

39%

46%

15%

Sentiment towards introduction of 
post 16 statement- Parents/carers 

of  CYP with additional needs

Against

For

Neutral

11%

74%

15%

Sentiment towards introduction of 
post 16 statement- Parents/carers 
of CYP without additional needs

Against

For

Neutral

9% 

30% 22% 17% 22% 

Page 137

11



 
 

 
 

Respondents highlighted the importance that post-16 travel has in enabling continued 

education and therefore the council should ensure that they are providing the right support 

for this cohort: 

“Students aged 16-19 still need support with travel to enable them to access 

their educational setting safely. 

“My child is looking to go to university in September and this would not have 

been possible if she didn't have transport provided to get her to the college that 

could meet her needs.” 

Respondents also want to ensure that any post-16 statement is developed to support the 

needs of the individual and that it does not become a one size fits all policy. 

“The transport support offered to post 16s should first and foremost be 

appropriate to the child’s needs. For some that absolutely will be a focus on 

independent travel and should be encouraged, but the starting point should be 

the child’s needs, not what the council would prefer their needs to be or find 

most convenient.” 

INTRODUCE POST 16 BURSURIES 

When asked about the introduction of post-16 transport bursary to support families and 

young people to make their own transport arrangements to develop independence and 

prepare for adulthood 44% of respondents were in favour if this policy change (figure 29).  

 

Figure 29: Introduce post 16 bursaries (n=694) 

Very little further comments were made about the introduction of bursaries except to further 

illustrate respondents’ support: “I would love to have a bursary to pay for the bus tickets we 

have to buy.” 

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Introduce post 16 bursaries

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

11% 

33% 
26% 

14% 16% 

Page 138

11



 
 

 
 

TRAVEL ASSISTANCE APPEALS PROCESS 

The council proposed to continue with a two-stage process and that the stage two panel will 

be independent of the first but that the membership will include Council Officers in the future. 

Figure 30 shows 30% of respondents were in favour of the proposal on the changes to the 

travel appeals process; 27% of respondents responded negatively to the proposal; 43% were 

neutral regarding the proposal.  

 

There was some concern about the impartiality of a second stage panel with council officers 

on.  

“Council officers in the appeals process at any stage will not be impartial!” 

“It stops being independent with council officers.” 

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Overall, it is clear to see that the support that children and young people receive for H2S TA 

is of great importance to both them and their families. For many families across surrey this 

support is what not only allows their child to access education in a safe and secure way but 

can also provide the necessary structure and consistency that children and young people with 

additional needs require. 

Below specific recommendations have been listed out in regard to each proposed policy 

change.  

COLLECTION POINTS: Parents of children with additional needs were not in support of this 

proposal. Therefore, if the council implements the use of collection points consideration 

should be given to which children and young people utilise this service. Additional 

consultation should be undertaken with any family along any proposed route to ensure that 

the use of collection points meets the needs of the individuals, and the introduction of mixed 

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Strongly Agree Agree Don’t Know Disagree Strongly Disagree

Changes to travel assistance appeals process

Other

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs (SEND)

7% 

23% 

44% 

13% 14% 

Page 139

11



 
 

 
 

routes should also be considered. Furthermore, if collection points were used the journey 

time to the collection point should be factored into the total length of journey time.  

MEASURING ROUTES: There was good support for this and therefore recommend that this 

policy is taken forward. 

MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT: There was good support for this and therefore recommend 

that this policy is taken forward. 

CHANGE TO MAXIMUM JO URNEY TIMES: overall, respondents were not in support of this 

policy. This was of particular concern for key stage 1 students, specifically those with 

additional needs. This was less of a concern for older children and young people therefore 

further consideration should be given to any proposed changes in regard to adjusting journey 

times. 

NOTICE PERIOD(S) FOR  WITHDRAWAL OF TA: Respondents did not support this proposal 

and therefore further consideration needs to be given to the change. The council needs to 

ensure that the changes made are in line with wider best practice and that any withdrawal of 

TA is carried out in a way that disrupts the lives of the children as minimally as possible. 

CLARIFY REASONS FOR WITHDRAWAL: There was support for this and therefore 

recommend that this policy is taken forward. 

MEDICAL AND HEALTH INTERVENTION: There was good support for this and therefore 

recommend that this policy is taken forward. 

REDUCE RELIANCE ON O NE CHILD PER VEHICLE : There was good support for this and 

therefore recommend that this policy is taken forward.  

TRANSPORT WITHDRAWAL IN CASE OF DANGEROUS BEHAVIOUR: There was good 

support for this and therefore recommend that this policy is taken forward. 

POST-16 STATEMENT: Responses were balanced in their sentiment and therefore it is 

advised that officer discretion is used.  

POST 16 BURSARIES: There was good support for this and therefore recommend that this 

policy is taken forward. The implementation for the bursary should be given further 

exploration to ensure that everyone has the best possible chance of taking up this offer.  

CHANGE TO TRAVEL APPEALS PROCESS: Respondents were marginally more in favour and 

therefore recommend that this policy is taken forward. However, it is important that any new 

process is not only simplified and made clear to parents/carers, but that the council ensures 

that any changes made do not prevent the second stage from being independent. 

PROVISION FOR UNDER 5S: There was good support for this and therefore recommend that 

this policy is taken forward.  

Page 140

11



 
 

 
 

ANNEX 

ANNEX 1: RESPONDENT DEMOGRAPHICS INCLUDING EQUALITIES MONITO RING 

INFORMATION 

There were 694 responses to all the following questions. 

ARE YOU...? PLEASE SELECT THE ANSWER WHICH BEST DESCRIBES YO URSELF WHEN 

COMPLETING THIS SURVEY 

 

Option Total Percent 

A young person with special educational needs or 
disability/additional needs (SEND) 

14 2.02% 

A young person without additional needs (SEND) 12 1.73% 

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with additional needs 
(SEND) 

490 70.61% 

A parent/carer of a young person(s) without additional needs 
(SEND) 

127 18.30% 

An educational professional or governor 34 4.90% 

A professional transport service provider (bus driver, taxi, etc .) 9 1.30% 

A Surrey resident 64 9.22% 

Other 12 1.73% 
Not Answered 0 0.00% 

If other, please specify in the comment box below: 

 Parent with medical needs 

 Grandparent of young person with 

additional needs 

 Other education, health, and care 

professionals  

 Army Officer 

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Other

A Surrey resident

A professional transport service provide
r (bus driver, taxi, etc)

An educational professional or governor

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with
out additional needs (SEND)

A parent/carer of a young person(s) with
 additional needs (SEND)

A young person without additional needs
(SEND)

A young person with special educational
needs or disability/additional needs (SE…

Page 141

11



 
 

 
 

 PhD researcher  

Page 142

11



 
 

 
 

DO YOU OR YOUR CHILD(REN) CURRENTLY RECEIVE HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL 

ASSISTANCE FROM SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL?  

 

Option Total Percent 

Yes 545 78.53% 

No 117 16.86% 

Don't Know 7 1.01% 

Not applicable 25 3.60% 

IF YES TO THE QUESTION ABOVE, HOW OLD ARE YOU OR YOUR CHILD(REN) WHO 

CURRENTLY RECEIVES HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL ASSISTANCE?  

 

Option Total Percent 

0-4 years old 14 2.02% 

5-10 years old 185 26.66% 

11-16 years old 343 49.42% 

17-18 years old 35 5.04% 

19 - 25 years old 27 3.89% 

Not Applicable 120 17.29% 

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Not applicable

Don't Know

No

Yes

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Not Applicable

19 - 25 years old

17-18 years old

11-16 years old

5-10 years old

0-4 years old

Page 143

11



 
 

 
 

ARE YOU APPLYING FOR HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL ASSISTANCE IN THE NEXT 

ACADEMIC YEAR? 

 

Option Total Percent 

Yes 489 70.46% 

No 76 10.95% 

Don't Know 60 8.65% 

Not Applicable 69 9.94% 

DO YOU OR YOUR CHILD(REN) HAVE AN ACTIVE EDUCATION HEALTH AND CARE 

PLAN (EHCP) OR ARE C URRENTLY GOING THROUGH AN EHCP ASSESSMENT? 

 

Option Total Percent 

Yes 504 72.62% 

No 145 20.89% 

Don't Know 3 0.43% 

Not Applicable 42 6.05% 

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Not Applicable

Don't Know

No

Yes

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Not Applicable

Don't Know

No

Yes

Page 144

11



 
 

 
 

DO YOU OR YOUR CHILD(REN) USE PUBLIC TRANSPORT TO TRAVEL TO AND FROM 

SCHOOL/EDUCATION CENTRES?  

 

Option Total Percent 

Yes – Travel as a family or with an adult 12 1.73% 

Yes – Travels independently 51 7.35% 

No 584 84.15% 

Don’t Know 4 0.58% 

Not Applicable 46 6.63% 

DO YOU OR YOUR CHILD(REN) USE PUBLIC TRANSPORT AT THE WEEKEND, EVENINGS 

OR ON HOLIDAYS TO AC CESS SERVICES, ACTIVITIES, VISIT FRIENDS OR FAMILY?  

 

Option Total Percent 

Yes – Travel as a family or with an adult 134 19.31% 

Yes – Travels independently 36 5.19% 

No 505 72.77% 

Don’t Know 1 0.14% 

Not Applicable 35 5.04% 

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700

Not Applicable

Don’t Know

No

Yes – Travels independently

Yes – Travel as a family or with an adul
t

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Not Applicable

Don’t Know

No

Yes – Travels independently

Yes – Travel as a family or with an adul
t

Page 145

11



 
 

 
 

IF YOU/YOUR CHILD(REN) IS CURRENTLY RECEIVING HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL 

ASSISTANCE FROM THE COUNCIL, DO YOU/THEY ALSO RECEIVE THE MOBILITY 

COMPONENT OF EITHER DISABILITY LIVING ALLOWANCE (DLA) OR PERSONAL 

INDEPENDENCE PAYMENT (PIP)? 

 

Option Total Percent 

Yes – higher rate 128 18.44% 

Yes – lower rate 236 34.01% 

No 205 29.54% 

Don’t Know 27 3.89% 

Not Applicable 107 15.42% 

 

0 50 100 150 200 250

Not Applicable

Don’t Know

No

Yes – lower rate

Yes – higher rate

Page 146

11



 
 

 
 

ANNEX 2: THE CODE INDICES 

  Improve Confidence to Travel Independently (n=463) 

 

  

Theme  Code 

Number 

Detail  Cou

nt 

Percent

age 

Reliability of PT System 

  

1 Accessibility of PT in vil lages  7 8% 

21 More frequent and reliable PT 10 

5 Better PT links 9 

31 Shorter journey times 1 

32 PT route consistency 2 

49 Stops to be safe and well -l it 1 

50 Availability of other travel options  2 

54 Minibus /taxi servicing 2-3 children 4 

Addressing the additional 

(physical, sensory, emotional) 

needs of children and young 
people  

  

3 Enforcement of rules against threats, 

bad behaviour 

9 7% 

22 Driver staff training in autism/disability 9 

35 Wheelchair accessibility  4 

41 Reduced sensory sensitivities  2 

43 Assistance from local youth 

engagement officers 

1 

47 Visibility of staff of PT 1 

51 No deviations to route or timings  2 

52 Increased community awareness  3 

Clarity around costs and 

payment processes  

30 Transport support (gen) 3 2% 

38 Free/passes 2 

4 Affordable transport 1 

33 Clarity around PT fare and payment 

process 

1 

Greener Options 

  

13 Availability of cycle routes  3 3% 

14 Safer cycle routes and roads  4 

39 Footpath to the vil lage/paved roads  5 

42 Bikeability training 4 

Meeting specific school-focused 

travel needs 

  

2 More reliable and direct school bus 

routes 

6  11% 

18 Less crowding in school buses  4 

19 Shorter/simple school to home routes  4 

20 Transition time between journeys  1 

23 Quiet areas for waiting  1 

27 Buses exclusively for school children/ 

with disabilities 

4 

28 Stops near the schools  4 

Page 147

11



 
 

 
 

29 Locally based schools 2 

40 1-1 supervision  5 

48 More than 1-1 supervision 1 

6.Holistic support for children, 

young people, and their families 

  

6 Schools (specialist incl) to be placed 

locally 

4  23% 

7 Awareness of level of need and 

disability 

16 

8 Chaperones/adults supervising 16 

9 Independent Travel Training (ITT) 28 

10 Other training/review (CAHMS, ECHP) 3 

11 Support for parents and families  1 

16 ITT delivered locally 1 

17 Parent awareness/education/training 4 

24 Feeling safe  30 

25 ITT delivered at variable length 1 

34 Option of 1-1 or Group ITT/Buddy 
System 

3 

37 Travelling with friends/shared transport 4 

36 Individualised travel plan/appropriate 

support  

7 

44 Being able to drive independently 3 

46 Self-defence training 1 

45 Parents to pay for use of school bus  1 

53 Child's ability to trust 2 

 Nothing can be done  12 NA/Irrelevant/ Disability cannot be 

removed 

279 60% 

Retain existing H2S 

arrangements 

15 Don't change the current system in 

place as working well. 

17 4% 

 

Public Transport Code Index (n=465) Analysis 

Theme Code Number Detail  Count  % 

Provision of 

necessary support 

  

  

  

  

1 Provide support to those who 

need it (general) 

11 46% 

  

  

  

  

  

6 Provide chaperones/travel 

assistants (TAs) 

50 

8 Protected spaces to sit  6 

9 Financial support (incl. fare 

reduction) 

21 

Page 148

11



 
 

 
 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

10 ITT and guidance for children 

and families 

23   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

13 Safer PT 15 

15 Reduce mileage restrictions  1 

24 Increase community 

awareness about SEN/reduce 
ableism 

6 

25 Assign assistants at Collection 

Points to give directions 

5 

30 Safeguarding considerations 2 

34 Parent involvement in 

decision-making 

2 

36 Tracking app or device for 

families 

4 

40 Consistency with transport 

and driver 

2 

41 SEN identification to wear on 

PT 

9 

42 Hybrid/individualised training 

at pace of child 

45 

45 Provision of travel transition 

and adaptation aids i.e. 
tablets, etc 

2 

46 DBS-checked drivers/PT staff 2 

43 Free H2S should also be free 
to siblings 

2 

45 Travel transition and 

adaptation aids 

2 

46 DBS-checked drivers 2 

50 Joined up approach with 

CAHMS, NHS, SCC in decision 
making 

1 

 Improvement to PT 

System 

2 More PT collections in remote 

locations 

9 30% 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

4 Reliable PT service  29 

5 More regular collections 

around schools incl SEN 

29 

7 Better connections/transport 

l inks 

12 

12 More affordable costs  7 

16 More independent travel 

companies operating 

2 

18 Availability of taxis/private 

transport 

2 

19 More direct PT routes 10 

Page 149

11



 
 

 
 

20 More Collection Points (CPs) 

and close to home 

3   

  

  21 More appropriate transport 

options incl. school buses 

separate from PT 

21 

22 More prompt/punctual PT 

service 

3 

26 More routes/stops 8 

31 Accessible PT routes through 

vil lages 

2 

33 Fund bike maintenance 

contracts and create more 
bike paths 

2 

PT and School Staff 

Training 

  

  

  

11 Better training for PT staff 

around understanding, 
communicating with people 

with additional needs 

12 3% 

  

  

  23 Education providers to train in 

ITT 

2 

44 PT first aid training and 
training in behavioural issues  

2 

 Removal of 

Support 

3 Remove assistance in some 

cases 

2 2% 

  

  

  

27 Introduce no-parking zones 1 

32 Charge users for service 3 

35 Restrict parking near school 

gates 

2 

5. Localisation of PT 

services and 

infrastructure 

  

  

17 More SEND schools within 

Surrey 

21 6% 

  

  

  

28 Reduce speed limits 3 

29 Clear footpaths, better street 

l ighting for walking 

6 

6. Unsuitability of 

PT for school and 
college travel 

14 Retention of status quo 20 18% 

  

  

  

  

39 Against or refused despite 

will ingness  

62 

47 Do something about postcode 

barriers preventing use of PT 
for school travel  

1 

48 Covid causing instability at 

schools 

1 

49 SCC Transport Team services 

need improvement 

1 

Collection Points Code index   Analysis   

Theme Detail  Code Number Count % 

Page 150

11



 
 

 
 

Transport System 

and Infrastructure 

  

Unsuitability of country lanes/roads for 

walking/cycling/PT/crossing 

1 10 6% 

Better transport l inks 28 3 

Improved transport route 36 3 

Operate l ike school bus 9 1 

Reliability of transport at CPs  8 6 

Suitable Location 

  

Wont work from remote locations  5 6 6% 

Need to be local (CPs and schools with 
SEN) 

6 2 

Need to be away from bus stops - 

confusion 

7 1 

Need to be at bus stops  21 2 

CPs close to home 26 10 

Skills needed for 
using CP 

  

Having physical ability to get to site of CP 3 4 5% 

Having ability to get to CP site on time 10 5 

Collection points may work for older 

children (16+) provided there is help on 
the bus  

12 4 

Age of child relevant to ability to use CP 2 6 

Additional Support 

  

Chaperones 11 5   

15% Younger children: need TA assistant to 

bring them to a collection point. 

13 7 

ITT - esp what to do when things change 15 1 

Training in conjunction with SEND 16 1 

Identifiable signs of CP for SEN children 17 2 

Seat/ shelter for bad weather 18 3 

Cost effectiveness of CP vs taxis 25 4 

Pooled family pick ups 27 2 

Tracker apps for parents  29 2 

Need to take whole family's 

circumstances 

31 19 

Option to pay for collection if not CP 37 2 

CP staff to work closely with parents  38 2 

Collective fit of CP arrangements 24 4 

Page 151

11



 
 

 
 

Support for CPs 

  

If parents can’t take the children 

themselves 

14 2  15% 

  
Less traffic at school gate 32 3 

Lower carbon emissions 33 3 

Agree/Already using CP and it works  39 9 

Against CPs 

  

Wheelchairs 19 2 63%  

SCC and lack of trust 20 11 

CPs are effectively bus stops - if children 
can't use buses, then they can't also use 

CPs 

22 1 

Preference for free or funded travel 
assistance (status quo) 

35 7 

Sensory triggers and impact on children 

and family 

34 40 

Safety and safeguarding concerns  30 43 

For personal reasons/circumstances 

unspecified 

4 65 

Suitability of transport 23 9 

Questions how it will  work 40 7 

CPs add more complexity 41 26 

Not for SEND 42 20 

 

Code index Travel Allowance (n= 205) Analysis 

Theme Detail  Code Number Count  Percentage 

Approve / Disapprove 

comment only 

  

  

Approve of the idea 1 2 12% 

Disapprove of the idea 2 20 

Stil l  unsure 3 2 

Proposal is broadly but 

not universally applicable 

to all circumstances 

This method cannot suit 

some circumstances 

(unspecified)  

6 26 

 

13% 

Eligibility concerns 

remain a fundamental 
barrier to the proposal 

What about those who 

are not eligible for ITA 
but should be (in 
respondent's opinion) 

8 12 6% 

Safety concerns remain a 

fundamental barrier to 
the proposal 

SEND children would be 

at risk using other 
methods 

9 40 20% 

Page 152

11



 
 

 
 

Distance remains a 

fundamental barrier to 
the proposal 

Impractical distances 

make other methods 
impossible 

10 14 7% 

Time remains a 

fundamental barrier to 
the proposal 

Lack of parent time 

means other methods 
are impossible 

11 26 13% 

Proposal is too 

dependent on amount of 
compensation 

  

  

  

How much will  it be? Will  

it be real cost? 

12 12 20% 

It will  not be enough 13 26 

Pay in advance 14 2 

Predictability 15 2 

Practicality of 

implementation is a 
barrier 

  

  

  

There are accessibility 

issues at the school site 
precluding other options  

16 4 12% 

Concerns over poor 

administration would 
disincentivise 

17 4 

Disability (precluding 

parental involvement) 

18 2 

other children in the 

household preclude 

other options 

19 14 

Other issues should be 

prioritised to benefit SEN 

needs in this area 

  

  

  

Focus on more schools 

being closer 

20 16 12% 

Lockers at schools  21 1 

Single households over 

multi-adult households 

22 5 

Getting traffic lower 23 2 

This suggestion is not the 

greenest option 

  

  

There should be more 

incentives for able 
children to cycle safely 

24 8 12% 

My current method is 

the greenest choice 

25 6 

TA doesn't achieve the 

greener outcome 

26 4 

Greener choices should 

be a priority 

27 6 

Public transport remains 

a concern which is a 
barrier 

Lack of public transport 

options preclude 
changing setup 

28 6 3% 

 

Page 153

11



 
 

 
 

  

Page 154

11



 
 

 
 

 

Annex D - Revised Home to School Travel Assistance policy 

- Home to School Travel Assistance Policy – 5 – 16yrs 
- Post-16 (16-25yrs) Policy Statement  

 

HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL 

ASSISTANCE POLICY 

5 - 16yrs 
  

  

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 155

11



 
 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 

This document sets out Surrey County Council’s Home to School/College Travel Assistance 

Policy and describes how the Council fulfils its duties and exercises its discretionary powers 
as required by the Education Act 1996 and subsequent legislation and guidance. 

The policy explains the criteria for eligibility for travel assistance for pupils to their school or 

college for children of statutory school age (5- 16 years old). It describes how parents and 

carers can apply for travel assistance and how decisions are made. It sets out how parents 
and carers may appeal against decisions that they believe do not comply with this policy. 

For updates relating to operational decisions and information regarding application timescales, 
please visit www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport  

POLICY STATEMENT  

Surrey County Council is committed to ensuring that all pupils have a great start to life, are 

safe and healthy and have access to high quality education so that they are able to achieve 

their full potential. The Children and Families Act 2014 commits partners to work together to 

develop services which strengthen the abilities and resilience of children and their families to 
be independent. 

The Council is also committed to meeting the educational needs of as many children and 

young people as possible within local schools. In many cases, this will mean that pupils can 

walk or cycle to school with their parents or carers. This policy sets out how we will help the 

small number of pupils who find it difficult to travel to school or college without some 
assistance. 

As a Council we want to make sure we continue to deliver our statutory responsibilities for 

home to school travel assistance to meet the travel needs of children and young people, 

enabling them to access their place of education. The Council acknowledges that without this 

service some of the County’s children and young people would be unable to access their 

school or college, especially those who have significant additional needs, are isolated within 
the community, or deemed extremely vulnerable. 

Engagement with young people with special educational needs in Surrey confirmed that young 

people value independence highly, and that they want their parents, schools and the services 

that support them to help them prepare for adulthood, including continued access to education, 

employment opportunities and access to essential services and activities in the community. 

The ability to travel independently is important to them now to attend school, participate in 
community life and socialise with friends; it is also fundamental to their future ambitions. 

We want to support parents and carers to fulfil their responsibility to ensure their school-aged 

children attend school regularly and to make any necessary arrangements to ensure that they 

attend school. Those children and young people not in receipt of travel assistance from the 

Council can use a wide range of forms of travel in Surrey, accompanied as necessary, 

including bus, train, concessionary fares, walking and cycling. We also want to support schools 
to promote safe routes to school and safe travel skills through their regular curriculum.  

 

Surrey is also committed to reducing emissions and improving Air Quality, to improve the 

quality of life for our most vulnerable residents. This links to our Climate Change Strategy, 
please see link below. 

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/community/climate-change/what-are-we-doing/climate-change-strategy 

Page 156

11

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/community/climate-change/what-are-we-doing/climate-change-strategy


 
 

 
 

This home to school travel assistance policy sets out travel assistance options which may be 

employed to assist eligible children and young people, please note that references to transport 
within this document are related to travel assistance.  

Travel assistance may take one of the following forms  

 Provision of a bus or train pass 

 Training to travel independently (walking and using public transport) 

 Training to cycle independently (reimbursement of bicycle and safety equipment) 

subject to the agreement of parent/carer 

 Reimbursing of mileage costs for parents or carers  

 Provision of a private bus, coach or minibus  

 Provision of taxis or licensed private car hire (in extenuating circumstances) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 157

11



 
 

 
 

CONTENTS 

Introduction 

Policy statement 

Eligibility 

All pupils of statutory school age (5-16) 

Statutory walking distance 

Unsafe walking routes 

Extended rights 

Special educational needs, disability and mobility problems  

Children attending schools on grounds of religion or belief 

Application process 

Applying for travel assistance 

Assessing travel assistance entitlement for compulsory school aged children  

Qualifying schools 

Nearest suitable school  

How distance is measured  

Route safety assessment 

Extended rights 

Special educational needs, disability and mobility problems  

Extenuating Circumstances 

Children below the age of 5 

Appeals 

Travel assistance options 

Forms of travel assistance 

Travel allowance 

Independent travel 

Independent travel training 

Collection points 

Concessionary seats 

Transport standards  

Provision of contracted transport vehicles 

Provision of transport for part-time hours 

Provision of transport for after school and non-educational activities 

Page 158

11



 
 

 
 

Home address 

Pick up and drop off timing 

Journey length 

Dual and link placements, inclusion and pupil referral units  

Children attending residential placements  

Passenger assistants 

Medical and health interventions 

Shared travel 

Behaviour of children on transport 

Parental choice 

Travel assistance agreed in error 

Eligibility 

Parents and carers have a legal duty to ensure that their statutory school-aged children (age 

5-16) attend school regularly and to make any necessary arrangements to ensure that they 
attend school. 

A child becomes of compulsory school age at the start of term after their fifth birthday and 

ceases to be compulsory school age on the last day of the academic year in which they are in 

year 11. This applies to both children with and without an Education Health and Care Plan 
(EHCP). 

There are four core categories of eligible children set out in law: 

 Children living beyond the statutory walking distance from school   

 Children who cannot reasonably be expected to walk to school due to unsafe walking 

routes 

 Children who cannot reasonably be expected to walk to school due to special 

educational needs, disability and mobility problems. 

 Children from low-income families who have extended rights to travel assistance to a 

choice of schools.  

  

Ordinarily and in accordance with the Council’s statutory duty, children under the age of 5 will 

not be entitled to travel assistance between their home and school. Where circumstances exist 

where the Council determines that travel assistance is necessary it may exceptionally apply 
its discretionary powers on a case -by-case basis.  

For pupils in year 12 and above (post-16 year olds), there is no statutory requirement on the 

Council to provide free transport to their school or college in any particular case. The Council 

must decide and set out in a policy statement the arrangements that the Council considers 

necessary to facilitate attendance. It is expected that young people in Post 16 education will 

use existing travel schemes to support access to their education placement. More information 

about existing schemes and discretionary support provided by the Council can be found in 

Surrey’s post-16 policy statement which is updated each year. The current version can be 
found here: 

Page 159

11



 
 

 
 

Transport Policy Statement for learners aged 16-19 who attend school or college - Surrey 
County Council (surreycc.gov.uk)  

Link to be updated with new policy statement 

Statutory walking distances 

Surrey County Council, in accordance with its statutory duty, will provide free home to school 

transport for children of compulsory school age to the nearest suitable school from their home 
address who meet the ‘qualifying distance’ criteria which are: 

 2 miles or more for children below the age of eight, measured by the shortest walking 

distance between the home and the school 

 3 miles or more for children aged eight and above, measured by the shortest walking 

distance between the home and the school. 

  

Children who live between 2 and 3 miles from their school will cease to be entitled to travel 

assistance from the start of the term following their eighth birthday.  

When a child cannot be offered a place at the nearest school to the home address, the Council 

will, subject to the criteria set within this policy and the qualifying distance being met, provide 

transport to the next nearest school with space to admit. For transport to be provided in this 

particular instance the parent must provide evidence that they have applied for and been 

refused a place at the school which is the nearest school for their home address and any other 

schools closer than the school offering admission 

If the child/family qualify for free school meals or they are in receipt of maximum Working Tax 
Credit then please refer to section on extended rights.  

Children with special educational needs and disabilities 

For children with special needs or a disability or mobility problems if it is deemed unreasonable 

to expect them to walk to school (accompanied by an adult as necessary), then the distance 

criteria does not apply and they are entitled to free school travel assistance regardless of the 
distance they live from school.   

Unsafe walking routes 

Where a child is not deemed eligible for transport to their nearest qualifying school because it 

is under the relevant distance threshold and the parent/carer believes the child is unable to 

walk the assessed route safely (accompanied by an adult as necessary) due to the nature of 

the route, they should complete the online contact form outlining the aspect of the route they 
believe to be unsafe. 

Safe Walking routes are then inspected by the Council’s Safer Travel Team using the ‘Road 

Safety GB Guidelines on Assessment of Walked Routes to School’. If the route is agreed to 

be unsafe an alternative safe route will be measured and if the child is then beyond the 

statutory walking distance, he/she will be eligible for free travel assistance.  

Where a new route previously considered to be unavailable becomes available (for example 

through the provision of a new footpath), transport will no longer be provided to any new 

applicants for travel assistance. Those applicants who have been entitled to transport due to 

an unavailable route that has become available will be written to with an explanation of the 

change and provided with assistance for four weeks, or the end of the half-term whichever is 

longer, after a route is re-assessed before travel assistance will be withdrawn. A parent and 

Page 160

11

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/16-plus/transport-policy-statement-for-learners-aged-16-19-who-attend-school-or-college
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/16-plus/transport-policy-statement-for-learners-aged-16-19-who-attend-school-or-college


 
 

 
 

or carer will be able to appeal against the decision to withdraw assistance in these 
circumstances.  

Extended rights 

Statutory entitlement is extended for children from low-income groups. Children from low-

income groups are defined as those who are entitled to free school meals, or those families 
who are in receipt of the maximum level of Working Tax Credit (WTC). 

Children above the age of 8, but under the age of 11, from low-income families will be entitled 

to travel assistance to their nearest suitable school if the shortest walking distance between 
their home and the school is more than two miles. 

Children aged 11 and over (years 7 – 11) from low-income families will be entitled to travel 

assistance if they attend a school which is more than two miles (measured by the shortest 

walking distance) and less than 6 miles (measured by the shortest road route) from their home 
and the school attended is one of the three nearest suitable schools to their home. 

Children aged 11 and over (years 7 - 11) from low-income families who are attending their 

nearest designated faith school preferred on the grounds of religion or belief will also be 

entitled to travel assistance if their school is more than two miles (measured by the shortest 

walking distance) but not more than 15 miles (measured by the shortest road route) from their 
home. 

When considering whether a faith school is preferred on the grounds of religion or belief, 

Surrey County Council will take into account the nature of other schools that may have been 

named as higher preferences on the application form. For an application for travel assistance 

to be agreed under this section, the expectation will be that the school that is preferred on the 

grounds of religion or belief will be named above any non-faith schools that have been named 
on the application form. 

Parents must provide supporting evidence regarding their genuine adherence to their religion 

or belief and this will normally be confirmed by asking their minister of religion to sign the 
application form. 

Special educational needs, disability and mobility difficulties  

In addition to the eligibility for children of compulsory school age with special education needs, 

a disability or mobility problem, whether in mainstream or special provision, an entitlement to 
home to school transport exists where the following criteria is satisfied: 

The child attends the nearest suitable school (or the nearest school named at the appropriate 

placement in section I of the EHCP and having regard to the child’s special educational needs, 

disability or mobility problems, they cannot reasonably be expected to walk to school even if 
accompanied by a parent or carer. 

If a child has an EHCP which states that the school of parental preference has been named 

as the appropriate placement in the EHCP but there is a nearer suitable school to the child’s 

home, the child will not be eligible for travel assistance and the parent will be responsible for 

all financial and practical responsibility for ensuring their child’s attendance at school.   

 
Application process 

Applying for travel assistance 

Parents and carers should be aware that it can take some time to arrange travel assistance 

and are advised to apply as soon as they know that they require transport for their child, if they 

Page 161

11



 
 

 
 

believe the child meets the eligibility criteria. Details of timescales, deadlines and 
arrangements can be found on www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport. 

An application form will need to be completed online at www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport 
if the parent believes that their child might qualify for travel assistance under this policy. 

If a child changes school or moves home address, either for the start of the academic year or 

during the year, you should inform the Council 2 weeks prior to moving to allow new 
arrangements to be put in place. The change of address form is available here: 

School transport - Surrey County Council (surreycc.gov.uk) 

 Parental choice 

Where a parent or carer has decided that they do not wish for their child to go to the school or 

college that the Council has decided can meet the student’s needs and decides to seek a 
placement at an alternative setting further away, travel assistance will not be provided. The 

implications of transporting their son/daughter to a setting other than the school that has been 

assessed as the nearest school that can meet a child’s needs should be considered and 
alternative travel arrangements should be made. 

 Assessing travel assistance entitlement for compulsory school age children 

In all cases, a child/young person must be attending the nearest suitable school. This is 

defined as a school that has spaces available that provides education appropriate to the age, 
gender, ability and aptitude of the child, and appropriate to the child’s EHCP where one exists. 

In the case of entry to the junior stage of education, a qualifying school will either be a junior 
school or an all through primary school with a separate published admissions number at 7+. 

Types of suitable schools considered under this policy are: 

 Community, foundation, trust, voluntary aided and voluntary controlled schools 

 Academies or alternative provision academies  

 Free schools 

 Community or foundation special schools  

 Non-maintained special schools  

 Pupil referral units 

 Maintained nursery schools 

 City technology colleges and city colleges for the technology of the arts, university 

technical college. 

 An independent school, if it is the only or the nearest school named in a child’s 

EHCP.  

For mainstream applications processed during the normal school admissions round, a school 

will be determined as having a vacancy if a place would have been offered according to the 

allocations made on the national offer day, assuming the parent either made or could 

reasonably have made an application. For applications made after the normal admissions 

round and those made during the school year, a school will be determined as having a vacancy 

if, at the point of processing the child’s school application, a place could have been allocated 
to the child. 

When determining which qualifying school is the nearest to the home address for travel 

assistance, distances will be measured by the shortest road route. This assessment will 

exclude walking routes, such as footpaths, bridleways and pathways, and will not take into 
account whether the road route is safe to walk along. 

Page 162

11

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport


 
 

 
 

In some circumstances, children may not be attending their nearest suitable school from their 

home address when the road route is measured. If admission to the school attended is based 

on distance measured as the crow flies as defined in the admissions arrangements for the 

school and the school attended is the nearest to home on this basis, then a discretionary 

extension will be applied and travel assistance provided, subject to the distance thresholds 
appropriate to the age of the child being met. 

If, due to a medical condition or disability, a mainstream child has to attend a particular school 

that is not the nearest qualifying school but is over the statutory walking distance, then travel 

assistance will be agreed to the allocated school. Medical evidence must be provided that 
demonstrates why the child needs to attend that school. 

Where a school operates on multiple or split sites, the assessment of nearest qualifying school 

will take account of the sites used to prioritise admissions (as defined in each school’s 

admission arrangements), regardless of which year groups are educated at which site or which 
site a child might attend. 

If for any reason a school chooses to educate children on a temporary site, the assessment 

of nearest school will disregard the temporary site and will instead use the intended permanent 
site of the school or, if that has not yet been determined, the current main site of the school. 

Where an out of County school is identified as a child’s nearest qualifying school and the 

distance of the walking route to that school would mean that travel assistance would still need 

to be provided, free home to school travel assistance will be made available to Surrey children 

attending their nearest geographical Surrey school (measured by the shortest road route), 
subject to the distance thresholds appropriate to the age of the child being met. 

How walking distance is measured 

Walking distances are calculated using the shortest available walking route from the home 

address to school. The legal definition of an ‘available walking route’ is a route along which a 
child, accompanied as necessary, can walk and walk with reasonable safety to school. 

Where a school operates on a temporary site and that school’s permanent/current site is 

deemed to be a child’s nearest qualifying school, the home to school walking distance will be 

measured to the school’s temporary site to determine if the child lives over the statutory 

walking distance and is eligible for travel assistance whilst in attendance on that site. Eligibility 
will be reassessed at the point a child ceases to be educated at the temporary site. 

Distances will be measured using the Travel Assistance Team’s Geographical Information 

System from the address point of the pupil’s house, as set by Ordnance Survey, to either the 

nearest school gate available for pupils to use when measuring to a Surrey school, or the 

address point of the school property, as set by Ordnance Survey, when measuring to a school 
outside Surrey. 

Extended Rights 

Parents who believe they meet the Extended Rights criteria and are therefore eligible for 

assistance with travel to school must include with their application evidence of the child’s 

entitlement to free school meals or the family’s receipt of maximum level of Working Tax Credit 
(WTC) with their application form. 

A child who has been assessed as eligible for travel assistance by meeting the Extended 

Rights criteria will have their entitlement reviewed each academic year to ensure that the child 

continues to meet the necessary entitlement criteria. If it established that a child is no longer 

Page 163

11



 
 

 
 

eligible for travel assistance under extended rights, assistance will remain in place for the 
duration of the current academic year before being withdrawn.  

If a child ceases to be eligible for free school meals or a family ceases to be entitled to the 

maximum level of Working Tax Credit during the academic year for which transport has been 
awarded, travel assistance will remain in place until the end of the academic year.  

If the child is applying for travel assistance to a school of faith under Extended Rights eligibility, 

then the parents must also provide supporting evidence regarding their genuine adherence to 

their religion or belief and this will normally be confirmed by asking their minister of religion to 
sign the application form. 

Special educational needs, disability and mobility problems 

Where a child with special education needs, a disability and/or mobility problems does not 

meet the other three eligibility criteria but has identified specific needs/circumstances that may 

mean it is unreasonable to expect the child to walk to school (accompanied by an adult as 

necessary), then an assessment based on their individual needs and circumstances will be 
undertaken. 

In determining whether a child cannot reasonably be expected to walk between home and 

school, the Council will consider whether the child could reasonably be expected to walk if 

accompanied and, if so, whether the child’s parent or carer can reasonably be expected to 

accompany their child. Ordinarily, the expectation is that a child will be accompanied by a 
parent or carer, work commitments and other care will not be considered. 

When assessing entitlement for travel assistance for a child with SEND or mobility problems, 

the Council will consider the individual needs of each child. This may include taking 

professional advice from educational psychologists, medical officers and teachers and 
consulting with parents and carers before arriving at a final decision.  

Consideration will also be given to the child’s physical and medical requirements including any 

disabilities they may have. Assessments may include face to face contact with the child. The 
findings and decision will be recorded on a transport assessment form.  

The following factors will be taken into consideration when assessing transport entitlement: 

· the age of the child 
· the distance of the child from school  
· whether the child is physically able to walk the journey to school 

· whether the walking route is appropriate for the pupil and their specific needs and 

allows them to arrive in a fit state to be educated 
· whether a child’s emotional and behavioural difficulties will create a clear health and 

safety hazard to themselves or others on the journey to school 
· the SEND of the child 
· any other individual circumstance. 

This is not an exhaustive list. It is not presented in any particular order and is for guidance 

only. Meeting one or more of the criteria does not automatically entitle a child with SEND to 
transport assistance. 

The fact that a child has an EHCP or attends a special school does not automatically entitle 
him or her to travel assistance. 

Other family circumstances, such as parents and carers attending work or looking after other 
children, cannot be considered when determining eligibility 

Page 164

11



 
 

 
 

 

Children attending schools on grounds of religion or belief 

Ordinarily assistance with travel to a faith school will only be provided if it is the nearest suitable 

school. If parental preference results in children’s attendance at a faith school when there are 

suitable schools nearer to home, then no travel assistance will normally be provided. However, 

if children meet the Extended Rights eligibility category criteria then travel assistance to a faith 

school which is not the nearest suitable school may be considered (see section 3.4 for more 
details). 

Under Extended Rights, when considering whether a faith school is preferred on the grounds 

of religion or belief, Surrey County Council will take into account the nature of other schools 

that may have been named as higher preferences on the application form. For an application 

for travel assistance to be agreed under this condition, the expectation will be that the school 

that is preferred on the grounds of religion or belief will be named above any non-faith schools 
that have been named on the application form. 

When applying under Extended Rights for travel to a faith school, parents must provide 

supporting evidence regarding their genuine adherence to their religion or belief and this will 

normally be confirmed by asking their minister of religion to sign the application form. 

Extenuating circumstances 

Section 7 of the Education Act 1996 sets out parental duty, with the overriding expectation 

that parents should undertake their legal responsibility to get their child(ren) to and from school 

and as such the Council will need to be satisfied that the parent has demonstrated why they, 
for social, medical, financial or personal reasons cannot undertake this duty  

Recognising that the Council’s discretionary powers should not be unreasonably restricted by 

its general policy, the Council will consider and may agree requests for home to school 

transport where there are considered to be extenuating circumstances that prevent a child 

accessing their school unless travel assistance is put in place. If the parent believes 

extenuating circumstances exist and assistance with travel is demonstrated as necessary, 

then a transport application form must be completed and submitted with all relevant 
information and evidence for consideration. 

The determination will be based on evidence received to support the case whether transport 

is necessary in order for the child to receive an education. Consideration will be given as to 

whether the circumstances could have reasonably been foreseen by the parent/carer. For 

example, moving to temporary accommodation owing to flood damage cannot be foreseen, 

whereas choosing a school other than a child’s nearest school and realising following this 
decision that transport is not available could be foreseen. 

Where it is decided that a child does not qualify for assistance with travel based on the 

presented needs/circumstances then it remains solely the parent/ carer’s responsibility to 
ensure school attendance or consider transferring the child to a more local school. 

In all cases the decision whether to exercise discretion will be taken on a case-by-case basis. 

 Children below the age of 5 

There is no legal requirement for the Council to make special arrangements for children under 

the age of 5 to travel between home and school. The Council expects that children under the 

age of 5 will be taken to their educational provision by a parent or guardian. However Surrey 

County Council may use its discretionary powers to provide Travel Assistance for children who 

Page 165

11



 
 

 
 

are aged four and entering into the reception year at primary school if extenuating 
circumstances have been demonstrated.  

Appeals 

Parents/carers of children who live in Surrey and who wish to appeal a decision that did not 

grant Travel Assistance in regard to one of the following, may apply for their case to be 

considered at a Stage 1 appeal in relation to any of the following:  
 

 their child’s eligibility 

 the distance measurement in relation to statutory walking distances and 

 the safety of the route. 
 the travel arrangements offered  

During an appeal about an application for travel assistance, travel assistance will not be 

provided to the child/young person unless the appeal concerns the travel arrangements 

offered, in which case the offered arrangements will be available pending the appeal decision. 

Where the appeal concerns a change to existing travel arrangements, then the previously 
agreed travel arrangements will continue until the review is complete 

Stage one: Case review by a senior officer 

Parents/carers must complete a stage one appeal form on which they must indicate whether 

they believe the original decision to be wrong or whether they wish their case to be considered 

as an exception to the policy. The form must be returned with details of the case within 20 
working days from receipt of the original transport decision. 

The written request should detail why the parent/carer believes the decision should be 

reviewed and give details of any personal and/ or family circumstances they believe should 
be considered. 

Within 20 working days of receipt of the written request a senior officer, who was not involved 

with making the original decision, will review the case. More complex cases may sometimes 
exceed the 20 working day turnaround time for review. 

The senior officer will write to the parent/carer, normally within five working days of the review, 
setting out: 

 the decision reached 

 how the review was conducted 

 information about other departments and/ or agencies that were consulted as part of 

the process 

 what factors were considered 

 the rationale for the decision reached and 

 information about how the parent/carer can escalate their case to stage two (if 
appropriate). 

Where possible, applications for review at stage one of the review process should be 

accompanied by independent supporting evidence such as from a GP or consultant, a social 

worker, the police, other local authority officers and copies of relevant court orders as 
appropriate. 

With the exception of eligibility based on extended entitlement for families on low income, 

qualification for travel assistance is not means- tested, and family income will not normally be 
given special consideration under this review process. 

Page 166

11



 
 

 
 

When considering appeals, the following will also not normally be taken into account: 

 Parent/carers’ work or other commitments 

 Attendance by siblings at other schools  

 A work experience placement 

 An address other than the home address, including a childminder’s addrfess  

 Ad hoc visits to other establishments or locations  

 Out of hours clubs (e.g. breakfast club, after school activities). 

Stage two: Case review by an independent panel 

If the parent/carer remains unhappy with the decision at stage one of the appeal, they can 

complete a ‘Stage 2 appeal form’ to request that their case is escalated for consideration by 

an independent panel.   

The independent appeal panel will be independent of the original and stage one decision-

making process (but are not required to be independent of the local authority) and suitably 
experienced. Panel members may include officers of the local authority along with Surrey 

county councillors. Including officers on independent panels will strengthen the experience 

and knowledge of the panel and allow appeals to be heard more rapidly as there will be a 

larger number of panel members to draw on. County councillors will continue to be part of 
appeal hearings. 

Requests for a stage two appeal must be made within 20 working days from receipt of the 
local authority’s stage one written decision.  

Stage two appeals will normally be considered within 40 working days of receipt of the 

parent/carers request for it to be escalated. Any additional supporting documents should be 

supplied by the parent at least 10 working days prior to the review hearing date.  A copy of the 

paperwork that has been submitted to the stage two appeal panel will be sent to the parent at 
least seven working days prior to the review. 

The parent/carer will be asked to indicate on the ‘Stage 2 appeal form’ whether or not they 

wish to attend the appeal to present their case verbally. An officer for the local authority will 

also be invited to present the local authority’s case. Parent/carers are not required to attend 

and if they do not indicate that they wish to attend, the review will be scheduled to be heard in 
their absence. 

The stage appeal panel will give equal consideration to all case reviews whether conducted 

in the presence of all parties or heard in the absence of one/both parties. If the panel considers 

that further information is required, the case will be adjourned so that the information can be 

made available 

The clerk at the stage two appeal will write to the parent/carer, normally within five working 
days of the review, setting out: 

 the decision reached 

 how the review was conducted 

 information about other departments and/ or agencies that were consulted as part of 

the process 

 what factors were considered 

 the rationale for the decision reached and 

 information about the parent/carer’s right to put the matter to the Local Government 
Ombudsman (see below).  

Local Government Ombudsman 

Page 167

11



 
 

 
 

There is a right of complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman, but only if the 

complainant considers that there was a failure to comply with the procedural rules or if there 
are any other irregularities in the way the review has been handled. Further advice is available  

at www.lgo.org.uk or on the Local Government Ombudsman advice line on 0300 061 0614. 

If the complainant considers the decision of the independent panel to be flawed on public law 
grounds, the complainant may also apply for judicial review 

  

Travel assistance options 

Forms of travel assistance 

The Council will review the travel needs of all eligible children and decide the most appropriate 

form of assistance that will be provided. The form of travel offered will reflect the most 

appropriate use of public funds to ensure cost effective provision is in place, while also 

ensuring that any agreed specific requirements, such as medical/ mobility or health needs are 
also taken into account where necessary. 

Journey times 

The nature of transport congestion in Surrey and the very long distances of many journeys 

means that travelling times can vary greatly. It is expected that children should arrive at school 

safely and fit to learn. Journey times should reflect this. Government guidance is that best 

practice suggests that the maximum each way length of journey for a child of primary school 

age to be 45 minutes and for secondary school age 75 minutes.  In some journeys, the upper 

limit on planned journey times may be exceeded and in planning routes, the maximum time 

recommendations of 45 minutes for primary school children and 75 minutes for secondary 

school children will not be the overriding consideration. This would allow children and young 
people who could potentially share transport to do so.  

However, if the Council departs from the national guidelines on journey times, it will ensure 

the planned route is not of such duration that the pupil is unable, because of stress or strain, 

to learn properly (whether at school or at home).  The Council will take into consideration the 

pupil’s age and stage of development. The 45-minute maximum planned journey time for 

primary-aged pupils contained in national guidance will be maintained and only exceeded in 

certain circumstances, such as journeys which enable a child to attend the setting which best 

meets their needs.    

Where a child is eligible for travel assistance, the following types of assistance may be offered:  

 Bus pass 

 Train pass 

 Training to cycle independently (reimbursement of bicycle and safety equipment), 

subject to agreement by parent/carer 

 Independent travel training 

 Reimbursing of mileage costs for parents or carers who are able and willing to take 

their child to school  

 Provision of a private bus, coach or minibus  

 Provision of taxis or licensed private hire car (in exceptional circumstances)  

 Shared contract transport vehicle (coach, minibus, taxi) using collection point 

 Shared contract transport vehicle (coach, minibus, taxi) using home collection 

Page 168

11

http://www.lgo.org.ukor/


 
 

 
 

 Other bespoke travel options that enable travel and the development of travel skills 
and independence, e.g. Travel Buddy. 

  

Where a Surrey travel pass is not appropriate, such as where a child is travelling to an out of 

County school, parents can claim for reimbursement of the cost for their child to travel to 

school by bus or train. Parents will be asked to submit a claim form at the end of each term 

and evidence of the cost of the tickets purchased must be submitted. The refund will be for 
the lowest equivalent public transport rate between the pupil’s home and the school 

Travel Allowance 

Where reimbursement is the most cost-effective method of providing home to school travel 

assistance, for example where no public transport service or contracted vehicle is available, 

parents who take their child to school by car may claim a mileage allowance for the journeys 

undertaken to take and collect their child to and from school. The mileage rates to be used will 

be based on either Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) rates, or, agreed on an 

individual basis with parents where the alternative would be high-cost individual transport. 

Mileage will be calculated by the Council and will be costed based on 4 journeys per day using 

the shortest road route from the home address to the school. For car users taking more than 
one child, only a single application will be considered per family. 

Taxis will only be provided if there is no alternative mode of transport which provides a suitable 

journey to school or if a child’s medical condition and/or disability means that he/she is unable 
to travel using the alternative modes of assistance that are available. 

No bus/train tickets will be issued for part journeys of one mile or less unless that route has 

been deemed to be an unsafe walking route or unless a child cannot walk the distance due to 
special educational needs, disability or mobility problems. 

Provision will be reviewed periodically and if a more economical mode of transport becomes 
available then the parent will be given notice of a change to the mode of transport 

A parent or carer may choose to accept the travel allowance instead of arranged travel 

assistance by the Council. This enables families to make their own arrangements to facilitate 
travel and access to education. 

Any arrangements made by the parent using the travel allowance are the responsibility of the 
parent. 

Where there are two or more children living at the same address and attending the same 

school and the independent travel allowance has been agreed for one child, additional travel 

assistance will not be provided for the other children as all children would be expected to travel 
together. 

If the parent transports siblings to different schools the allowance due would be based on the 

shortest road distance between home and school A, plus the shorter road distance between 
school A and school B for each journey. 

The travel allowance is based on the child’s attendance being over 80% for the full year. 

Attendance records will be requested from the school at the end of each term. If the child’s 

attendance shows poor attendance in the Autumn or Spring terms than the parent may be 

transferred to the standard travel reimbursement rate instead of the travel allowance. 

Alternatively, if the child’s attendance is below 80% then the final month’s payment will be 
reduced. 

Page 169

11



 
 

 
 

If a parent is in receipt of the travel allowance but is temporarily unable to transport their child 

to school due to a short-term illness or medical condition, assistance may be provided. Any 
request will be considered on a case-by-case basis.   

Mileage reimbursement may be offered to parents/carers of pupils who are entitled to free 
home to school transport, where this offers best value for money to the county council.  

Independent travel 

Independent Travel Training (ITT) 

Local authorities have a duty to encourage, enable and assist the participation of young people 

in education and training. This includes mainstream pupils, people with learning difficulties or 
disabilities up to the age of 25. Independent travel training aims to achieve this. 

Independent travel is a valuable skill for preparing for adulthood, an essential employability 

skill, and provides greater opportunities for young people, not least increasing confidence in 
their abilities and reducing their sense of reliance on family members. 

In line with the Council’s aims and objectives to support independence and prepare young 
people for adulthood, and where appropriate employment, ITT will be expanded as an option 

from April 2022. The Council will identify young people who could benefit from ITT and contact 

their families with a view to undertaking a travel assessment. 

The Council may also contact young people and their families who will be transitioning from 

compulsory education into Post 16 and a travel training assessment will be carried out, with 

the support of the family, to confirm the suitability of the young person for the travel training 
programme, taking into account the following criteria: 

 Existing level of independent travel skills 

 The likelihood of the pupil being eligible for SEN transport under the 16 to 19 policy 

 The age of the pupil 

 The distance between home and school 

 The SEND of the pupil 

 The route which the young person would need to undertake 

 Journey times using public transport and the complexity of the journey 

 The frequency of the journeys required. 

  

This assessment would take place before the pupil undertakes the ITT programme, which 

would last for approximately four to six weeks. During the programme, the pupil will travel to 

and from their education or training provision each day with their dedicated one to one ITT 
trainer. 

During the period when a pupil is taking part in the ITT, this will be their travel assistance offer. 

At the end of the ITT programme, the Council will review the pupil’s progress with the family 

to decide if it is appropriate for the pupil to continue to travel independently. If it is not 

appropriate for the pupil to travel independently, their travel assistance offer will be reviewed. 

Although it is expected that the majority of young people would benefit from ITT, it is however 

acknowledged that for some young people, due to the nature of their SEND, ITT will not be 
appropriate. 

Collection points 

Page 170

11



 
 

 
 

Collection points are similar to bus stops, where the Council identifies designated pick-up and 

drop-off locations for the pupil to meet the bus or taxi rather than offering a door-to-door 

service. This reduces the time needed for the route to pick up the pupils and supports children 
and young people to become more independent and better prepares them for adulthood. 

The Council will assess individual needs to determine suitability of routes for collection points. 

In most cases, collection points will be considered for children attending mainstream settings. 
Where a route has been identified as suitable for collection points to be introduced, the Council 

will consult with the parents and carers of children already on those routes over a four-week 

period on the introduction of a collection point and to ensure that the proposed arrangements 
are appropriate; for example the location of the collection point, which should be no more than 

a maximum of one mile from the home. The Council will also ensure that it is aware of any 

individual circumstances which may mean that a collection point is not appropriate for a pupil 

or pupils on that route due for example to their additional needs. 

Achieving this level of independence will not be possible for some children and young people 

with the most complex SEND needs, and in some cases parents’ own mobility or disability 
may impact on them being able to accompany their child to a collection point. Where this is 

the case, the ambition for the service is to improve the range of options available for families 

to take responsibility for their own children’s transport where this is desired and appropriate. 
In such circumstances, the Council will carefully consider and assess the individual child’s 

needs as well as the mobility and or disability of their parents. 

Following a decision to introduce a collection point, the Council will provide not less than 6 
weeks notification to families (which includes any school holidays that fall in the 6 week period) 

before the collection point is established.  If a collection point is implemented, parents and 

carers who disagree that the transport offer is suitable for their child will be able to appeal. 

Where a collection point is allocated, it is the parent’s or carer’s responsibility to make sure 

that their child travels to and from the collection point and transfers to and from the vehicle 
safely. 

For parents who are temporarily unable to take their child to a collection point, no temporary 

assistance will be provided in those circumstances. This is because the child’s special 

educational need or disability has not changed and the transport service from the collection 
point is available.  

All collection points will be assessed in advanced for their suitability.  

 Wherever a bus stop can be legally used as a collection point, it will be 

 Minibuses can stop to collect and drop off on yellow and double yellow lines; vehicles 

cannot stop on red routes, white zig zags (near a zebra crossing) or school keep-

clear hatchings 

 The driver always plans not to cause obstructions to other road users while making a 

drop off or collection and will try to stop in parking areas or bays  

 Collections or drop-off are always made kerb side 

 Each collection point is physically assessed before being used in service; a driver will 

go out and access to see if the location is safe (for example, a well-lit public location, 

not too close to a junction or on the brow of a hill) 

 The drivers complete dynamic risk assessments at the time of collections or / drop 

offs in the eventuality of any changes (new road layouts, another road user in the 
stopping space) and will slightly adjust the collection point if it is unsafe to stop. 

Concessionary seats 

Page 171

11



 
 

 
 

The Council provides transport for children who have a statutory entitlement to free home to 

school transport, where it is best value to use this mode of transport. If there are any spare 

seats available on these routes, they are available for purchase by pupils who do not meet the 

statutory entitlement criteria. Spare seats will be allocated on an annual basis; however, a 

seat may be withdrawn at any time at short notice if it is required by a pupil with a statutory 

entitlement to transport. Places are offered according to published criteria available on 
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/concessionary-seat. 

 

Transport standards 

This section sets out some of the operational standards that we will follow in delivering 

our statutory responsibilities for home to school transport. We want to make this 

transparent for all parents and carers in particular so that they understand how the 
service operates. 

Provision of contracted transport vehicles (coaches, buses, minibuses and taxis) 

When a child is entitled to home to school transport under the Council’s policy, the Council will 

provide suitable transport and seek to ensure this is cost effective. The transport provided may 

take the form of a bus pass, train pass, seat on a contract vehicle, for instance a hired coach, 

a minibus or shared taxi. A travel allowance can also be provided for children where requested 
by parents or carers and where it is more cost effective. 

Provision of transport for part- time hours 

 Home to school travel assistance will only be provided at the start and finish of the normal 

school or college day. The provision of transport for part-time hours does not fall within local 
authorities’ statutory duties and will not be provided. 

Schools and parents and carers should take this into account when bespoke hours are being 

set for a child. Where families wish to have more flexible travel arrangements, a travel 
allowance can be requested. 

However, where exceptional circumstances can be evidenced to show that a child with an 

EHCP is receiving education on a part time basis in school then the Council may provide travel 

assistance until the child is reintegrated into full time school attendance if a reintegration plan 
can be provided outlining the child’s return to full time education. 

Provision of transport for after school and non-educational activities 

In accordance with statutory guidance, home to school transport will only be provided at the 

start and finish of the normal school or college day. The provision of transport for non-statutory 

education or clubs does not fall within local authorities’ statutory duties and will not be 

provided. Parents are expected to make travel arrangements for their children in these 

circumstances. Where families wish to have more flexible travel arrangements, a travel 
allowance can be requested. 

Home address and house moves 

In accordance with statutory guidance, home to school transport will only be provided from 

and to a single address at which the child or young person is habitually and normally resident. 

Where a child splits their time equally between addresses, transport will be assessed from the 

address which is registered with the school as the home address or, prior to admission, the 
address used on the relevant school admission application form. 

For children without an EHCP 

Page 172

11

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/concessionary-seat.


 
 

 
 

Assistance with travel will not normally be agreed to a child’s existing school if a house-move 

results in the child living beyond the statutory walking distance from school but there are other 
nearer schools with an available place. 

However, assistance may be agreed if the child is in years 6, 10 or 11 at the time of the move 

and if there are extenuating circumstances that the Council deem sufficient to provide 

assistance on a discretionary basis. Where parents wish their case to be considered on this 
basis, they should provide details along with independent evidence of their case. 

Assistance with travel may also be agreed even if the school attended is not the nearest 

suitable with places in certain circumstances. If the move is an enforced temporary council 

move within Surrey that is anticipated to last less than 6 months or where a parent has moved 

to a refuge in Surrey, and the distance from home to school meets the agreed criteria, 

assistance with travel may be considered. Evidence of an enforced temporary council 

move/move to a refuge must be provided. Travel assistance agreed under this provision may 
only be agreed for a fixed period of time and will be subject to periodic review. 

 

For children with an EHCP 

If a child with an EHCP moves address, the SEND team will review the plan to consider if the 

school being attended is still the nearest suitable school that can meet the child’s needs. If it 

is, and the child continues to meet the criteria to be eligible for travel assistance then 
assistance will be offered from the new address.   

 Pick up and drop off timing 

Routes to and from school and pick-up and drop- off times are planned by the transport 

provider to be as efficient as possible for all students traveling on the vehicle.  Because of this, 

it is not possible to accommodate the individual circumstances of each family, such as work 

commitments or taking other children to and from school. Where families wish to have more 
flexible travel arrangements, a travel allowance can be requested. 

Dual and link placements, inclusion and pupil referral units 

Dual placements are where a child or young person attends more than one school or where a 

school arranges a college link placement for a pupil. Dual placements may require additional 

transport assistance, such as transport at earlier or later times of the school day. Schools are 

responsible for arranging and paying for the cost of such transport. Where a pupil is on the roll 

at one school but visits another school for inclusion or link purposes, the school where the 

pupil is usually based will be responsible for arranging and paying for transport. These 
arrangements also apply to pupil referral units. 

Children attending residential placements 

Children who attend a residential school that has been named in their EHCP as their nearest 
suitable school will be entitled to travel assistance to take them to and from school as follows: 

 Weekly/Fortnightly boarding placements – travel assistance will be provided to for 

children to travel to school on a Sunday evening/Monday morning, as directed by the 

school, and to travel home at the end of each week/fortnight, or earlier as directed by 

the school for unplanned or planned earlier closures  

 Termly residential placements – travel assistance will be provided for 12 single 

journeys to cover travel home at the start and end of each term and half term 

 Permanent (52 week) residential placements – travel assistance will be provided for 

12 single journeys each academic year. These are at the discretion of the parent and 

Page 173

11



 
 

 
 

school but, where contracted transport is needed, this needs to be booked at least 10 

days in advance through Surrey’s Transport Coordination Centre 
 Any additional trips will be the responsibility of the parent. 

 Passenger assistants 

Passenger assistants (escorts) are not automatically provided. In considering whether a route 
needs a passenger assistant, the Council generally takes account of the following: 

 A child’s medical needs, particularly where rescue medication is required 

 Where an individual child’s needs create a clear danger or health and safety risk to 

themselves and other passengers on the vehicle 

 Where the number of children travelling together necessitates the provision of a 

passenger assistant to help manage a group children and their specific support 

needs on the journey. 

  

Passenger assistants for SEND purposes are assessed on a case-by-case basis. Provision 

of a passenger assistant at any one time does not guarantee that this will be an ongoing 

arrangement; the requirement can be reassessed at any time in the academic year, and in the 

event of any change in circumstances. 

  

Medication and health interventions 

All Passenger Assistants have received accredited emergency first aid training. 

Although there is no statutory duty for transport staff to administer medication, they are 

expected to ensure the health and safety of all pupils in their care. First aid training includes: 

managing the symptoms of shock, dealing with an unconscious casualty, cardiac arrest and 
cardiopulmonary resuscitation, choking, and seizures. 

The emergency services can advise members of transport staff about the closest automated 

external defibrillator for use in treating a patient in cardiac arrest. 

Operators will ensure that every driver and passenger assistant is able to respond to an 

emergency situation, however, they will not normally be expected to administer medical 

assistance. Every parent, as part of their application, is required to provide detailed information 
directly to the Travel Assistance Team about their child’s SEND and/or medical needs. 

This information forms the basis of the pupil’s transport plan. In some cases, where a child has 

very specific and complex needs, an additional care plan from medical professionals may be 

required. A needs assessment will be undertaken to ensure the correct level of medical 

support can be arranged and where it is deemed to be unsafe for a pupil with complex or acute 

medical needs to travel with only a passenger assistant, Surrey will seek to secure a medically-

trained professional from our colleagues in Health to accompany the pupil on the vehicle and 

meet their healthcare needs. For clarity these professionals will not be considered as a 

passenger assistant or transport staff, they will be considered as specialist 1:1 health support 
separate from travel assistance provision. 

Members of transport staff are not permitted to administer medication or to replace medical 

accessories (for example, gastrostomy or tracheotomy tubes) on board a vehicle. The 

exception to these are pre-loaded EpiPens® or pre-loaded buccal midazolam devices as 

these are loaded with the correct dosage of medication and do not require members of 

transport staff to accurately measure medication within a confined and possibly moving space.  

Page 174

11



 
 

 
 

This can only be done with prior agreement from Surrey and the appropriate training having 
been completed. 

Medication can be transported along with the pupil for use whilst they are at their destination, 

but this must be advised to the transport staff and advice should be sought from Surrey as to 
whether it requires a handover document to be signed. 

In the event of an emergency on board a vehicle, the procedure is for the passenger assistant 

or driver to seek guidance from medical professionals by calling 999 and asking for a 

paramedic crew to attend the scene. It is for parents or carers to decide whether they wish for 
their child to travel on regular transport in these circumstances. 

Shared travel 

Ordinarily children and young people travelling to and from school or college will be expected 

to share their transport with other children or young people. This promotes integration and 

independence, social skills as well as being more sustainable and cost effective. Conversely, 

travelling on their own may lead to social isolation of a young person and a delay in 

development of essential social behaviours and skills. It also impacts on an individual’s ability 
to access other forms of travel and to travel with others. 

In developing a travel assistance policy with a focus on enabling independence and preparing 

for adulthood such as employment or shared living away from home, individual transport will 

only be agreed in extenuating circumstances. This would normally be linked to other medical 

needs or where the child or young person is receiving funded one-to-one support at their 
educational placement.  

Behaviour of children on transport 

Children, parents, carers, schools, transport operators and the Council all have a role to play 
in ensuring the appropriate behaviour of children on school transport. 

While passenger assistants have a responsibility for safeguarding children and maintaining 

behavioural standards on the vehicle during the course of the journey, schools will take 

whatever steps possible to ensure the appropriate behaviour of their students on home to 

school transport; and will take appropriate action should incidents of poor behaviour be 

reported. Appropriate action may include the use of sanctions, written warnings and exclusion 

from transport. Parents are also expected to take responsibility for their child’s behaviour while 
travelling. 

Where a child’s behaviour is directly as a result of a known and diagnosed medical condition 

and it is agreed by medical advisors and teachers that the child is unable to control their 

behaviour, the Council will undertake a needs assessment and will consider making alternative 

arrangements, for example, providing the parent or carer with a mileage allowance or direct 
payments to make their child’s own travel arrangements. 

The Council recognises that general poor behaviour, not directly attributable to a child’s 

particular special educational needs and circumstances, cannot be taken into account when 

determining an appropriate safe travel plan. The Council will expect clear standards of 

acceptable behaviour in the interests of  ensuring a safe journey for all pupils and staff as well 
as other road users. 

Reasonable adjustments will be made in cases where behaviour problems persist and it is 

judged that the safety of the other passengers is endangered. Where reasonable adjustments 

cannot be made to deal with behaviour, transport can be withdrawn in individual cases and 
the Council will provide resources for parents to make alternative travel arrangements. 

Page 175

11



 
 

 
 

Pupils exhibiting dangerous behaviour will be subject to two written warnings issued by the 

Council. If a third warning is given, the transport offer will be reviewed and may be withdrawn. 

This action shall only be taken as a last resort and is not considered punishment of the student 

but is for the safety of all concerned. In this instance the Council would provide a travel 
allowance instead. 

In consultation with schools, the Council may instigate permanent or fixed periods of exclusion 

from transport. Parents or carers will be responsible for transporting their children during any 
period of exclusion and ensuring their child’s regular attendance at school. 

Travel assistance agreed in error 

Travel assistance that has been agreed in error or as a result of incorrect, misleading or 

fraudulent information, or as a result of an assessment error, will be withdrawn. Surrey County 

Council will seek reimbursement of any costs that have been obtained fraudulently and 

reserve the right to take legal action against any person who has made fraudulent application 
for free home to school transport.  

How we use your data 

Surrey County Council respects your rights and is committed to ensuring that it manages your 

data in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2019 and the General Data Protection 

Regulation (GDPR). You can find out more about how we manage your data on the privacy 
notice section of our website at www.surreycc.gov.uk/your-council/your-privacy.  

 

Post-16 Policy Statement 

Travel assistance policy statement for learners aged 16 to 18 in further education and 
continuing learners aged 19 and over.  

Contents: 

 Introduction 

 Concessionary fares and travel assistance schemes  

 16-18 travel assistance policy 

 19-25 travel assistance policy 

 Restrictions on concessionary fares 

 Independent Travel Training 

 Traineeships and apprenticeships (internships) 

 Assessment of eligibility 

 Financial contributions 

 Independent Travel Allowance 

 Travel Fund and Bursary 

 Bursary -contact details for Surrey colleges 

 Appeals 
 College and School Sixth Form Travel Assistance Provision 

  

Local authorities do not have to provide free or subsidised post-16 travel support but do have 

a duty to prepare and publish an annual transport policy statement specifying the 

arrangements for the provision of transport or other support that the local authority considers 

it necessary to make to facilitate the attendance of all persons of sixth form age receiving 

Page 176

11

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/your-council/your-privacy


 
 

 
 

education or training. In determining its policy the Council has taken into account all relevant 

matters including the Council’s aims and objectives to support independence and prepare 
young people for adulthood, and where appropriate employment.  

This policy statement gives information about the schemes and support available within Surrey 

for the provision of college travel assistance aged 16-19 and 19-25. It outlines the transport 

schemes and assistance available for post 16 learners who live and study in Surrey or those 

learners who live in Surrey and attend an educational establishment outside of the county if it 
is the nearest provider offering the appropriate course.  

All young people carrying on their education post 16 must reapply for travel support. 

This document identifies the current policies of Surrey County Council, which it should be 

noted could be subject to change in the future. Therefore, this policy does not amount to a 
legitimate expectation that any service currently offered will continue to be offered. 

Surrey is also committed to reducing emissions and improving Air Quality, to improve the 

quality of life for our most vulnerable residents. This links to our Climate Change Strategy, 
please see link below. 

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/community/climate-change/what-are-we-doing/climate-change-
strategy 

Details of concessionary fares and travel assistance schemes 

16 to 17 Saver Railcard 

This is a national scheme that offers 16 and 17 year olds a 50% discount on standard anytime, 

off peak, advance and season tickets. The 16 to 17 Saver costs £30 and is valid for one year 

or until your 18th birthday, whichever comes first. Full details and an online application can be 
found on the 16 to 17 saver website 

Student Fare Card Scheme 

Surrey County Council offers this scheme which enables young learners aged 17 to 18 to 

travel on buses and trains at reduced fares for journeys to and from school/college. The 

student fare card costs £25 and is valid from 1 September until the end of the following August. 
Apply for a Student Fare Card on the Surrey County Council website. 

Post-16 travel assistance policy 

In extenuating circumstances, where travel assistance has been demonstrated as necessary, 

we may offer support to children and young people to travel to their educational placement, in 
the form of 

 Bus pass 

 Train pass 

 Training to cycle independently (reimbursement of bicycle and safety equipment), 

subject to agreement by parent/carer 

 Independent travel training 

 A post-16 transport bursary* 

 Provision of a private bus, coach or minibus  

 Provision of taxis or licensed private hire car (in exceptional circumstances)  

 Shared contract transport vehicle (coach, minibus, taxi) using collection point 

 Shared contract transport vehicle (coach, minibus, taxi) using home collection 

 Other bespoke travel options that enable travel and the development of travel skills 

and independence, e.g. Travel Buddy. 

Page 177

11

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/community/climate-change/what-are-we-doing/climate-change-strategy
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/community/climate-change/what-are-we-doing/climate-change-strategy
https://www.16-17saver.co.uk/
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/16-plus/apply


 
 

 
 

 Driving lessons (age dependant) 

 

*The Council will exercise discretion to provide travel assistance in the form of a post-16 

transport bursary to support families and young people to make their own transport 
arrangements to develop independence and prepare for adulthood pathways. 

An Independent Travel Allowance (ITA) in the form of mileage reimbursement may be offered 

to parents/carers of all pupils who are entitled to travel assistance where this offers best value 

for money to the county council. The mileage rates to be used will be set in line either with Her 

Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) rates, or, agreed on an individual basis with parents 

where the alternative would be high-cost individual transport. Mileage will be calculated by the 
Council, payment for mileage will be paid after the contribution amount is exhausted 

If assistance is agreed, an application will be required to be submitted each year.  

16-18 travel assistance policy  

The Council will only provide travel assistance for learners of sixth form age where it considers 

that travel assistance has been demonstrated as necessary to enable the young person to 
reasonably access their education or training provision. 

When determining whether the need for travel assistance has been demonstrated, the Council 
will have regard to, amongst other things:  

 whether the young person has received travel training, is able to travel independently 

and his/her ability to access public transport. 

 the nature of the young person’s special educational needs, disability and/or learning 

difficulty. This includes the physical ability of the young person to walk, accompanied 

as necessary by a responsible adult to the learning provision or a pickup point; 

 distance and journey time from the young person’s home to establishments of 

education and training,  

 the cost of assistance and alternative means of transport. 

 the nature of the route or alternative routes which the young person could reasonably 

be expected to take;  

 the reasons why a young person wishes to attend one establishment rather than 

another; 

 Whether the establishment is named in the student’s EHCP and whether there are 

alternative suitable schools or colleges that the student could attend 

 supporting evidence from professionals involved with the young person and their 

family; 

 if there is a nearer education provision which is suitable and can provide the same or 

similar qualification(s) or course; 

 the best use of the council’s resources  

 Transport links – the ease of access to public transport 
 The distance measurement between home and learning placement.  

 This is not an exhaustive list and requests will be considered on a case by case basis. 

When travel assistance is provided, it will normally only be provided at the start and end of the 

school/college day, unless a shuttle bus service is used. Pupils may have to wait for either the 
next shuttle bus or until the end of the school/college day to access homeward travel 

Page 178

11



 
 

 
 

Only in exceptional circumstances connected to an individual’s learning difficulties and/or 

disabilities and where no alternative mode of travel is available, will taxi travel be considered, 

normally on a shared taxi basis. Solo transport provision will only be considered for those 

pupils in receipt of Independent Personal Support Budget (IPSB) funding or those that present 
with complex medical and/or health needs.  

The Local Authority will, where possible, adhere to best practice relating to journey times for 

post-16 students however, it is recognised that adhering to journey times may not always be 

possible particularly in rural areas. It may be deemed acceptable for a trip to exceed these 

journey times if it is considered that the additional time does not place undue stress, strain or 
difficulty on the student , which would prevent them from benefitting from the education. 

Restrictions on concessionary fares 

The Bus Student Fare Card Scheme allows 16 to 18 year old Surrey students in full time 
education to travel on Surrey buses for the under 16s fare on single and return tickets only. 

A student fare card can only be used to travel to and from school or college, however the 

following bus companies have agreed to charge the under 16 rate for any journey which starts 

or finishes in the 11 boroughs of Surrey including evenings, weekends and school/college 
holidays. 

Arriva (service Surrey and West Sussex) 

Cobham Chatterbus 

Compass Bus 

Falcon Buses 

First 

Hallmark Connections - Students (16 to 19) travelling on Hallmark buses can redeem 

student/child fares with just their college/university student card 

London General 

Metrobus 

Quality Line 

Safeguard 

Southdown 

Stagecoach 

White Bus Services  

  

Please note that London Bus services do not accept the student fare card. A list of eligible bus 
journeys are listed. 

         The Surrey 17 to 18 Train student fare card allows 17 to18 year old Surrey students infull 

time education to buy a season ticket (only for travel to and from home school/college) 

at a reduced rate of 1/3 off the standard adult cost. Season tickets are available for 

seven days (minimum), one month, and between one month and on year. You can also 

use the card to buy single and return tickets after 6pm during the week and at weekends 
for leisure journeys. 

Page 179

11

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/16-plus/apply#panels=bus
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/school-transport/16-transport-to-school-or-college/student-fare-card-scheme
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/16-plus/apply#panels=bus
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/16-plus/apply#panels=bus
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/16-plus/apply
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/16-plus/apply


 
 

 
 

The start, finish and transfer stations must all be on the qualifying stations list. In addition, the 
journey must start or finish at one of the stations in bold print on the qualifying stations list and 

be made via the rail lines specified on the Student Fare Card train map. 

This scheme is available for those students who are unable to benefit from the 16 to 17 Saver 
Card available nationally. 

Independent Travel Training (ITT) 

In line with the Council’s aims and objectives to support independence and prepare young 

people for adulthood, and where appropriate employment, ITT will be expanded as an option. 

The Council will identify young people, and those who will be transitioning from compulsory 

education into Post 16 and above who could benefit from ITT and contact their families with a 

view to undertaking an ITT assessment.  

An ITT assessment will be carried out with the support of the family and/or school, to confirm 

the suitability of the young person for the ITT programme, taking into account the following 
criteria: 

 The likelihood of the pupil being eligible for SEN transport under the 16 to 19 policy 

 Existing level of independent travel skills 

 The age of the pupil 

 The distance between home and school 

 The SEND of the pupil 

 The route which the young person would need to undertake 

 Journey times using public transport and the complexity of the journey 
 The frequency of the journeys required. 

This assessment would take place before the pupil undertakes the ITT programme, which 

would last for approximately four to six weeks. During the programme, the pupil will travel to 

and from their education or training provision each day with their dedicated one to one ITT 
trainer. 

During the period when a pupil is taking part in the ITT, this will be their travel assistance offer. 

At the end of the ITT programme, the Council will review the pupil’s progress with the family 

to decide if it is appropriate for the pupil to continue to travel independently. If it is not 

appropriate for the pupil to travel independently, their travel assistance offer will be reviewed. 

Although it is expected that the majority of young people would benefit from ITT, it is however 

acknowledged that for some young people, due to the nature of their SEND, ITT will not be 

appropriate. 

Traineeships, apprenticeships and internships 

For students on traineeships, apprenticeships and internships – the learning provider is 

responsible for ensuring that reasonable expenses are met in full where they are needed to 

overcome barriers to learning. These may include the cost of travelling to or from the place of 

learning or work placement. Please contact your learning provider for more information. 
Students may also be eligible for a bursary (see Bursary Fund section above). 

Financial Contributions  

Where it is agreed that travel assistance is required, we will ask students aged 16-19 or their 

parents/carers to contribute towards the transport costs. For the academic year 2022/2023 
the contribution will be as follows: 

Page 180

11

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/16-plus/apply/qualifying-train-stations
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/16-plus/student-fare-card/apply/qualifying-train-stations
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/8154/Train-Map-2016.pdf
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/8154/Train-Map-2016.pdf


 
 

 
 

 £581.40 for students whose families are in receipt of the maximum Working Tax Credit 

and/or who continue to meet the eligibility criteria for Free School Meals; students in 

care; care leavers; those on Income Support/Universal Credit in their own right; 

disabled young people who receive Employment Support Allowance/Universal Credit 

and either Disability Living Allowance or Personal Independence Payment in their 

name; or 
 £801.80 for all other students. 

Travel support from government  

The 16-19 Bursary Fund  

The 16 to 19 Bursary Fund provides financial support to help young people overcome specific 

barriers to participation so they can remain in education. You could get a bursary to help with 

education-related costs if you’re aged 16 to 19 and: 

 Studying at a publicly funded school or college in England - not a university (a publicly funded 

school is one that does not charge you for attending it)  

 On a training course, including unpaid work experience 

There are 2 types of 16 to 19 bursaries: 

 1. A bursary of up to £1,200 a year for young people in one of the defined vulnerable groups 
below:  you’re in or you recently left local authority care 

  You get Income Support or Universal Credit because you’re financially supporting yourself  

 You get Disability Living Allowance (DLA) in your name and either Employment and Support 

Allowance (ESA) or Universal Credit 

  You get Personal Independence Payment (PIP) in your name and either ESA or Universal 

Credit  

2. Discretionary bursaries which institutions award to meet individual needs, for example, help 

with the cost of transport, meals, books and equipment. Your education or training provider 

decides how much you get and what it’s used for. If you’re 19 and over, you’ll only be eligible 
for a discretionary bursary so could get this if you either:  

 Are continuing on a course you started aged 16 to 18 (known as being a ’19+ continuer’)  

 Have an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) Your school or college will have their own 

criteria for discretionary bursaries. They’ll look at your individual circumstances - this usually 
includes your family income.  

Ask student services about their criteria and any evidence you’ll need. Schools and colleges 
are responsible for managing both types of bursary. 

 Young people who want to apply for support from the bursary fund should contact their chosen 
school or college to make an application 

School Bursary Funding - Contact your Head of Sixth Form or Bursar in the first instance 

For bursary support at colleges, contact Student Services at: 

Brooklands College 

 Email: info@brooklands.ac.uk 
 Telephone: 01932 797901 

Page 181

11

https://www.brooklands.ac.uk/
mailto:info@brooklands.ac.uk


 
 

 
 

East Surrey College 

 Email: clientservices@esc.ac.uk 
 Telephone: 01737 788444 

Esher College 

 Email: info@esher.ac.uk 

 Telephone: 0208 398 0291 

Godalming College 

 Email: college@godalming.ac.uk 
 Telephone: 01483 423526 

Guildford College Group 

 Email: info@guildford.ac.uk 
 Telephone: 01483 448585 

NESCOT 

 Email: studentfinance@nescot.ac.uk 
 Telephone: 0208 394 3033 

Reigate College 

 Email: enquiries@reigate.ac.uk 
 Telephone: 01737 221118 

Strode’s College 

 Email: welfare@strodes.ac.uk 
 Telephone: 01784 437506 

University College for the Creative Arts 

 Email: advicefarn@ucreative.ac.uk 
 Telephone: 01252 722441 

Woking College 

 Email: wokingcoll@woking.ac.uk 
 Telephone: 01483 761036 

 

19-25 travel assistance policy 

Assistance with transport for students over the age of 19 with learning difficulties or 
disabilities 

The Council’s duty and powers in relation to post-19 (19 to 25) travel assistance apply to 

young adults and young people with special educational needs and disabilities aged between 
19 and 25 inclusive who have an Education Health and Care Plan 

The Council is required to provide assistance where needed to students who are in attendance 

at a local authority maintained or assisted further or higher education institutions or an 

institution within the further education sector. The Council must also provide assistance where 

necessary to students with EHCPs where the Council has secured the provision of education 

Page 182

11

http://www.esc.ac.uk/
mailto:clientservices@esc.ac.uk
http://www.esher.ac.uk/
mailto:info@esher.ac.uk
http://www.godalming.ac.uk/
mailto:college@godalming.ac.uk
http://www.guildford.ac.uk/
mailto:info@guildford.ac.uk
http://www.nescot.ac.uk/
mailto:studentfinance@nescot.ac.uk
http://www.reigate.ac.uk/
mailto:enquiries@reigate.ac.uk
http://www.strodes.ac.uk/
mailto:welfare@strodes.ac.uk
http://www.ucreative.ac.uk/
mailto:advicefarn@ucreative.ac.uk
http://www.woking.ac.uk/
mailto:wokingcoll@woking.ac.uk


 
 

 
 

or training at an institution outside the further and higher education sectors and the Council is 

providing boarding accommodation in connection with that education or training. In these 

cases, the Council will consider whether assistance with travel is necessary to enable the 

young adult to maintain attendance at their education placement. If it is identified that 

assistance is necessary, then there would be no charge/ financial contribution expected from 
the young adult. 

The post-19 (19 to 25) Home to School Travel Policy will be focused upon a needs-led 

approach in which the individual needs of each young adult are assessed to inform the 

appropriate form of travel support, as we move away from standard provision in favour of a 

policy which recognises that young people are, in many cases, more capable of achieving 
independent travel than pupils of statutory school age 

For post-19 students starting a new course, you must evidence why it is necessary for the 

Council and not the student to make travel arrangements. To assess this and understand the 
individual circumstances, we would need to know: 

 The nature of the route, or alternative routes, which the student could reasonably be 

expected to take to college 

 What other arrangements you have considered or tried and why they are not suitable 

 If there is a family member or carer who is willing and able to transport the student and 

if not, why it would not be possible or reasonable for them to do so 

 Whether the student is in receipt of higher rate mobility component of the Personal 

Independence Payment or Disability Living Allowance, the purpose of which is to assist 

those who have mobility problems, with severe difficulty walking or who need help 

getting around outside. We would normally expect this benefit to be fully utilised and if 

there are any factors limiting its use you should provide details of them  

 Whether there is a ‘motability’ vehicle for which the student may or may not be the 

driver. 

 Whether the student has support from the Council’s social care department to assist 

with travel   

 Any other needs or circumstances that you consider need to be taken into account and 
the Council consider any recent supporting evidence that you provide. 

 If travel assistance is provided, contribution towards the cost of travel assistance will not 
apply.  

The council will consider whether to exercise its discretion in exceptional circumstances to  

pay all or part of the reasonable travelling expenses of a young adult with an EHCP attending 

an institution outside the further education sector or which is not a council-assisted or 

maintained institution based on the individual circumstances including the factors set out 
above.  

Review/Appeals Process  

Parents and /or Young People who wish to challenge the outcome of the travel assistance 
assessment can find details of the appeal process at the following link: 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport   

11. Contact details 
Surrey Student Fare Card 

Telephone: 0300 200 1004 

E-mail: student.farecards@surreycc.gov.uk 

Page 183

11

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport
mailto:student.farecards@surreycc.gov.uk


 
 

 
 

Home to School/College Transport Policy  

Surrey Contact Centre Telephone: 03456 009 009 (8am to 6pm weekdays) 

Email: contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk 

  

For any changes to transport provided by Surrey County Council, please contact the Transport 
Coordination Centre 0300 200 1004 or email travel.assistance@surreycc.gov.uk 

 12. Complaints Procedure 
Information about Surrey County Council’s complaints procedure 

 College  Service  Details  

Godalming 

College 

Subsidised bus services (£850 for full 

academic year): 
1. Farnham via Frensham, 

Churt, Hindhead and 

Haslemere 
2. Liss via Bordon, Headley and 

Grayshott 

Full details can be found on 

Godalming College’s website or 

contact the Finance Office: 

finance@godalming.ac.uk / 01483 

423526 

Guildford 

College 

Supported Learning Students can get 

bus tokens to aid in confidence building 

and independence. 

For more information and to get 

the bus token visit the Student 

Services Team at the College. 

Cobham to 

Salesian 

School 

Bus 

A community minibus service 

transporting students from Cobham to 

Salesian School free of charge. 

Enquiries about the scheme to be 

directed to the school, please 

email 

pcarr@salesian.surrey.sch.uk 

Strode’s 

College 

South Western Railways – exclusive 

season ticket fares 

Full details can be found at Travel 

(windsor-forest.ac.uk) 

 

College and Sixth Form Travel Assistance Provision and Local Provider 

Provider  Discounts/Concessions  
Further details and 
how to apply  

Stagecoach 

Unirider 

Subsidised Bus Fare Cards valid on any Stagecoach 

bus for any travel 7 days a week. Cards can be 

bought on a half termly, termly or annual basis. 

Available for the Guildford College Group, 

Farnborough College of Technology and Godalming 

College. 

See Stagecoach 

website for further 

information 

Southdown 

Student 

Fare Card 

Those aged between 16 & 19 can travel at the child 

rate on production of a  

Valid Student Fare Card. Surrey residents can use 

their Surrey Student Fare Card (see section 3.1). 

Those living elsewhere can apply directly to 

Southdowns Buses (cards cost £25 and are valid 

between 1 September 2020 and 31 July 2021). 

For more information 

visit Southdown 

Buses website or 

apply for a 

Southdown Buses 

Student Fare Card 

Transport 

for London 

(TfL) 

16+ Zip Oyster photocard: Children aged 16 to 17 

can get free and discounted travel on TfL services 

with a 16+ Zip Oyster photocard. 

Tfl 16+ Zip Oyster 

photocard 

Page 184

11

mailto:contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk
mailto:travel.assistance@surreycc.gov.uk
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/contact-us/complaints-comments-and-compliments/all-other-council-services/how-we-deal-with-your-complaint
https://www.godalming.ac.uk/getting-to-college/college-bus-services
mailto:finance@godalming.ac.uk
mailto:pcarr@salesian.surrey.sch.uk
https://www.windsor-forest.ac.uk/contact-us/travel.html
https://www.windsor-forest.ac.uk/contact-us/travel.html
https://www.stagecoachbus.com/promos-and-offers/national/unirider
https://www.stagecoachbus.com/promos-and-offers/national/unirider
http://www.buymyunirider.com/
https://www.southdown.net/tickets
https://www.southdown.net/tickets
https://www.southdown.net/tickets
https://www.southdown.net/ssfc-application
https://www.southdown.net/ssfc-application
https://tfl.gov.uk/fares/free-and-discounted-travel/16-plus-zip-oyster-photocard
https://tfl.gov.uk/fares/free-and-discounted-travel/16-plus-zip-oyster-photocard


 
 

 
 

Abellio 

Student Bus Pass: Valid for one term and enable 

travel on all Abellio Surrey bus services 7 days a 

week during term time (including half term). Passes 

cost £200 per term (non refundable). 

To download an 

application form go 

to abellio-surrey-

student-bus-pass-

application.pdf 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 185

11

https://www.abellio.co.uk/media/1294/abellio-surrey-student-bus-pass-application.pdf
https://www.abellio.co.uk/media/1294/abellio-surrey-student-bus-pass-application.pdf
https://www.abellio.co.uk/media/1294/abellio-surrey-student-bus-pass-application.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

CABINET  

DATE: 26 APRIL 2022 

REPORT OF: BECKY RUSH, DEPUTY LEADER AND CABINET MEMBER FOR 
FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

LEAD OFFICER: LEIGH WHITEHOUSE, DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR FOR RESOURCES (S151 OFFICER) 

SUBJECT: 2021/22 MONTH 11 (FEBRUARY) FINANCIAL REPORT  

ORGANISATION 
STRATEGY 
PRIORITY AREA: 

GROWING A SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY SO EVERYONE CAN 
BENEFIT/ TACKLING HEALTH INEQUALITY/ENABLING A 
GREENER FUTURE/EMPOWERING COMMUNITIES 

Purpose of the Report: 

This report provides details of the County Council’s 2021/22 financial position as at 28th 

February 2022 (M11) for revenue and capital budgets, and the expected outlook for the 
remainder of the financial year.   

Key Messages – Revenue 

 At M11, the Council is forecasting a full year £0.6m forecast surplus against the 

revenue budget, no change from M10.  

 

The details are shown in Annex 1 and summarised in Table 1. 

 Despite the forecast of a balanced outturn, it is still the expectation that Directorates 
continue to make efforts to manage spends within their budget envelopes, particularly 
where actions will impact on the deliverability of the 2022/23 budget. 

Key Messages – Capital 

 The M11 position shows a forecast spend of £162.3m against a budget of £170.6m, 
£8.2m less than the budget and a decrease of £6.8m from M10.  

 Details are set out in paragraphs 12 to 14 and Table 3.  

Recommendations: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Note the Council’s forecast revenue and capital budget positions. 

2. Approves that £13m of funding from Surrey Heartlands Clinical Commissioning Group is 

transferred to reserves as set out in paragraphs 15 to 17. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 187

12

Item 12



 
 

Reason for Recommendations: 

This report is to comply with the agreed policy of providing a monthly budget monitoring report 

to Cabinet for approval of any necessary actions.  

  

Revenue Budget: 

1. At M11, the Council is forecasting a full year £0.6m surplus against budget.    

2. Table 1 below shows the forecast revenue budget outturn for the year by service.   

 

Table 1 - Summary revenue budget forecast variances as of 28th February 2022 

 
Note: Numbers have been rounded which might cause a difference. 

 

3. The forecast Directorate underspend of £0.6m predominantly consists of:  

 Adult Social Care (ASC) : The forecast is an underspend of £1.5m in 2021/22, 

no change from M10. The £1.5m underspend is due to care package 
expenditure pressures driven primarily by the pandemic mitigated by £9.4m of 
one-off or likely temporary in-year financial benefits.  

 Children, Families and Lifelong Learning (CFL) Non DSG – The £11.2m  

forecast overspend (£2m increase from M10) mainly consists of £2.7m forecast 
overspend within Area and Children with Disabilities (CWD) staffing budgets,  
£4.5m overspend on Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) home to 
school transport due to numbers of pupils and inflationary increases since 
September (SEND home to school transport is a non-DSG cost), £2.5m forecast 
overspend on external residential placements and £2.3m overspend in CWD care 
due to levels of demand. A CFL Finance Action Plan has been developed and a 
number of actions are either underway or being investigated to mitigate, as far as 
possible, the pressures within CFL outside of SEND.  The focus is on staffing 
pressures and placement costs. Other mitigations being undertaken include the 
application of Troubled Families grant (£0.6m). A review of Transport is also 
underway. 

Directorate

2021/22 

YTD M11 - 

Actual

21/22 Outturn 

Forecast 

at M11

Annual 

Budget

Forecast 

Variance

Change in 

forecast 

since last 

month

£m £m £m £m £m

Adult Social Care 362.3 378.8 380.3 (1.5) 0.0

Public Service Reform & Public Health 28.9 34.1 34.1 0.0 0.0

Children, Families and Lifelong Learning 212.9 231.3 220.0 11.2 2.0

Comms, Public Affairs & Engagement 1.5 1.7 1.7 0.0 (0.0)

Community Protection Group 38.1 39.1 37.7 1.3 0.2

Customer & Communities 9.6 11.1 11.6 (0.5) (0.2)

Environment, Transport & Infrastructure 116.5 129.3 135.0 (5.7) (0.1)

People & Change 5.5 6.5 6.6 (0.1) (0.1)

Prosperity Partnerships & Growth 1.1 1.3 1.3 (0.0) (0.0)

Resources 62.3 70.6 70.8 (0.1) (0.5)

Central Income & Expenditure 14.8 76.0 77.4 (1.3) (1.3)

Total before DSG High Needs Block Offset 853.6 979.9 976.5 3.4 0.0

DSG High Needs Block Offset 0.0 35.0 32.8 2.2 (0.0)

Total Budget Envelopes 853.6 1,014.9 1,009.4 5.6 0.0

Central Funding (933.9) (1,015.6) (1,009.4) (6.2) 0.0

Overall after central funding (80.3) (0.6) 0.0 (0.6) 0.0

Page 188

12



 
 

Risks were previously quantified and captured within monthly monitoring to give 
as early warning as possible around variations.  Both the DSG High Needs block 
overspend (below), and Transport variances declared in Month 10 were 
previously identified as risks.  

 Customer & Communities -  The £0.5m forecast underspend is due to additional 

libraries income, reduced spend on venue costs and equipment and prolonged 
staffing vacancies in Community Partnerships and Customer Services. 

 Community Protection Group (CPG): The £1.3m overspend (£0.2m increase 

from M10) is primarily due to an unfunded national firefighters pay award and 
other Fire service pressures £1m, and historic and special inquest costs in the 
Coroner's service £0.4m offset by £0.1 underspend in Trading Standards. 

 Environment, Transport & Infrastructure (ETI): There is a £5.7m forecast 

underspend in M11, an improvement of £0.1m from M10. The variance mainly 
relates to £4.5m due to improved recycling prices offset by increased waste 
volumes, £2.2m Highway’s income and savings, offset by smaller pressures 
including bus service support and costs in the Environment service. 

 Resources - £0.1m underspend – £0.5m decrease from M10, mainly due to a 

reduction in the overspend on the Orbis Joint Operating Budget relating to 
staffing, increased underspends across a number of areas in IT & Digital (IT&D) 
and an increased income projection for school meals within Twelve15. 

 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) High Needs Block (HNB) – The £2.2m 

forecast overspend (no change from M10) is mainly due to revised estimates of 
cost containment and in-year mitigations but also includes an additional £0.5m of 
costs linked to changes in provision - mainly alternative provision with schools 
finding it difficult to settle children after absences, plus new placements likely to 
occur before year end. 

Further details on the in-year position are set out below. 

DSG update 

4. The table below shows the projected forecast year end outturn for the HNB.  The 

forecast has not changed from month 10.  The forecast remains in excess of the 

budgeted contingency so there is a variance in the Directorate. 

 

Table 2 - DSG HNB Summary 

 

£'m

DSG High Needs Block Grant (exc Academies) 156.5

Forecast outturn 191.5

Deficit/(surplus) 35.0

Budgeted overspend (23.8)

Deficit/(surplus) 11.2

High Needs Block contingency budget 9.0

Overspend after release of contingency budget 2.2

2021/22 DSG HNB Summary

Page 189

12



 
 

5. As well as the forecast variance, there remains a further risk of £0.9m for this 

financial year.  That consists of £0.7m of mitigations and cost containment which may 

not be delivered and £0.2m linked to potential additional growth. 

The reason for the in-year overspend is as follows: 

 £5.7m of cost containment is unlikely to be delivered, mainly the coming home 

project which has resulted in a reduction in social care rather than high needs 

costs. A team has been set up to develop plans for 2022/23 and this is reflected 

in the MTFS; 

 Partly offset by £3.3m of in year mitigations identified to offset reduced cost 

containment; 

 In year placement change and tribunal, which were contained to £4.8m 

compared to the estimated £7m to £9m; 
 Full Year effect of 2021/22 placements after budget setting of £4m. 

Covid-19 update  

6. For M11 the Directorates forecast a gross impact from Covid-19 of £106.8m (which is 
a £1.1m decrease from M10). 

7. This is offset by £78.5m of specific grants (a £1.7m decrease from M10). The decrease 
from M10 is due to a £1m decrease in previously forecast expenditure for the Omicron 
Support Fund which SCC will instead utilise to support Surrey’s Adult Social Care 
sector in Q1 2022/23 and a £0.7m decrease in forecast expenditure for the Practical 
Support Payment grant following updated information from District & Borough 
Councils. 

8. This leaves a net of £28.3m to be addressed. 

9. £23.6m has been funded through general Covid-19 emergency funding, including the 
£6.2m Covid-19 reset at M9. 

10. The remaining £4.7m will be absorbed in the Directorate budget envelopes. 

11. There is £4.9m available in reserve for future Covid-19 risks, if needed. 

Capital Budget 

12. Forecast of £162.3m; £8.2m less than the reset budget of £170.6m. The net position 

at M11 mainly relates to slippage and reprofiling of £7.8m and an underspend of 

£0.7m.  This represents a change of £6.8m from M10, explained below 

13. Table 3 below provides a summary of the forecast full-year outturn at M11. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 190

12



 
 

Table 3 - Summary Capital Budget  

 

14. The change of £6.8m from M11 to M10 mainly relates to: 

 Property - £5m slippage -  mainly due to slippage in: 

o Schools Basic Need of £2.4m caused by delays in planning approvals leading 

to a delayed start. 
o £1.1m in Looked After Children schemes caused by delays in discharging 

planning conditions due to issues with responding to statutory deadlines.  

This is a key area that will be assessed in the Land and Property capital 

review. 
o £0.7m in SEND due to a combination of factors, including complex planning 

issues, site constraints, access, resources and construction difficulties and 

implementation of new consultant arrangements. This will also be picked in 
the review – see below. 

o £0.6m Temporary Mortuary Facility, caused by a change in strategy in 

January 2022 due to non-performance of the original solution not meeting the 
needs of service.  

o £0.4m each in the Cranleigh School Scheme (planning delays due to 

contractor, leading to a delayed start), and in Gypsy Roma and Traveller 

(GRT) sites  (due to non-approval of the planning application for the Pendell 
site).  

Offsetting the above is: 
o Schools Recurring Maintenance £0.6m, due to the early completion on a 

number of projects. 

o Woodhatch Master planning £0.7m, due to two milestone payments and 
additional costs attributed to design works. 

Review of Capital Monitoring and Forecasting 

A review of capital monitoring processes and forecasting practices is underway to  
improve forecasts and understand recurring causes of delays to the progress of 
capital projects within Land & Property.  This includes working more closely with 
planning and legal, recruitment of additional resource in Finance to support the 

Annual 

Budget

M11 

Outturn 

Forecast 

M11 

Forecast 

Variance

Change 

from 

M10 to 

M11

£m £m £m £m

Property

Property Schemes 54.9 50.0 (5.0) (5.0)

ASC Schemes 1.5 1.5 (0.0) 0.0

CFLC Schemes 0.5 0.3 (0.2) (0.2)

Property Total 57.0 51.8 (5.2) (5.2)

Infrastructure

Highways and Transport 86.9 85.6 (1.3) (0.8)

Infrastructure and Major Projects 5.7 5.2 (0.5) 0.1

Environment 5.4 4.4 (1.0) (0.6)

Community Protection 1.9 2.1 0.2 0.2

Infrastructure Total 99.9 97.3 (2.6) (1.1)

IT

IT Service Schemes 13.7 13.2 (0.5) (0.5)

IT Total 13.7 13.2 (0.5) (0.5)

Total 170.6 162.3 (8.2) (6.8)

Strategic Capital Groups

Page 191

12



 
 

capital programme, an assessment of training needs and a review of existing tools 
and processes.  For 2022/23 we have been discussing with the Strategic Capital 
Groups through the Capital Programme Panel the notion of over programming in an 
attempt to mitigate future slippage. 

 Highways and Transport - £0.8m slippage, mainly in Bridge Strengthening & 

Earthworks £0.4m, Flooding & Drainage £0.1m,Traffic Signals £0.2m, Local Highway 

Schemes £0.2m. There is accelerated spend in Road Maintenance of £0.4m.  

 Environment - £0.6m slippage, mainly Greener Homes of £0.6m – funded by grant. 

 IT Service Schemes - £0.5m underspend, mainly in IT&D Infrastructure £0.2m and 

IT&D Hardware £0.2m and Agile Workforce Transformation £0.1m.   

 

Additional funding from Surrey Heartlands Clinical Commissioning Group 

15. The Council is receiving £13m of funding from Surrey Heartlands CCG that had not 

been confirmed and was therefore not included in the M10 position. 

16. £9m of this funding is a contribution towards the c.£12m of additional Adult Social 

Care care package expenditure that the Council has incurred in 2021/22 driven by 

the Covid-19 pandemic. Given the late confirmation of this funding, it is 

recommended the £9m is transferred to reserves so it can be drawn down in 2022/23 

to be utilised as follows: 

 £6m to fund Discharge to Assess care package costs across the Surrey system 
in 2022/23. 

 £3m as a matched contribution by the NHS to the £3m Workforce Innovation 

Fund that the Council’s Adult Social Care service has budgeted to set up in 

2022/23.  This fund will be deployed through collaboration with the Surrey Care 
Association and Surrey Heartlands CCG. 

17. The remaining £4m from Surrey Heartlands CCG is part-match funding for the 

Council’s £8m increased investment in Mental Health services for 2022/23. It is 

recommended that this £4m is also transferred to reserves so that it can be drawn 

down against agreed Mental Health spending plans.  Further match funding 

opportunities will be explored in 2022/23. 

Consultation: 

18. Executive Directors and Cabinet Members have confirmed the forecast outturns for 

their revenue and capital budgets. 

Risk Management and Implications: 

19. Risk implications are stated throughout the report and each relevant director or head 

of service has updated their strategic and or service risk registers accordingly. In 

addition, the Corporate Risk Register continues to reflect the increasing uncertainty of 

future funding likely to be allocated to the Council and the sustainability of the Medium-

Term Financial Strategy. In the light of the financial risks faced by the Council, the 

Leadership Risk Register will be reviewed to increase confidence in Directorate plans 

to mitigate the risks and issues.  

 

 

Page 192

12



 
 

Financial and Value for Money Implications: 

20. The report considers financial and value for money implications throughout and future 

budget monitoring reports will continue this focus.  

Section 151 Officer Commentary: 

21. Although significant progress has been made to improve the Council’s financial 

position, the medium term financial outlook beyond 2022/23 remains uncertain. With 

no clarity on central government funding in the medium term, our working assumption 

is that financial resources will continue to be constrained, as they have been for the 

majority of the past decade. This places an onus on the Council to continue to 

consider issues of financial sustainability as a priority in order to ensure stable 
provision of services in the medium term.  

22. The Council has a duty to ensure its expenditure does not exceed the resources 
available. The Section 151 Officer confirms the financial information presented in this 
report is consistent with the Council’s general accounting ledger and that forecasts 
have been based on reasonable assumptions, taking into account all material, financial 
and business issues and risks. 

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer: 

23. The Council is under a duty to set a balanced and sustainable budget. The Local 
Government Finance Act requires the Council to take steps to ensure that the Council’s 
expenditure (that is expenditure incurred already in year and anticipated to be incurred) 
does not exceed the resources available whilst continuing to meet its statutory duties.  

24. Cabinet should be aware that if the Section 151 Officer, at any time, is not satisfied 
that appropriate strategies and controls are in place to manage expenditure within the 
in-year budget they must formally draw this to the attention of the Cabinet and Council 
and they must take immediate steps to ensure a balanced in-year budget, whilst 
complying with its statutory and common law duties. 

Equalities and Diversity: 

25. Any impacts of the budget monitoring actions will be evaluated by the individual 
services as they implement the management actions necessary In implementing 
individual management actions, the Council must comply with the Public Sector 
Equality Duty in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 which requires it to have due 
regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act; advance equality of opportunity between 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share 
it; and foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

26. Services will continue to monitor the impact of these actions and will take appropriate 
action to mitigate additional negative impacts that may emerge as part of this ongoing 
analysis. 

What Happens Next: 

The relevant adjustments from the recommendations will be made to the Council’s accounts. 

 

 

Page 193

12



 
 

Report Author: 

Leigh Whitehouse, Executive Director of Resources, leigh.whitehouse@surreycc.gov.uk. 
 
 
Consulted: 

 
Cabinet, Executive Directors, Heads of Service 
 

Annex: 
 

Annex 1 – Forecast revenue budget as at 28th February 2022 
  

Page 194

12

mailto:leigh.whitehouse@surreycc.gov.uk


 
 

Annex 1 

Forecast revenue budget as of 28th February 2022 

 

 

Service Cabinet Member

Year to 

date 

Budget 

£m 

Year to 

date 

Actual 

£m 

Year to 

date 

variance

£m

Full Year 

Gross 

budget

£m

Full year 

net  

budget

 £m

Full Year 

net 

forecast 

£m

Full year net 

forecast 

variance

 £m

Education and Lifelong Learning D Turner-Stewart 42.2 34.6 (7.5) 199.7 21.9 21.8 (0.2)

Family Resilience C Curran 30.8 28.2 (2.6) 36.2 33.3 35.7 2.4

Corporate Parenting C Curran 93.4 92.9 (0.5) 116.6 103.7 108.0 4.4

Quality and Performance C Curran 8.6 8.3 (0.3) 11.1 9.4 9.5 0.1

Commissioning
C Curran / 

D Turner-Stewart
46.2 49.1 2.9 132.5 51.9 56.5 4.6

CFLC Exec Director C Curran (0.1) (0.3) (0.2) (0.2) (0.2) (0.3) (0.1)

Children, Families and Lifelong Learning 221.0 212.9 (8.1) 496.0 220.0 231.3 11.2

Public Health S Mooney 28.3 28.3 (0.0) 33.4 33.4 33.4 0.0

Public Service Reform S Mooney 0.6 0.6 0.0 0.8 0.7 0.7 0.0

Public Health and PSR 28.9 28.9 (0.0) 34.2 34.1 34.1 0.0

Adult Social Care S Mooney 348.9 362.3 13.4 518.3 380.3 378.8 (1.5)

Highways & Transport M Furniss 53.5 49.7 (3.7) 71.3 58.3 56.3 (2.0)

Environment M Heath/ N Bramhall 67.4 63.5 (3.9) 75.9 73.5 69.5 (4.0)

Infrastructure, Planning & Major Projects M Furniss 2.6 2.6 0.0 5.2 2.8 2.7 (0.2)

Leadership Team M Furniss 0.3 0.7 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.8 0.4

123.8 116.5 (7.3) 152.8 135.0 129.3 (5.7)

Fire and Rescue K Deanus 29.1 31.9 2.8 36.1 31.7 32.8 1.1

Trading Standards K Deanus 1.9 1.8 (0.1) 3.9 2.0 1.9 (0.1)

Emergency Management K Deanus 0.5 0.4 (0.1) 0.5 0.5 0.5 (0.0)

Health & Safety K Deanus 0.3 0.2 (0.1) 0.7 0.3 0.3 (0.0)

Armed Forces & Resilience K Deanus 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0

Coroners K Deanus 2.8 3.8 0.9 3.4 3.1 3.5 0.4

Community Protection 34.6 38.1 3.5 44.6 37.7 39.1 1.3

People & Change T Oliver 6.0 5.5 (0.5) 6.7 6.6 6.5 (0.1)

Communications, Public Affairs and EngagementT Oliver 1.6 1.5 (0.1) 1.7 1.7 1.7 0.0

PPG Leadership T Oliver 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.0

Economic Growth T Oliver 1.0 0.8 (0.1) 1.1 1.1 1.0 (0.0)

Prosperity, Partnerships and Growth 1.2 1.1 (0.1) 1.3 1.3 1.3 (0.0)

Community Partnerships M Nuti 1.4 1.2 (0.2) 1.5 1.5 1.3 (0.2)

Customer Services M Nuti 2.5 2.3 (0.2) 2.9 2.7 2.6 (0.2)

AD Culture & Active Surrey M Nuti 6.6 5.9 (0.7) 17.2 7.2 7.1 (0.1)

Surrey Arts M Nuti 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 (0.0)

Customers and Communities 10.6 9.6 (1.1) 21.7 11.6 11.1 (0.5)

Land and Property N Bramhall 22.3 22.4 0.2 34.4 24.4 24.4 (0.0)

Information Technology & Digital B Rush 9.8 9.3 (0.5) 11.4 10.7 10.4 (0.4)

Business Operations B Rush (0.1) (0.3) (0.2) (0.1) (0.1) (0.2) (0.1)

Joint Orbis B Rush 15.5 14.5 (0.9) 16.9 16.9 17.4 0.5

Finance B Rush 5.4 4.0 (1.4) 11.7 5.9 5.8 (0.2)

Legal Services B Rush 4.5 4.8 0.3 5.3 4.9 5.3 0.5

Democratic Services B Rush 3.3 3.3 0.0 3.8 3.6 3.6 (0.0)

Executive Director Resources B Rush 2.3 2.9 0.6 2.6 2.5 2.5 (0.0)

Twelve15 B Rush (1.9) (2.0) (0.1) 19.6 (1.9) (2.2) (0.3)

Corporate Strategy and Policy B Rush 1.9 1.8 (0.1) 2.4 1.9 1.8 (0.1)

Transformation and Strategic Commissioning B Rush 1.3 1.0 (0.3) 1.4 1.4 1.2 (0.2)

Performance Management B Rush 0.2 0.2 (0.0) 0.2 0.2 0.2 (0.0)

PPE B Rush 0.3 0.3 (0.0) 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.0

Resources 64.7 62.3 (2.4) 109.9 70.8 70.6 (0.1)

Corporate Expenditure B Rush 46.8 14.8 (31.9) 113.5 77.4 76.0 (1.3)

Total before DSG High Needs Block Offset 888.2 853.6 (34.7) 1,500.8 976.5 979.9 3.4

DSG High Needs Block Offset 0.0 0.0 0.0 32.8 32.8 35.0 2.2

Total Budget Envelopes 888.2 853.6 (34.7) 1,533.6 1,009.4 1,014.9 5.6

Central funding (913.6) (933.9) (20.2) (1,009.4) (1,015.6) (6.2)

Total Net revenue expenditure including DSG HNB (25.4) (80.3) (54.9) 1,533.6 (0.0) (0.6) (0.6)

Environment, Transport & Infrastructure

Page 195

12



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 197

14

Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 209

14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 215

14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 221

14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 227

14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 239

14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 247

14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 249

14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 251

14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 253

14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting: 29 March 2022
	5 Reports from Select Committees , Task Groups, Local Committees and other Committees of the Council
	6 Leader / Deputy Leader / Cabinet Member/ Strategic Investment Board/Committees in Common Sub-Committee Decisions Taken Since the Last Cabinet Meeting
	CMD Annex Apr 2022

	7 Cabinet Member of the Month
	8 A Devolution deal for Surrey
	Annex A- The Government's 12 Missions of Levelling Up
	Annex B- The Government's Devolution Framework

	9 Surrey's Greener Futures Grant Programmes
	10 Supported Independent Living Programme - Batch 1 Development
	Part 1_Annex 1 - Options considered
	Part 1_Annex 3 - Energy Carbon Assessments
	Part 1_Annex 4 - Procurement Report
	Part 1_Annex 5 - The key principles of Supported Independent Living

	11 Home To School/College Travel Assistance Policy Refresh
	12 2021/22 Month 11 (February) Financial Report
	14 Supported Independent Living Programme - Batch 1 Development
	Part 2_Annex 1
	Part 2_Annex 2
	Part 2_Annex 3
	Part 2_Annex 4a
	Part 2_Annex 4b
	Part 2_Annex 5
	Part 2_Annex 6
	Part 2_Annex 7
	Part 2_Annex 8


